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Introduction The AEA Group

Who are we?
AEA is one of the world’s leading technical energy, sustainability and IT  
consultancies. We aim to offer our customers the highest standards of science and 
project management experience, utilising our market leading data management  
and economics capabilities. 

AEA’s people come from the very best universities around the world, several of  
whom are international experts in their chosen fields. We are proud of their 
achievements. 

What do we do?
AEA’s vision is to be recognised by both governments and international agencies  
as a leading provider of analysis, advice and data on economically sustainable  
solutions for the most pressing global energy and environmental challenges.

Our capabilities stand firmly on a rich, deep-rooted history and the experience  
gained from supporting governments and business leaders around the world for  
over 40 years.

How do we do it?
We combine over 40 years of deep technical knowledge with:

•  Unparalleled access to, and understanding of, supporting data;
•  World-class data and information management and knowledge transfer; and
• Economic analysis 

We create solutions ranging from collecting, measuring and analysing data to  
assess air and water quality, through to supporting policy development and 
implementation in climate change and resource scarcity.

Where do we do it?
We operate from 19 locations based in the UK and the US, delivering projects  
globally with a particularly strong presence in the UK, US and Europe.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011
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Directors’ report Business Model

AEA offers both broad and deep technical knowledge in its 
core areas of specialism, gained through over 40 years of 
experience supporting the development and implementation of 
energy and environmental policy for UK and US governments, 
international agencies and global business.

Business Model

Our technical experts

 
•  Energy & Climate Change 200

•  Waste & Resources 70

•  Water 40

•  Air Quality 150

•  Health Risk 50

•  Knowledge Transfer 90

•  Economics 35

•  Data Management 235

Our areas of specialism

AEA maintains a leading position supporting the public  
sector and international agencies in:

Our expertise

AEA helps organisations respond to environmental 
challenges and opportunities through data driven solutions 
underpinned by robust economics. Our expertise is in:

•  Policy development, implementation and evaluation

•  Expert technical advice and support

•  Behavioural change and stakeholder engagement

•  Knowledge sharing and information management

•  Analytics and data management

•  Economic appraisal

Climate Change

Energy Water

Economics

Data Management

Knowledge Transfer

Our customers

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  Government 
 International Agencies
 Global business 

Our geographic markets
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  United States
 Europe
 Other
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Directors’ report Our Strategy

Our Strategy

DRIVE ORGANIC  
GROWTH

ENHANCE & LEVERAGE  
TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

DEVELOP BUSINESS  
OUTSIDE UK

•  Share our technical strengths across 
all business areas

•  Integrate our information management 
and economics capabilities into our 
energy and environmental consultancy

•  Manage and exploit our unrivalled 
knowledge and understanding of 
available environmental data

The UK Government is moving away from funding large 
programmes aimed at supporting behaviour change and 
it is increasingly relying on the private sector to respond 
to regulatory and fiscal measures that are now in place. 
Developed countries are also looking at both monitoring 
of, and support mechanisms for, developing countries’ 
sustainable development. 

Our strategy is to focus on assisting governments and 
international agencies address today’s most pressing and 
interacting challenges:

• Climate Change and Energy Security
• Air Quality
• Water and Resource Scarcity
• Competitiveness, Wealth Creation and Sustainability

We will expand our work for other governments and 
international agencies, via offerings based on our UK and US 
experience, where our government based experience and 
insights gives us a competitive edge.

The recent economic crisis and recovery have put a focus on  
the economics of sustainable development, green jobs and wealth 
creation. There is a growing recognition of the interactions and 
reinforcement of environmental issues and policies (e.g. climate 
change, water, air quality and energy security), and the need for 
solutions that address several issues at once.

•  Enhance support to the 
European Commission

•  Broaden our offerings to 
European countries

•  Extend our global reach into India, 
China and Central America

•  Transfer our experience to 
developing countries 

•  Protect, develop and extend 
our technical leadership through 
excellence in people and tools

•  Continually develop our capability in 
major emerging issues and market 
requirements
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
To measure performance against strategy the following KPIs  
have been adopted:

1 Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles and significant items 

Total Orders Received
 

-32% 
2011: £80.9 million  
2010: £119.2 million

Failure of the US Government to ratify its budget led to delays 
in contracts being awarded. European orders fell by 54% due 
to the difficult UK Government market, resulting mainly from 
the Comprehensive Spending Review undertaken by the UK 
Government in October 2010.

Our combined capabilities have meant that orders growth 
in the current financial year has got off to a good start in the 
US by securing both orders delayed from last year and also 
winning new orders.

Revenue Per Employee
 

0% 
2011: £0.12 million  
2010: £0.12 million 

There has been a significant reduction in revenue in the 
European business arising from expenditure cuts by the UK 
Government offset by organic growth in the US business and 
a strong first time contribution from the newly acquired ERG. 

We have managed the cost base and employee numbers 
across the business during the year such that revenue per 
employee remains unaffected.

Adjusted Operating Profit 1

 

-29% 
2011: £8.8 million  
2010: £12.4 million

Increased Adjusted Operating Profit (AOP) from the existing 
US business and a strong first time contribution from ERG 
were offset by the impact of the significant decline in  
business with the UK Government.

Operating Cash Generation
 

+35% 
2011: 117%  
2010: 82%

In 2010/11 117% of AOP was converted to cash compared 
with 82% in 2009/10, reflecting improved working capital 
controls, particularly in the US business.
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Directors’ report Questions & Answers

“�This�year�has�begun�well��
with�a�strong�improvement�in��
order�intake.”

Questions & Answers

Q:  How would you characterise AEA’s overall 
performance in the last financial year and are you 
happy with it? 

 Overall last year was a very disappointing year for 
our shareholders and employees and, despite the 
unparalleled cutbacks in UK Government expenditure, 
the performance should have been better. Changes have 
been made to both management and the cost base, and 
the UK arm is now in much better shape. Performance, 
as expected, was strong with our existing business in the 
US achieving revenue growth levels in excess of 8.5%. 
ERG has also performed in line with expectations since 
becoming part of the Group in November 2010.

Q:  What was the highlight of the year for you? 

 I am very grateful for the support of shareholders in the 
acquisition of ERG. We now have the base we need to 
build the business; this was without doubt the major 
highlight of the year. The bulk of AEA’s business is now 
in the large US market which offers huge potential for 
growth. I was also pleased to see the solid cash and 
profit performance of the existing US business despite 
being impacted by the Continuing Resolutions which 
delayed US Federal Government expenditure and the 
placing of orders at the end of the year. 

Q:  What else has pleased you most about the US 
performance? 

 Both of the US businesses are integrating very well with 
the UK arm and I am delighted to see that many bids are 
now using the combined skills of all three.  As a result 
we have started to win new business and I have strong 
confidence in our competitive position, which bodes well 
for the future. 

Q:  Did the performance in Europe surprise you? 

 I was always cautious about the UK market and had 
expected a decline in the region of 20%, which in itself  
would have been unprecedented. Ultimately, the UK 
Government implemented a significant debt reduction 
plan and certain Government departments stopped 
spending completely with outside companies. This had a 
huge impact on our business. I now believe that we have 
a better balance between costs and this new market 
reality.

Q:  Do you anticipate any further acquisitions?

 Acquisitions remain an important part of our long-term 
strategy. However, at least for the next twelve months, we 
are focusing on driving the performance of the existing 
businesses.

Andrew McCree 
Chief Executive Officer

AEA – a transformed company

Andrew McCree
Chief Executive Officer
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Directors’ report Group Overview

Group Overview
Financial summary

•  Orders £80.9 million 
(2010: £119.2 million)

•  Revenue £113.7 million 
(2010: £113.2 million)

•   Adjusted operating profit £8.8 million 
 (2010: £12.4 million) 1

•   Operating loss £5.9 million 
(2010: profit £10.4 million)

•  Adjusted profit before tax £7.0 million 
(2010: £11.0 million) 1

•   Loss before tax £9.7 million 
(2010: profit £3.5 million)

•   Cash generated from business operations 
of £10.3 million 
(2010: £10.2 million)

•   Net debt £28.3 million 
(31 March 2010: £26.2 million) 

1 The reconciliation of adjusted operating profit and adjusted profit before tax is shown on 
the face of the Consolidated income statement on page 39

Revenue
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Directors’ report Group Overview

Strategic and Operational Summary

•  Acquisition of ERG in November 2010

 •   Expertise in water and economics greatly enhanced

 •   Extended reach into US markets

•  Contract vehicles now in place with major
US Government departments

•  Successful fundraising to allow the purchase of ERG

•  Restructured European operations to ensure
appropriate cost base in the future

•  Orders growth in the current financial year has got 
off to a strong start in the US

•  Ability to pay dividend following Group restructuring

Company Secretary
Jenny Owen 
AEA Technology Group plc 
6 New Street Square 
London 
EC4A 3BF

Principal bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc 
1st Floor 
48 Chiswell Street 
London EC1Y 4XX

Broker
Peel Hunt 
111 Old Broad Street 
London
EC2N 1PH

Solicitors
Linklaters LLP 
One Silk Street 
London EC2Y 8HQ

Eversheds LLP 
1 Wood Street 
London EC2V 7WS

Mourant Ozannes LP 
22 Grenville Street 
St Helier 
Jersey 
JE4 8PX

Registrars
Equiniti Limited 
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditors 
9 Greyfriars Road 
Reading 
Berkshire RG1 1JG
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Chairman’s Statement
“�The�last�twelve�months�have�been�a�
challenging�time�for�our�shareholders.�
The�Board�believes�that�it�now�has�a�
significantly�larger�platform�from�which�to�
deliver�growth.”

The last twelve months have been a challenging time for 
our shareholders. Like many other businesses selling to the 
UK Government we were severely impacted by the size and 
speed of the reduction in Government spending and this is 
continuing into the current year. Following the acquisition of 
ERG in November 2010, AEA has the majority of its business 
in the US. The Board believes that it now has a significantly 
larger platform from which to deliver growth.

Results highlights

Overall revenue from continuing operations was up to  
£113.7 million (2010: £113.2 million) with a first time 
contribution from the newly acquired ERG of £15.4 million. 
This broadly offset the fall in revenue in the European 
business following the curtailment of spending by the UK 
Government. Like for like revenue growth in the existing US 
business was a healthy 8.5%. Adjusted operating profit was 
£8.8 million (2010: £12.4 million). The statutory operating loss 
was £5.9 million (2010: profit of £10.4 million). Within this, the 
Group incurred costs of some £9.2 million (2010: £1.0 million) 
to restructure the Group’s cost base, as well as acquisition 
and related costs of £4.3 million (2010: £nil).

Acquisition

On 8 November 2010 we completed the acquisition of ERG, 
an environmental consulting company, for approximately 
$84 million satisfied through a combination of cash and 
shares. We believe that this acquisition will allow the Group 
to take advantage of the growing market opportunities in the 
US presented by the deepening commitment within the US 
Government to improve energy efficiency and reduce the 
country’s dependence on imported oil. At this early stage 
progress is in line with our expectations.

Dr Paul Golby CBE
Chairman
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Directors’ report Chairman’s Statement

Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer

In order to fund the acquisition of ERG the Group issued 
555.8 million shares in a Firm Placing and a further  
555.8 million shares in a Placing and Open Offer, in both 
cases at 5.0p per share. In total, this raised £51.7 million. 
We are grateful to our shareholders for their support in the 
development of the business.

New holding company and capital reduction

At the same time as the share placing a new holding 
company was introduced into the Group and a court 
sanctioned capital reduction implemented. This created new 
distributable reserves, which will allow the Group to pay a 
dividend when the Board determines that it would be in the 
best interests of the Group to do so.

Dividend

Although the Group is now in a legal position to be able to 
pay a dividend, the Directors have decided that it would not, 
at the current time, be in the best interests of the Group to do 
so. This decision will be kept under regular review.

Board

We have seen substantial change to the Board during the 
year. Gwen Ventris and Mike Nigro stood down, and shortly 
after the year end, Alice Cummings resigned from the 
Board. On 26 November 2010 I was pleased to welcome  
Tim Robinson and Bernard Lord as new Non-Executive 
colleagues. The appointment of Kevin Higginson to the Board 
as Chief Financial Officer was announced on 20 April 2011. 
This completes the realignment of the Board and I believe 
it now has the right blend of skill and experience to deliver 
future value for the shareholders.

People

It has been a difficult year for many of our people with a 
significant amount of restructuring undertaken to ensure that 
the business is in the right shape for the challenges ahead. I 
would like to thank everyone in the organisation for their skills, 
hard work and determination to make AEA a world leader in 
its chosen fields.

Dr Paul Golby CBE
Chairman
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Directors’ report Business & Performance Review

Transformational change

Over the last three years the Group has undergone dramatic 
change. In 2008, AEA was almost exclusively focused on the 
UK Government and its principal customers were DEFRA 
and DECC. At that time, whilst the quality of our offerings and 
employees were a clear differentiator from the competition, 
the business was far too dependent on the UK Government 
as a customer. 

The Board decided that AEA needed to diversify and in 2008 
the Group purchased PPC based in Washington, and then in 
late 2010, followed this up by purchasing US company ERG, 
based near Boston.

Both of these US businesses, like AEA in Europe, had 
government as their principal customer. This provided the 
Group with the opportunity to take its market leading skills 
into the US Government through businesses which were well 
established and highly respected but did not have the same 
expertise as AEA in Europe. 

The combined Group is now the leading technical advisor 
to the US and UK Governments in energy, sustainability, 
emissions and waste and is also now well poised to build 
a new global practice based upon water, which the Board 
sees as a significant opportunity in the future. Going forward 
around two thirds of AEA’s business will be in the growing US 
market compared with virtually nothing in the twelve months 
to March 2008.

This transformation has not been achieved without pain 
for our shareholders and employees. Whilst performance 
was strong in our existing business in the US, and ERG 
performed as expected, the business performance 
last year was disappointing in Europe. The Board 
acknowledges this underperformance and is focused on 
improving trading results.

A detailed review of the financial performance for the year 
follows this review.

Business & Performance Review

AEA Group is now a ‘new company’

Andrew McCree

Chief Executive Officer

Kevin Higginson

Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ report Business & Performance Review

Delivering improved performance

Following a review of the European business at the start 
of 2010/11, the decision was taken to continue the existing 
5% reduction in salaries until the end of the year. In addition 
action was taken in advance of the UK General Election to 
reduce the cost base of the business by approximately 10% 
as a market slowdown was expected. At that time the Board 
decided not to make deeper cuts because good quality 
technical people could have been lost, who would be difficult 
to replace should conditions improve.

Ultimately, however, these cuts alone proved to be insufficient and 
two further rounds of restructuring took place in 2010/11 in the UK, 
which resulted in a reduction in the UK headcount over the year 
of a third. Further reductions have been avoided by using the UK 
employees to support the growing opportunities in the US.

We have now made a number of changes to the 
management team across the Group. In the US a new 
President of PPC, Charlie Hanley, has been appointed and 
a number of other senior management changes have been 
made in order to prepare that business for the future. The 
acquisition of ERG further strengthened our management 
team in the US and we have been delighted to retain  
David Meyers, founder and President of ERG, and all his 
senior management colleagues. In the UK Robert Bell leads 
our European business and he too has made a number of 
important appointments. We were also delighted to bring 
Kevin Higginson on board as Group Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO). Kevin brings with him considerable operational and 
financial experience.

Management is focused on delivering improved performance 
during this year. The necessary investments have now been 
made and in the US there is a particular focus on winning 
bids and growing the forward order book. In Europe we 
expect the market to be tough and therefore our focus is 
going to be to bear down on costs and drive operating 
improvements at the project level.

The investment opportunity

The scale of the US market opportunity continues to be 
very exciting. Last year AEA bid for over $400 million of 
opportunities and this year we currently expect to bid for 
opportunities totalling $1.2 billion. The US Government can 
take up to twelve months before announcing a winning 
bid and a few additional months before it feeds through 
to revenue and profit. Nevertheless, we would expect 
substantial progress on orders in the current financial year.

For our shareholders the Board believes that the significant 
investment opportunity is for growth in the US market.

As Federal budgets tighten, the Government in the US is placing 
an increasing focus on only awarding business to companies 
which are able to pass high standard ‘conflict of interest’ tests. 
This now means that traditional US business consultancies are 
having to make a choice of working either for the Government 
or the private sector. This new priority gives AEA a significant 
advantage over other consultancies in this market as government 
has always been the focus of our business. 

AEA’s most significant advantage, however, is the depth and 
range of our technical skills. As the US Government looks 
to move the US on to a more sustainable footing, not only 
in terms of how much it spends on energy, other resources 
and how to stimulate the private sector, more opportunities 
open up for AEA. In these difficult times, we are able to offer 
solutions to our customers to help them save money, through 
our innovative combination of science, data and economics.

The Board believes that, despite the potential for contract 
delays as Congress and the President negotiate over where 
and when the cuts are made and the focus on the need to 
reduce the US Federal Government deficit, the US continues 
to offer AEA opportunities to grow its business significantly.

AEA is increasingly innovative and agile, its employees 
continually providing new ideas and approaches. I am 
delighted at the way management and employees have 
embraced the opportunity to become one company and 
we increasingly see a high level of bidding into government 
customers involving the capabilities of all our businesses. 

Outlook

In the UK market the Board remains very cautious in the 
outlook for Government spending and during 2011/12 is not 
anticipating a recovery from the current low levels.

By contrast in the US order growth in the current financial 
year has got off to a good start by securing both orders 
delayed from last year and also winning new orders.

Despite potential US Federal Government fiscal uncertainties 
the Group has a strong pipeline of US opportunities. We are 
making good progress in winning orders and, overall, the 
Board is confident of continued progress.
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Group reorganisation, Firm Placing,  
Placing and Open Offer

AEA Technology Group plc (“the Company”) was 
incorporated on 17 September 2010. Prior to  
5 November 2010 the Company had not commenced 
trading. This Annual Report and Accounts includes 
the results of the Company from its incorporation date, 
accordingly no comparative financial information is presented 
for the Company.

On 5 November 2010 the Company became the new ultimate 
holding company of the AEA Group, pursuant to a Scheme 
of Arrangement under section 899 of the UK Companies 
Act 2006, approved by the High Court of Justice in England 
and Wales and the shareholders of AEA Technology plc. The 
Company issued new Ordinary shares with a nominal value 
of 1.0 pence (“new shares”), which were exchanged on  
a one-for-one basis for the Ordinary shares of  
AEA Technology plc, with a nominal value of 122⁄9 pence
(“old shares”).

The Scheme of Arrangement has been accounted for using 
the principles of merger accounting set out in  
FRS 6 ‘Acquisitions and mergers’, and UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”). This policy 
does not conflict with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), and reflects the economic substance of 
the transaction. In accordance with the principles of merger 
accounting the comparative financial information in these 
consolidated Financial Statements has been extracted from 
the AEA Technology plc consolidated Financial Statements in 
the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2010.  
Those Financial Statements incorporated the results of  
AEA Technology plc and its subsidiaries. Earnings per share 
figures are unaffected by the Scheme of Arrangement.

As a result of the Scheme of Arrangement,  
AEA Technology plc became a wholly owned subsidiary  
of the Company. The new shares carry substantially the same 
rights as the old shares. The Scheme of Arrangement did 
not involve a cash payment for the old shares. Immediately 
after the Scheme of Arrangement became effective the 
Company had the same Board of Directors and corporate 
governance arrangements as AEA Technology plc had prior 
to the Scheme of Arrangement. The consolidated assets and 
liabilities of the Group were the same immediately before and 
after the Scheme of Arrangement became effective.

The new shares issued were recorded at fair value based 
on the closing price of the old shares on the day prior to 
delisting. This resulted in the creation of a share premium 
account of £11.7 million in the Company. 

All the AEA Technology plc share options granted to 
Directors and employees under share option plans that were 
in existence immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement 
were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for share options in 
the Company with no change in any terms or conditions.

The fees attributable to the issue of shares as part of 
the Scheme of Arrangement were charged to the share 
premium account of the Company apart from £0.9 million 
that were charged directly to retained reserves. Other costs 
of implementing the Scheme of Arrangement have been 
charged to the income statement of AEA Technology plc.

On 5 October 2010 AEA Technology plc announced a Firm 
Placing, Placing and Open Offer, which was approved by 
shareholders at a General Meeting on 21 October 2010. 
Dealings in the new shares commenced on  
8 November 2010. The Firm Placing, Placing and Open  
Offer resulted in the issue of 1,111,581,000 new shares at  
5.0 pence each raising £55.6 million before expenses  
(£51.7 million net of £3.9 million expenses). The funds raised 
were used to fund the acquisition of ERG Inc.

On 8 November 2010 the Company, on behalf of a Group 
subsidiary, issued 113,212,319 shares to the shareholders of 
ERG Inc as part of the purchase consideration for 100% of 
its ordinary share capital. The ordinary shares issued rank 
pari passu with the other shares in issue.

On 17 November 2010, following confirmation by the Jersey 
court, a reduction of capital of £57.8 million became effective 
with the share premium amounts cancelled and reclassified 
as distributable reserves.

Financial Performance 

Total orders were £80.9 million (2010: £119.2 million). 

US operations orders were £49.7 million (2010: £50.7 million), 
with ERG Inc (ERG) contributing orders of £16.3 million 
from the date of acquisition. The US continues to invest 
significantly in bids, however the well publicised failure of the 
US Government to ratify its budget until 8 April 2011 led to a 
temporary delay in contracts being awarded during the year 
ended 31 March 2011. In Europe orders were £31.2 million 
(2010: £68.5 million) due to the difficult UK Government 
market, resulting mainly from the Comprehensive Spending 
Review undertaken by the UK Government in October 2010.

Financial Performance
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Directors’ report Financial Performance

Total Group revenue for the year increased to £113.7 million 
(2010: £113.2 million). In Europe, as a result of the difficult 
UK Government market and consequently a smaller number 
of UK Government contracts being awarded, the revenue 
reduced to £54.7 million (2010: £73.6 million). In the US 
revenue in the year was £59.0 million (2010: £39.6 million), 
an increase of 49%, with a strong performance in US 
Government work, notably in climate change and energy. 
ERG contributed revenue of £15.4 million following its 
acquisition in November 2010.

The impact that the difficult UK Government market had 
on revenue in Europe resulted in the overall Group adjusted 
operating profit of £8.8 million (2010: £12.4 million). However 
in the US the acquisition of ERG and steady organic growth 
for the existing US business resulted in adjusted profit in 
the US increasing by 76%, of which 19% was organic 
growth at constant exchange rates. To ensure future orders 
growth within the business the Group continues to invest in 
infrastructure, talent and bidding for future opportunities.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles and certain significant 
items are included within operating profit. In order to give 
a clearer analysis of the underlying operating performance 
of the Group these items have been excluded to derive the 
adjusted operating profit figures. The significant items relate 
mainly to the costs of redundancy, restructuring and the 
acquisition of ERG. The adjusting significant items are shown 
below the Consolidated income statement on page 39.

Net finance costs were £3.9 million (2010: £6.9 million) 
including interest on debt facilities of £1.7 million  
(2010: £1.4 million), which was up from 2009/10 due to 
higher levels of debt resulting from the costs of restructuring 
the European business during the year. Net pension finance 
costs were £2.0 million (2010: £5.5 million).

The overall impact of tax on the Group was a charge of  
£4.3 million (2010: £0.2 million). AEA’s taxable profits 
continue to be largely offset by brought forward losses in the 
UK and additionally by tax losses arising on the acquisition of 
Project Performance Corporation. The tax charge arises from 
deferred income tax movements of £3.4 million  
(2010: £0.1 million), an overseas income tax charge of  
£1.0 million (2010: £0.1 million) and a current tax credit of 
£0.1 million (2010: £nil). As at 31 March 2011 the recognised 
net deferred income tax asset was £1.1 million  
(2010: £4.3 million). The Group has an unrecognised  
deferred income tax asset of £56.5 million  
(2010: £65.3 million). The three operating companies of  
the group operate in the UK and the US, where the statutory 
tax rates are 28% and 34% respectively.

The loss attributable to owners of the parent was  
£14.0 million (2010: £3.3 million profit). Adjusted profit 
attributable to the owners of the parent removes the impact 
of the significant items described above and, additionally, the 
net finance costs of £2.0 million (2010: £5.5 million) on the 
defined benefit pension scheme. Adjusted profit attributable 
to the owners of the parent, per note 12 was £0.4 million 
(2010: £10.4 million). 

The adjusted earnings per share, calculated using the 
adjusted profit attributable to the owners of the parent, 
reduced to 0.0p (2010: 1.0p) as a result of the reduction in 
the adjusted operating profit attributable to owners of the 
parent. Basic earnings per share was a loss of 1.2p  
(2010: earnings 0.3p) as a result of both the increase in the 
weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue and the 
loss attributable to the owners of the parent. The Group has 
dilutive Ordinary shares from share options, although due to 
the loss in the year to 31 March 2011 there was no dilution 
resulting from the share options.

Cash flows in the year

Net cash flow generated from business operations was  
£10.3 million (2010: £10.2 million). In the year there has been 
a continued focus on working capital management, which is 
continuing into the new financial year.

The net cash flow generated from business operations 
of £10.3 million (2010: £10.2 million) has been used to 
fund various significant items, principally restructuring and 
acquisition costs as shown in the ‘Statement of cash flows 
– alternative performance measures’ on page 45 resulting 
in cash used in operations of £3.9 million (2010: £6.0 million 
cash generated from operations). 

In addition to these operating cash flows the Group acquired 
ERG Inc in November 2010 for a cash outlay of £46.9 million, 
funded through the issue of new shares of £51.7 million.

Overall net debt increased from £26.2 million to £28.3 million. 
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Banking facilities and net debt

AEA has a three year bank facility expiring in November 2012, 
which includes a £39.0 million (2010: £42.0 million) revolving 
credit facility (including an overdraft facility of £7.0 million) to 
manage periods of working capital fluctuation and a  
£5.0 million bonding facility to support the obligations of 
members of the Group arising in the ordinary course of 
business. 

These banking facilities are sufficient to cover the Group’s 
anticipated funding requirements for the foreseeable future 
and the Group would expect to re negotiate the banking 
facilities during the calendar year 2011.

Net debt at 31 March 2011 was £28.3 million  
(2010: £26.2 million). The detailed analysis of the Group’s 
borrowings is shown in note 27 to the Financial Statements.

Capital structure

On 5 October 2010 AEA Technology plc announced a Firm 
Placing, Placing and Open Offer, which was approved by 
shareholders at a General Meeting on 21 October 2010. 
Dealings in the new shares commenced on 8 November 2010. 
The Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer resulted in the 
issue of 1,111,581,000 new shares at 5.0 pence each, raising 
£51.7 million, net of issue costs. 

The Company would like to thank the shareholders for the 
injection of the additional capital resulting from the issue of 
the new shares. 

On 8 November 2010 the Company, on behalf of a Group 
subsidiary, issued 113,212,319 shares to the shareholders of 
ERG Inc as part of the purchase consideration for 100% of its 
ordinary share capital. The ordinary shares issued rank pari 
passu with the other shares in issue.

The Company’s authorised and issued share capital as at  
31 March 2011, together with details of shares issued during 
the year are set out in note 23 to the Financial Statements. 
Each Ordinary share carries one vote.

At 31 March 2011 the Group’s deficit on net shareholder 
funds amounted to £70.1 million (2010: £130.2 million). 

Dividends and dividend policy

The Board is not recommending the payment of a dividend in 
respect of 2010/11. However, it is the Board’s intention to pay 
dividends when it is considered to be in the best interests of 
the Company.

Share price and market capitalisation 

The closing share price of the Group on 31 March 2011 was 
4.34p (2010: 21.25p) and market capitalisation of the Group 
was £63.1 million (2010: £48.6 million). The high and low 
prices during the year were 23.00p and 3.65p respectively.

Pensions

The Group assesses pension scheme funding with reference 
to actuarial valuations and for reporting purposes uses 
IAS 19. Under IAS 19 the Group’s post retirement benefit 
net liability is £121.8 million (2010: £139.8 million). The 
improvement in the net liability resulted from the effect of 
a reduction in the assumption on future inflation and an 
increase in the value of Scheme assets. The discount rate 
remained unchanged from 31 March 2010 at 5.6%. A change 
of 0.5% in the discount rate will have a significant impact of 
approximately £40 million on the liabilities of the Scheme. 
AEA Technology plc agreed a schedule of contributions with 
the Trustee of the Scheme in June 2009, which are agreed 
payments of £2.4 million per year commencing July 2010, 
increasing to £6.0 million per year from July 2012 through 
to April 2029. This has been confirmed by the Pension 
Regulator.

Accounting policies 

A description of the principal accounting policies appears in 
note 2 to the Financial Statements. The policies followed are 
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. 

The preparation of the Financial Statements conforming with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, 
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from 
those estimates. Any revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively. 

Financial Position
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Directors’ report Financial Position

The accounting policies and areas that require the most 
significant estimates and judgments to be used in the 
preparation of the Financial Statements are in relation to 
assessment of provisions, contract accounting and defined 
benefit pension schemes. Further information in respect of 
these critical accounting estimates and judgments, including 
an analysis of how various alternative assumptions or 
outcomes would have an impact, is provided in note 4 to the 
Financial Statements.

Treasury policies and objectives 

The Group’s finance team manages and monitors external 
funding and financial risks in support of the CFO who 
operates within written policies approved by the Board and 
within the internal control framework. 

The Group uses various financial instruments in order to 
manage the exposures that arise in its business operations 
as a result of movements in financial markets. The Group 
does not undertake speculative foreign exchange or interest 
rate dealings for which there is no underlying exposure. 
Treasury dealings such as investments, borrowings and 
foreign exchange are conducted only to support underlying 
business transactions. All treasury activities are focused 
on the management of risk. The main risks arising from 
the Group’s financial instruments are market risk (including 
foreign exchange risk and cash flow and interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s exposures to and 
management of each of these risks, along with sensitivities, 
are described in detail in note 4 to the Financial Statements.

Entities within the Group are required by the Group’s treasury 
function to maintain and regularly update detailed cash 
forecasting models. The treasury function supports the 
cash flow needs of the underlying businesses and maintains 
financial flexibility through utilising the available funds under 
the Group’s revolving credit facility (note 27 to the Financial 
Statements). As at 31 March 2011 £6.7 million  
(2010: £11.2 million) of this revolving credit facility remains 
unutilised and provides sufficient headroom to cover the 
Group’s expected operating cash flow needs over the period 
of the facility. The Group’s banking facilities are described in 
detail in note 27 to the Financial Statements.

There have been no significant changes in the Group’s 
policies in the last year.

Net finance costs

Changing finance costs have a significant impact on AEA’s 
profits. There are two main elements to finance costs: 
interest expense in respect of bank borrowings (impacting 
the Group’s cash flow) and net interest expense on  
AEA Technology plc’s defined benefit pension liability  
(not directly impacting the Group’s cash flow).

The interest expense on bank borrowings will fluctuate in 
line with the level of borrowings and with changes in interest 
rates. The interest rate risk is reduced through the use of 
interest rate swaps. The discussion of AEA’s approach to 
cash flow and interest rate risk is included in note 4 to the 
Financial Statements.

The net interest expense in respect of the defined benefit 
pension liability will fluctuate in line with market conditions 
and changing yields on corporate bonds. Note 29 to the 
Financial Statements details the assumptions used in 
calculating the pension liability and the sensitivity analysis on 
changes to the key assumptions. 

Outstanding legacy issues 

The Group has residual issues relating to divested and closed 
businesses. Settlement of such issues at amounts differing to 
the estimates provided for will have an impact on the Group’s 
future cash flows and net borrowings requirement. The risks 
and uncertainties associated with these issues are discussed 
in the section entitled Risks and uncertainties.

Significant progress has been made in reducing the exposure 
on residual issues during the year and this will continue to be 
key area of focus in the new financial year.

Key supplier relationships

The top ten suppliers accounted for 24% of total Group 
procurement in the year and no single supplier accounted 
for more than 5% of total Group procurement. The Group 
is therefore not dependent on any single key supplier for its 
procurement requirement.

Key customer relationships

The key customers for the Group are the UK and US 
Governments, which combined account for 65% of Group 
revenue (2010: 63%).
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The Board ensures that there is a robust system for 
managing risks where relevant and managing performance 
across all areas. Annual programmes and targets are set by 
the Board who review CR aspects and performance through 
quarterly reports. This is underpinned by policies and 
procedures that define clear standards and expectations 
across the Group. These policies and procedures form part 
of the integrated Quality Management System (QMS). Within 
the European Operation the QMS is audited and verified 
externally by Lloyds Register Quality Assurance.

In addition to this the Group has an Information Security 
Programme that manages all security aspects of data 
storage, dissemination, and transmission. The Information 
Security Programme adheres to UK and US Government 
regulations along with industry best practices, to include 
ISO 27001, FISMA, and the Data Protection Act. 

The Group holds ISO 14001, 9001 and TickIT accreditations 
and is actively pursuing the ISO 27001 for infrastructure 
systems that contain customer data and provide knowledge 
management business services. We are committed to 
implementing data management arrangements that 
continue, as a minimum, to meet customer requirements.

AEA’s policies and procedures have been reviewed and 
updated to ensure compliance with the UK Bribery Act. 

The Directors have put in place effective systems for managing 
significant risks, which include taking into account Social, 
Environmental and Ethical (SEE) issues. 

Corporate Responsibility (CR) is an important part of how we 
operate and engage with our employees, our local communities and 
the environment. We are committed to demonstrating our ethical 
approach to business and stakeholders and achieving an appropriate 
balance between interests. The Board reviews SEE matters regularly 
as part of its wider annual review of risks, including monitoring 
Group performance through annual reports on health and safety and 
on environmental management performance, and through quarterly 
performance statistics and indicators. Andrew McCree, CEO,  
has Board level responsibility for all SEE matters.

Corporate Responsibilities
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Directors’ report Corporate Responsibilities

Environment

During the year the business has undergone considerable 
transformation including the addition of eleven offices in the 
US following the acquisition of ERG. In the UK, the head 
office in London was relocated, and in Oxfordshire three 
buildings were consolidated into one. 

Office furniture and other unwanted assets were processed 
via Waste to Wonder, a company that reuse such items in 
the Third World.

Whilst we continued to measure data to assess our progress 
against environmental targets, as a result of these changes 
during the year, there have been some incompatibilities and 
gaps in data collection. 

The business is reviewing its approach to ensure that Group 
data collection, measurement and management is consistent 
and targets are set which mirror the Group’s commitment to 
continue to improve environmental performance. In 2010 our 
US operation received an Environmental Excellence award 
for achieving environmental improvements.

AEA remains a keen sponsor of “Business Commitment  
to the Environment” Awards Scheme  
(http://www.bceawards.org/) recognising organisations 
which meet the commercial demands of the present, without 
compromising the environment for future generations. 

Community involvement

We believe it is important to make a contribution towards 
our local and global community, not only through our advice, 
services and products but also through our own actions. 

From advising local SMEs on sustainability to supporting 
local schools to reduce carbon, our Community Investment 
Programme ensures we are continually identifying opportunities 
to support worthy causes. Individually the three companies 
have supported numerous local and national charities. It is 
our intention, over the next twelve months, to consolidate 
our approach and have a global Community Involvement 
Programme policy which will be implemented locally. 

This year across the Group we are proud to have supported:

Race2Zero is a school-led competition aimed at measuring 
and reducing their carbon footprint in a bid to win a £5,000 
green makeover prize. 

Renewable World, a charity which works to tackle poverty 
through renewable energy, by donating £1,000 instead of 
sending Christmas cards.

‘Adopt a Stream’ for Hare Snipe Creek, North Carolina by 
volunteering for cleanups.

The Alice Ferguson Foundation by participating in the 
Potomac River Watershed Cleanup Day. 

The Group donated £33,250 (2010: £10,500) plus payments 
in kind for charitable purposes. The Group’s policy is not 
to make donations to political parties and none were made 
during the year. 

Health and Safety

The Group adopts a proactive approach to the management 
of health and safety, and the environment. The policy, set 
by the Board, extends beyond compliance with legislation 
and ensures that the way AEA’s employees work reduces 
risk of harm to a minimum and constantly seek ways to 
improve against the stated goal of excellence. This year the 
European business was awarded the Royal Society for the 
Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) Gold Medal for good 
safety for the ninth consecutive year.

For the fourth year AEA registered with the Health and Safety 
Executive Corporate Health and Safety Performance Index, 
improving its ranking to sixth out of 138 participants from all 
industry sectors.

AEA has also successfully registered for the Construction 
Industry Health and Safety assessment Scheme.
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The Group reports on all recorded accidents and absences 
from work of one day or more, which result from a work 
related accident or occupational health condition. Every 
accident is investigated with a view to identifying lessons 
learnt. The Board and senior managers regularly review 
safety performance statistics and monitor a range of KPIs. 
Legal frameworks, practices and KPIs differ slightly between 
the Group’s European and US operations. The KPIs include 
near miss reporting, timeliness of reporting, speed of 
occurrence investigation and compliance with the scheduled 
programme of safety monitoring.

Reportable incidents 1  None

Non reportable lost time accidents 3

Near miss reports events (ratio) 2  2.82

Occurrences investigated within target time 3  100%

Compliance with scheduled programme of  
safety monitoring 4 100%

Prosecutions None

1 Reportable to the oversight body under relevant legislation
2 Relates to Group performance
3 Relates to Group performance 
4 Relates to European performance 

Three non reportable lost time accidents occurred across the 
Group, all of which were in the European operation. In each 
case they were at the minor end of the spectrum of incidents.

People

AEA has a performance-driven culture where individuals 
are rewarded for their individual contribution to the overall 
success of the business.

We are committed to the principle of equality of opportunity 
and preventing discrimination. Our policies support a goal of 
becoming an employer of choice. Employment opportunities 
are offered according to capability and we value the diversity 
of our workforce.

ERG was ranked one of the top 100 places to work in 
Massachusetts by the Boston Globe and PPC was ranked 
‘Great Place to Work’ by the Washingtonian.

Our organisational model supports a collaborative method 
of working where networking, knowledge sharing and 
communication are paramount.

The Group employs 1,107 people (2010: 891) and continues 
to strengthen its capabilities through a targeted training and 
development programme.

We have enhanced our talent pool by recruiting 139 people 
in the year; 57 people in AEA Europe and 82 in AEA US. 
Recruitment focused on key technical skills, and exceptional 
graduate capability, continuing our strategy to leverage technical 
expertise within a flexible resourcing environment.

Employee annualised turnover rose to 18% (excluding 
restructuring). These higher levels of turnover reflect the 
realignment of capabilities during the year to business needs. 
In the US, PPC turnover rose to 26% reflecting the competitive 
nature of the market for scarce skills during this period.

Investment in people is achieved through a mixture of 
training, development, assignments, recruitment and reward 
and remuneration schemes. In each year, the relative level of 
investment between these components will vary dependent 
on business needs. 

The introduction of an employee engagement initiative 
has resulted in continued improvements to the working 
environment, employee communications, people and project 
management, and an appreciation of Group direction, 
resulting in higher levels of employee engagement.

We are committed to providing a world-class working 
environment in which all our people feel valued, motivated 
and respected. We strive to build a diverse community, 
where people have an equal opportunity to contribute to 
our success and further develop their careers based on 
capability, regardless of their race, sex, religion/beliefs, 
disability, marital or civil partnership status, age, sexual 
orientation or gender.

Corporate Responsibilities (continued)
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Directors’ report Risks & Uncertainties

To achieve AEA’s strategic objectives the Group must 
respond effectively to the associated risks.

AEA has a well established risk management process that 
complies with the FSA’s Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance and addresses strategic risks and risks specific 
to individual businesses and contracts, including operational 
risks, financial risks, strategic risks, environmental and safety risks. 

The Board has reviewed the material risks identified as well 
as the mitigating action plan. The principal risks for the Group 
are as follows:

Changes in the competitive environment 
resulting from Government policy

Future risks are likely to be dominated by a hiatus in placing 
contracts by both UK and US central governments, and future 
changes in both UK and US government policies, priorities and 
expenditure levels or delays in implementation of legislation 
which could affect the Group’s business. At the very least, 
internal government reorganisation could mean AEA finds itself 
working with new customers who have different priorities. AEA 
must therefore maintain ongoing links with senior officials in 
key UK and US government departments and anticipate and 
be able to react swiftly to future changes. 

Investment has been made in making more complete use 
of the breadth of energy and environmental knowledge 
within and between the three business units, increasingly 
underpinned by sales propositions, relationship skills and 
senior management connections with relevant parts of 
the customer organisations. Risk mitigation plans have 
focused on the development of more integrated propositions 
leveraging extensive capabilities within the Group in data and 
information management and economics analysis. Actions to 
manage and mitigate risks to sales pipelines will be focused 
largely on maintaining and expanding sales to public sector 
bodies and international agencies and development of 
operating models to support this agenda.

Recruitment and retention of sufficient  
high calibre people

The risk for the business is that the sourcing of suitably 
qualified technical experts has become more challenging, 
particularly in the UK market where demand for high 
calibre technical experts has increased. However, through 
a combination of challenging and rewarding assignment 
opportunities, enhanced by the opportunities of working 
both in the US and the UK and through investment in 
development in both technical and business skills, the Group 

has successfully executed its retention strategy and expects to 
continue to do so.

Retirement benefits

The Group is exposed to financial risks in relation to the  
AEA Technology plc pension Scheme which currently has a 
large deficit. The amount of the deficit can vary significantly 
due to changes in the assumptions used to value the longevity 
of Scheme members, the discount rate, and the inflation rate 
assumptions. Consequently the Group is exposed to the risk of 
increases in the cash contributions payable under the recovery 
plan, volatility in the deficit reported in the Group’s Balance 
sheet and gains/losses recorded in the Group’s Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The Board has appointed 
independent actuaries to advise AEA Technology plc on a 
funding strategy that is designed to address the deficit over 
a period of time to meet the requirements of the Pensions 
Regulator. The Directors have also taken steps to improve the 
governance of the Scheme. This includes the appointment of 
an independent trustee as Chairman and the adoption of a 
trigger based de risking strategy. 

Legacy provisions

The Group has provided for various liabilities inter alia onerous 
leases, warranties and indemnities in respect of disposals of 
companies and businesses. Uncertainty exists around the 
potential for claims under warranties and indemnities in respect 
of these disposals, with a number of indemnities continuing for 
five or more years post divestment, and there is uncertainty 
in estimating the future costs of decommissioning nuclear 
facilities. The total liability is predominantly represented by 
provisions, as detailed in note 30 to the Financial Statements. 

All residual issues relating to the divested and closed 
businesses are under the control of the CFO and the Company 
Secretary. The Group has not become aware of any significant 
additional liabilities in respect of disposals. We continue 
actively to address and reduce the legacy risks and have 
reduced them considerably during 2010/11.

Exchange risk

The Group has operations denominated in US dollars and 
also maintains a US dollar loan. As a result, the Group’s 
profit and net debt is impacted by exchange rate fluctuations 
which could have a negative or positive impact on the Group 
results. This is covered in more detail in the financial instrument 
disclosures within notes 17 and 28 of the Financial Statements.

Risks & Uncertainties
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Board of Directors

●  Remuneration Committee    ▲  Audit Committee    ■  Nomination Committee As at date of publication - 20 July 2011

Andrew McCree was appointed CEO of AEA in April 2005. He 
was first appointed to the Board in November 2000 as Director 
for Corporate Affairs and Human Resources, and subsequently 
Group Managing Director. He has held a number of senior posts 
in AEA and before that in UKAEA, which he joined in 1991. His 
earlier career was with BP Exploration.

Kevin Higginson was appointed to the Board of AEA as CFO 
in April 2011. He was previously Group Finance Director for 
Low & Bonar plc. A chartered accountant, Kevin was formerly 
Group Finance Director of the BSS Group plc. Prior to his role 
at BSS, he held various senior positions, including Group Chief 
Executive and Group Finance Director with Hazlewood Foods plc.

Rodney Westhead, Non-Executive Director, was initially appointed 
to the Board of AEA in August 2003. He is the Senior Independent 
Director (SID), chairs the Audit and Remuneration Committees and 
is a member of the Nomination Committee. From 1996 until his 
retirement in 2005, Rodney was Chief Executive of Ricardo plc, a 
leading automotive engineering consulting company. He is a former 
Chairman of Carter and Carter (in administration), Chairman of 
Clean Air Power and a Director of Transense Technologies plc. An 
accountant by profession, he was a partner with Grant Thornton, 
including Managing Partner of their London office, before moving to 
Ricardo plc in 1992 as the Group Finance Director.

Tim Robinson, Non-Executive Director, was appointed to the 
Board of AEA on 26 November 2010. He is Chief Executive Officer 
of Talaris Limited, a Non-Executive board member of UK Trade & 
Investment and Member of the Audit Committee and Association 
of Oxfam. He was formerly Chief Executive of Xafinity, served 
as a director of Thales (Paris) and IBM (UK and Asia) and was 
a Non-Executive Director of Nice Systems (Nasdaq listed) and 
Camelot. Tim is a member of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees.

Bernard Lord was appointed to the Board of AEA on  
26 November 2010. He is a member of the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee and, from 
26 May 2011, the Audit Committee. Bernard is President and 
Chief Executive of the Wireless and Telecommunications 
Association of Canada. He is a corporate board member for 
Medavie Blue Cross and Clean Air Power, is a member of the 
New Brunswick Law Society, is Scholar in Residence with the 
McGill University Health Centre and is former Premier of the 
Province of New Brunswick, Canada. He is Chair of the Mobile 
Giving Foundation of Canada.

Andrew McCree 
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Paul Golby CBE was appointed Non-Executive Chairman 
to the Board of AEA in September 2009, having joined the 
Board in August 2003. He is the Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee and was a member of the Remuneration Committee 
(until February 2011) and the Audit Committee (until May 2011). 
He has been, since 2002, Chief Executive of E.ON UK plc and 
is an Executive Committee member of E.ON AG, its parent 
company. After training as a mechanical engineer, he had a series 
of management appointments with Dunlop and BTR before 
becoming an Executive Director of Clayhithe plc. He is a Fellow of 
the Royal Academy of Engineering, the Institution of Engineering 
and Technology, the Institution of Mechanical Engineers and the 
Energy Institute. 

Dr Paul Golby CBE 
Chairman

■

Kevin Higginson 
Chief Financial Officer

Tim Robinson 
Non-Executive Director

● ■

Rodney Westhead 
Senior Non-Executive Director

● ▲ ■

Bernard Lord 
Non-Executive Director

● ▲ ■
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Directors’ report Governance

Statements of appliance of, and  
compliance with, the Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance

In accordance with the Listing Rules of the UK Listing 
Authority, the Company confirms that throughout the year 
ended 31 March 2011, and as at the date of this Annual 
Report and Accounts, it was compliant with the provisions 
of, and applied the principles of good governance set out 
in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (available 
at www.frc.org.uk), except that until the appointments of 
Tim Robinson and Bernard Lord on 26 November 2010 
it was not compliant in respect of Code provision A.3.2. 
Paul Golby resigned from the Remuneration Committee on 
11 February 2011 upon the appointment to that Committee 
of Bernard Lord and Tim Robinson, and with effect from 
26 May 2011, resigned from the Audit Committee upon the 
appointment of Bernard Lord to that Committee. These 
changes were effected to ensure compliance with the 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance. The duties 
of the Company Secretary were fulfilled by the Deputy 
Company Secretary until the appointment of the Company 
Secretary in July 2010.

In June 2010, The Financial Reporting Council published the 
UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the revised code’) which 
supersedes the Combined Code on Corporate Governance 
and is applicable for companies with accounting periods 
beginning on or after 29 June 2010. The Board has 
reviewed the details of the revised code and has updated its 
policies and procedures to ensure compliance.

The Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the performance of 
the Group. Its role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership, to 
set and implement strategy within a framework of effective 
internal controls, and to ensure the success of the Group for 
shareholders. The Board holds scheduled meetings throughout 
the year and met eight times during 2010/11. 

The posts of the Chairman and CEO are separate and 
the Board has defined their respective responsibilities in 
writing. The Board has formally agreed a written schedule of 
matters reserved for its decision that it keeps under regular 
review. Amongst the reserved decisions are: agreeing the 
annual financial budget; approval of major acquisitions and 
divestments; major investment proposals; large contract bids; 
and major decisions regarding pensions. 

Rodney Westhead as the SID is available to shareholders as an 
independent point of contact to the Chairman and Executive 
Directors. 

The Board has satisfied itself that each Non-Executive Director 
is independent, meaning in character and in judgment, and free 
of relationship or circumstance which is likely to affect, or could 
appear to affect, the exercise of independent judgment. 

The Board receives a monthly review of operating, financial and 
cash performance and regular reviews on key aspects of the 
Group’s activities. Through the Company Secretary, Directors 
receive papers on all substantive agenda items in sufficient time 
before meetings to be meaningful and the Chairman ensures 
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at the 
Board. All Directors are encouraged to bring an independent 
judgment to bear on issues of strategy, performance, resources, 
key appointments and standards of conduct.

Governance 

Attendance record at Board and Committee meetings during the year ended 31 March 2011

  Audit  Nomination Remuneration
 Board Committee Committee  Committee

Number of Meetings 8 3 2 5

Paul Golby 1 8 3 2 4

Andrew McCree 8 3  2

Alice Cummings 6 8 3  1

Mike Nigro 2 3   

Gwen Ventris 4 5   1

Tim Robinson 3 3  1 2

Bernard Lord 3 3  1 2

Rodney Westhead 5 8 3 2 5

1  Chairman of Nomination Committee 2  Resigned 26 November 2010 3  Appointed 26 November 2010 
4  Resigned 17 January 2011 5  Chairman of Remuneration Committee, Chairman of Audit Committee 6  Resigned 20 April 2011
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Governance (continued)

Performance evaluation

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance attaches 
importance to Boards having processes for individual and 
collective performance evaluation. The Board has evaluated 
its own performance and that of its individual Directors and 
Committees during the year.

The Chairman talks to each Director at least annually to appraise 
their performance and the SID leads an evaluation of the 
performance of the Chairman in discussion with the SID and 
taking account of the views of the Executives. The Chairman 
and the Non-Executive Directors meet without the Executive 
Directors present. 

Election of Directors

Under the Company’s Articles of Association (Articles), all 
Directors must stand for election by shareholders at the first 
opportunity after their appointment. Accordingly  
Tim Robinson, Bernard Lord and Kevin Higginson will stand 
for election at the AGM. Also Andrew McCree, Paul Golby and 
Rodney Westhead will stand for election at the AGM. 

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference 
that meet the guidance of the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance. Its role is to lead the process for new Board 
appointments and succession planning, and to make 
recommendations in these areas to the Board. The terms of 
reference are available on the corporate governance section 
of the Company’s website and make clear that the aim is to 
identify potential candidates from a wide range of backgrounds 
on the basis of personal merit and suitability. 

Paul Golby chairs the Committee, which met on two occasions 
during the year to 31 March 2011. The terms of reference 
provide that all Non-Executive Directors shall be members, 
subject to a restriction that members must not be involved in 
processes relating to their successor or to posts for which they 
may be candidates. The Committee requires each Director to 
formally declare potential conflicts of interest.

Letters of appointment to Non-Executive Directors set out 
the expected time commitment. A check is made in the 
appointment process that they undertake to have sufficient 
time to meet what is expected of them. Their other significant 
commitments are disclosed to the Board and substantial 
subsequent changes are brought to its attention.

Remuneration Committee and  
Directors’ remuneration

The role and work of the Remuneration Committee is 
described in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 
26 to 33. 

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee have comprised  
Rodney Westhead (Chairman), Bernard Lord (appointed  
26 May 2011) and Paul Golby (resigned 26 May 2011). 

The Committee’s role is to assist the Board in the effective 
discharge of its responsibilities for financial reporting and 
internal control.

The report of the Audit Committee on pages 34 and 35 
includes details of the Audit Committee and its work.

Relations with shareholders

Regular meetings are held between the CEO and CFO and 
institutional investors, for example after the publication of 
Group half-year and annual results, which involve a  
wide-ranging discussion about the Group’s performance and 
plans. The Group encourages dialogue with its shareholders 
in various ways, including via information placed on its website 
and a planned investor relations programme. The SID is 
available as a channel of communication if shareholders have 
concerns that are not appropriately handled through other 
channels. Institutional shareholders also have the opportunity 
to meet new Non-Executive Directors. 

Whenever possible, all Directors attend the AGM so that 
shareholders have the opportunity to question them, including 
in their role as Chairmen of Board Committees. Separate 
resolutions are proposed on each substantially different issue 
so that each receives proper consideration. Resolutions include 
the approval of the Annual Report and Accounts and adoption 
of the Report on Directors’ remuneration. The proxy form 
allows shareholders to vote for or against each resolution or to 
withhold their vote. Proxy votes for and against each resolution, 
plus “votes withheld”, are announced at the meeting after each 
resolution has been dealt with on a show of hands, and are then 
published on the Company’s website. The Company uses its 
registrars to ensure that there are effective processes in place 
for properly receiving and recording the votes cast. Notice 
of AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at least 
twenty one days in advance of the meeting.
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Directors’ report Internal Control

Responsibility and process

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. This system 
is designed to manage rather than to eliminate risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement and loss.

The Board confirms that there is an on-going process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the Group’s significant 
risks, that this has been in place for the year ended  
31 March 2011 and up to the date of approval of the  
Annual Report and Accounts, that it covers subsidiaries in 
which the Group has an interest of 50% or more, that it is 
regularly reviewed by the Board and that it accords with 
the FSA’s internal control guidance for Directors on the 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance (“the Turnbull 
guidance”).

Control environment

The Group’s organisational structure has clearly 
documented and communicated levels of responsibility, 
delegated authority and reporting procedures. 
Management systems have been externally accredited. 
The professionalism and competence of employees 
is maintained through recruitment, performance and 
development reviews, training and development plans. 
The Board supports the highest levels of commitment and 
integrity from employees and has endorsed a code  
of business ethics, a copy of which is available to  
all employees.

Identification of risk

Each business and service is required to identify and assess 
risks of meeting objectives, to weigh and prioritise these on 
the basis of their assessed impact and likelihood, and then 
to take timely actions to manage or eliminate them through 
compensating internal controls. The relevant management 
process approved by the Board recognises that risks arise 
from many internal and external sources and that a wide range 
should be considered. The effectiveness of these actions is 
monitored and reviewed regularly. These business and service 
reviews form the basis of an annual review to the Executive 
and Board. Regular management information includes a 
review of risks with specific contracts such as those with 
reported technical or financial problems.

Control procedures

Control procedures are documented in the Group’s 
management systems, which are subject to external audit. 
These include a finance manual, corporate and business 
quality assurance manuals, safety procedures and 
environmental management procedures. Procedures are 
designed to ensure that work is carried out to meet stated 
objectives, that risk is managed through risk-based internal 
controls, that delegations are based on risk assessments, 
and variances are identified and reported in a timely way to 
enable corrective actions to be taken. Procedures are also 
subject to review so that improvements to enhance controls 
can be made.

Monitoring and corrective actions

The Board approves an annual Group budget. It receives 
monthly reports, supplemented by other reviews, on a range 
of key performance and risk indicators and considers possible 
control issues. The indicators cover financial, operational, 
safety, environmental and compliance aspects of performance 
with forecasts revised in response to developments. 

Throughout the year, the internal audit function reported to 
the Audit Committee, which approved its programme and 
considered its recommendations. The Board also received, 
and decided appropriate action on, reports from the Audit 
Committee. For its annual review of the internal control system, 
the Board took account of its own reviews and monitoring 
during the year, plus an annual report submitted via the Audit 
Committee in order to obtain the degree of assurance required 
under the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. The 
Board also has responsibility for satisfying itself with the 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management processes. 

Compliance with control procedures was monitored during 
the year by internal audit and through reviews of compliance 
with the Quality Management System. Businesses are 
required to confirm their compliance annually with the 
internal control system.

Internal Control
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Results and dividends
This year’s results are set out in the Consolidated income 
statement. No interim dividend was paid (2010: £nil) and the 
Directors recommend that there is no final dividend for the 
year (2010: £nil).

Share capital
The Company’s authorised and issued share capital as at  
31 March 2011, together with details of shares issued during 
the year, is set out in note 23 to the Financial Statements. Each 
Ordinary share of the Company carries one vote. Shareholders 
in AEA Technology plc received shares in AEA Technology 
Group plc following the Scheme of Arrangement.

Authority to purchase shares
AEA Technology plc was authorised at the 2010 AGM 
to purchase its own shares, within certain limits and as 
permitted by the Articles. This authority will be proposed 
by AEA Technology Group plc at the 2011 AGM. Shares 
repurchased may be cancelled or retained as treasury shares 
to accommodate requirements for shares under the Group’s 
share incentive schemes. No shares were purchased under 
this authority during the year ended 31 March 2011.

Substantial shareholders 
As at 11 August 2011 the Company has been notified under 
section 793 of the Companies Act 2006 of the following 
notifiable interests in its shares expressed as a percentage of 
total issued share capital:

Schroder Investment Management Limited  20.95%

M&G Investment Management Limited (UK)  17.23%

JO Hambro Capital Management 11.04%

Invesco Perpetual (UK) 7.93%

GAM  7.46%

David Meyers 6.70%

Legal & General Investment Management 6.46%

Artemis Investment Management 6.01%

Henderson Global Investors 5.05%

Change of control
There are a number of contracts which would allow the 
counterparties to terminate or alter those arrangements in the event 
of a change of control of the Company. These arrangements are 
commercially confidential and their disclosure could be seriously 
prejudicial to the Company. They were unaffected by the change of 
control under the Scheme of Arrangement.

There are no agreements between the Group and its Directors 
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office 
or employment due to a takeover other than as reported in 
the Report on Directors’ remuneration and in relation to the 

Company’s Save as you Earn (SAYE) plan. Under the SAYE 
plan options may vest and become exercisable in accordance 
with the rules of the plan.

Acquisitions, joint ventures and branches
During the year to 31 March 2011 the Group acquired ERG Inc 
in the US. There were no incorporated joint ventures entered 
into during the year. 

Indemnities and insurance
AEA maintains Directors and Officers liability insurance 
and has granted the Directors and former Directors of the 
Company and its associated companies an indemnity, which 
is a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the purposes 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Post balance sheet events
There were no post balance sheet events.

Research and development
The Group has capitalised less than £0.1 million  
(2010: £0.4 million) in developing new products in the form of 
tools and services (note 15 to the Financial Statements). 

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) have indicated their 
willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they will 
be re-appointed will be proposed at the AGM.

The Board has agreed as a policy that work other than 
statutory reporting work and directly related services will not 
be placed with the external audit firm unless it gives prior 
agreement after satisfying itself that to do so is in the best 
interest of the Group. Other work placed with PwC in the last 
year was £2.1 million associated with the Firm Placing, the 
Placing and the Open Offer, the Scheme of Arrangement, the 
acquisition of ERG Inc and the restructuring of the Group.

Payment policy
The policy of AEA Technology Group plc (the Company) is 
to agree terms of trading that are appropriate for suppliers’ 
markets and to abide by such terms where suppliers’ 
obligations have been met. The Company had £nil amounts 
outstanding direct with trade suppliers at 31 March 2011.

Statement of going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they consider it appropriate 
to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements.

Other Statutory Information 
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Directors’ report Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
the Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial 
Statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Company and Group Financial 
Statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve 
the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and the Group and of the profit and loss of the 
Group for that period.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are 
required to:

•   Select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

•   Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

•   State whether applicable IFRS’s as adopted by the 
European Union have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
Financial Statements; and

•   Prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Company and the Group and 
enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements and the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group’s Financial Statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the Company’s website www.aeat.com. 
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ statement pursuant to the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed 
in the Board of Directors section of the Annual Report and 
Accounts, confirms that, to the best of his knowledge:

•  The Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with 
IFRs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
Company and the consolidation taken as a whole; and

•  The Directors’ report contained in the Annual 
Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position 
of the Company and the undertakings included in 
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face.

By order of the Board

Jenny Owen
Company Secretary 

20 July 2011

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Report on Directors’ Remuneration 
This Report complies with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, FSA Listing Rules and the principles and 
provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. A resolution inviting shareholders to approve the Report will be 
tabled at the AGM. 

The information in sections F and G is subject to audit.

A THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND ITS ADVISORS

The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) has responsibility from the Board to agree the remuneration of the Chairman, 
the Executive Directors and selected senior managers. Its terms of reference are available on the Company’s website. 
Membership of the Committee during the year ending 31 March 2011 was as follows:

Rodney Westhead, Chairman
Paul Golby (resigned 11 February 2011)
Bernard Lord (appointed 11 February 2011)
Tim Robinson (appointed 11 February 2011)

The Company Secretary acted as the Committee’s Secretary.

The Committee has utilised the services of Real Rewards, Keplar Associates and KPMG LLP to assist in the discharge of its 
responsibilities in the year. 

B  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

B1  Remuneration policy and approach

The Committee reviews Executive Directors’ remuneration annually to ensure consistency with Group business objectives, 
relevant comparable companies and with any change in relevant legislation or best practice guidelines. 

The Committee’s policy is that the level and structure of executive remuneration is to be competitive and performance-related. 
Specifically, the objectives are to take account of remuneration for similar job functions in comparable companies; that 
packages should attract, motivate and retain executives with the experience, skills and talents to operate and develop the 
Group to its maximum potential; and that a significant element of the potential reward is to be related to Group performance, 
ensuring direct alignment with the interest of shareholders.

B2  Remuneration packages

Individual packages comprise a mix of fixed and variable performance-related elements, with the latter representing a 
significant part of the potential total reward.

Fixed elements:

a) Basic salaries:

  Basic salaries are reviewed annually, or when changes in responsibilities occur, taking into account relevant external 
market comparisons for similar job functions, the level of responsibility of each Executive, individual skills and 
experience, salary levels throughout the Group and movements in basic pay in the Group. 

b) Pension:

 See section F2.

c) Other benefits:

  These include, variously as appropriate: a company car, a cash salary supplement payment in lieu of pension benefits 
in respect of salary above the earnings cap, and health care. The taxable value of these benefits is included in the 
Directors’ emoluments table in section F1. Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Company’s all-employee 
share plans, namely Save As You Earn (SAYE) and the Share Incentive Plan (called Buy As You Earn or BAYE). Neither 
plan involves performance conditions.
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Variable performance related elements:

Individual remuneration packages include a significant variable performance-related component, payable only if, and to the 
extent that, demanding conditions have been met that have increased shareholder value through growth in earnings and 
contributed significantly to corporate strategy and development. 

a) Annual cash bonus:

  The Executives are eligible to earn a non-pensionable cash bonus of up to 70% of basic salary. Targets were not 
achieved during the year.

  The Committee sets measures and targets relating to improving shareholder value. These included achieving operating 
performance targets for orders, profit and net debt, and strategic measures such as extending the customer base. 

b) Longer term share based incentive:

 See section B3.

B3 Performance Share Plans (PSPs)

2008 and 2010 PSP Plans

Awards were made to Executive Directors and others in 2009 under the 2008 PSP Plan. Such awards vest subject to the 
attainment of applicable performance conditions. The PSP has two components: 50% of the award is dependent on the 
satisfaction of an earnings per share performance target, the remaining 50% is dependent on local operating targets. The 
performance period is from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2012. Awards under this plan will be satisfied using AEA Technology 
Group plc shares. No awards were made in the year under the 2008 PSP Plan. Shareholders approved a new PSP at the 2010 
EGM, no awards have been made under this plan during the year.

Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)

Awards were made to Executive Directors and others between 2000 and 2003 under a CSOP with vesting subject to an 
earnings per share three-year Company performance period. Options awarded in 2001 at an exercise price of 296.5p per 
share vested in 2004 and participants had until June 2011 to exercise their options, which would have been satisfied by 
AEA Technology Group plc shares. The interests of the Executives are shown in the table in section G2. No awards were  
made under this plan during the year.

AEA Technology Group Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The LTIP was approved by the shareholders at the EGM in October 2010. No awards under the LTIP had been made by  
31 March 2011. Conditional share awards were made under the LTIP to Andrew McCree and Kevin Higginson on 28 July 2011.
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B4 Service contracts

 
  Contract date Retirement date Notice period

Executive Directors   

Andrew McCree  27 November 2000  19 August 2022 twelve months

Alice Cummings 1  22 November 2006 1 November 2028 twelve months

Kevin Higginson  20 April 2011 24 October 2024 twelve months

   

Chairman   

Paul Golby  5 November 2010 Not applicable one month

   

Non-Executive Directors   

Bernard Lord  26 November 2010 Not applicable one month

Tim Robinson  26 November 2010 Not applicable one month

Rodney Westhead  5 November 2010 Not applicable one month

1 Resigned 20 April 2011

Executive contracts provide for a retirement age of 65, and for a rolling twelve-month notice period from the Group, with 
provision for reduced or no notice in the event of dismissal for defined circumstances. The Executives are required to give  
six months’ notice.

The contracts for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors provide for a one-month notice period on either side.

The Committee accepts and endorses the principle of mitigation of damages on early termination of appointment. Guaranteed 
termination payments are limited to payment of salary and benefits in respect of the notice period, with all variable elements 
of compensation (bonus payments, outplacement support and vesting of share options) being at the discretion of the 
Committee. In the specific event of dismissal within twelve months of a change of control, Andrew McCree’s contract provides 
for payment of outplacement support and half of the maximum bonus payable, with any other payment being at the discretion 
of the Committee. 

B5  Shareholding guidelines

The Committee has agreed the principle that Executive Directors are expected to build up and maintain significant 
shareholdings in the Company over time, allowing for differences in individuals’ circumstances, particularly as awards under 
variable incentive plans vest.

B6  External directorships

Executive Directors are allowed to hold external Non-Executive Directors appointments subject to prior Board agreement, 
and are allowed to retain any fees payable to them with the consent of the Committee, except where the appointment is as a 
representative of AEA. At present, none of the Executives holds any external Non-Executive Directors appointment that has a 
fee payable.

Report on Directors’ Remuneration 
(continued) 
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C SENIOR MANAGERS

The Committee’s remit extends to selected senior managers as determined by the Board, currently employees with a salary 
in excess of £120,000 or any equivalent in Euros or US Dollars. Their contract structure is similar to that of the Executive 
Directors, with salaries determined in line with market comparisons and with a split between fixed and variable 
performance-related elements, save that in accordance with the terms of the ERG stock purchase agreement 
David Meyers’ contract remains unchanged for a period of two years from the date AEA acquired ERG.

D  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND CHAIRMAN

The Non-Executive Directors’ and Chairman’s appointments provide for payment of a fee. The Board has delegated the 
responsibility for approving fees within the limits in the Articles as follows: 

a) to the Committee for the Chairman; and
b) to the Executive Directors for the other Non-Executive Directors.

In this way, no Director is responsible for the setting of his or her own remuneration.

Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, are paid a basic fee plus a fee as appropriate for chairing Board Committees 
or for acting as the SID, determined by reference to market comparisons. The basic fee in the year was £31,000. Paul Golby’s 
fee for the year was £95,000. Tim Robinson has elected to receive 100% of his net fees in the form of Ordinary shares 
pursuant to an agreement on terms upon which shares are purchased on his behalf on a regular basis.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive share options, performance related bonus or pension entitlements and are not eligible 
to participate in all-employee share plans. However, they are entitled to reimbursement of reasonable expenses in line with the 
policies applying to Group employees.

E PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the performance of AEA Technology plc and AEA Technology Group plc, by reference  
to total shareholder return (TSR), with that of the FTSE Support Services sector for the five years ending 31 March 2011.  
The Group has been in this sector throughout this period and the Committee uses many of the component companies as 
market comparators. TSR is shown as the value of £100 invested in the Company and in the FTSE Support Services sector 
over the same period, measuring share price growth plus dividends paid. 
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F DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Sections F and G have been externally audited.

F1  Directors’ emoluments

Details of individual Directors’ emoluments, excluding contributions by the Group into a pension scheme (see section F2), for 
the year are as follows:

    Annual Termination 2011 Total 2010 Total
   Salary or fee Benefits bonus payment emoluments emoluments
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors      

Andrew McCree 1 293 94 – – 387 392

Alice Cummings 6 176 36 – – 212 208

Mike Nigro 2 125 6 – – 131 178

Gwen Ventris 1,4,5 185 39 – 261 485 327

      

Non-Executive Directors      

Paul Golby 86 – – – 86 60

Bernard Lord 3 13 – – – 13 –

Tim Robinson 3 13 – – – 13 –

Rodney Westhead 32 – – – 32 32

  923 175 – 261 1,359 1,197

1 Salary includes pension contributions made by AEA Technology plc under an HMRC approved salary sacrifice arrangement
2 Resigned 26 November 2010
3 Joined 26 November 2010
4 Resigned 17 January 2011
5 The £261,000 balance of the termination payment was paid on 6 April 2011
6 Resigned 20 April 2011

 

The Benefits column includes, variously as appropriate, provision of a company car, health care, and a cash salary supplement 
payment in lieu of pension benefits in respect of salary above the earnings cap, see F2.

All of the Directors, except Bernard Lord and Tim Robinson, waived 10% of their salary or fee, as appropriate, with effect 
from 1 May 2009. These waivers were without prejudice to any existing entitlements to pension contributions and to their 
entitlements to emoluments in the future, and ended on 31 March 2011.

Report on Directors’ Remuneration 
(continued) 
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Directors’ report Report on Directors’ Remuneration

F2  Pensions

Features of the current pension and associated arrangements for each Executive Director are set out below. The value of cash 
salary supplements paid in the year is shown in the table at F1. 

Andrew McCree is a member of the AEA Technology Corporate Pension Plan, a defined contribution stakeholder arrangement, 
which is open to all employees. AEA Technology plc matches his contribution up to 8% of salary. He receives a taxable cash 
salary supplement in lieu of pension benefits above the earnings cap, worth 30% of salary above the earnings cap. 

Alice Cummings was not a member of the AEA Technology Corporate Pension Plan. She received a taxable cash salary 
supplement worth 20% of salary above the earnings cap of pension benefits. 

Mike Nigro was a member of a US 401(K) retirement programme. Under the current match program, employees receive a 
40% contribution from the Project Performance Corporation Inc. 

Gwen Ventris was a member of the AEA Technology Corporate Pension Plan, a defined contribution stakeholder arrangement, 
which is open to all employees. AEA Technology plc matched her contribution up to 8% of salary and she received a taxable 
cash salary supplement worth 20% of salary above the earnings cap. 

The information in the table below shows the total value of pension benefits for Andrew McCree built up in the  
AEA Technology Pension Scheme prior to its closure to future accrual.

Columns (a) and (b) show the deferred pension benefit entitlements at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 respectively. 

Column (c) is the transfer value of the deferred pension benefit in (a) calculated at 31 March 2011 by the Scheme Actuary. 

Column (d) is the equivalent transfer value at 31 March 2010 of the deferred benefits in (b) on the assumption that the Director 
left service at that date, again calculated by the Scheme Actuary. 

Column (e) shows the change in the transfer value between (c) and (d).

The transfer values are calculated in accordance with actuarial guidance note GN11. 

   (a) (b) (c) (d) (e)
   Accrued Accrued Transfer Transfer Change
    benefit at  benefit at  value at  value at  emoluments
   31/3/11 31/3/10 31/3/11 31/3/10 (c) – (d)

   £ £ £ £ £

Andrew McCree 1      

Approved pension  41,984 40,859 716,817 671,841 44,976

Approved lump sum  27,392 27,392 – – –

1 Separate lump sum benefits accrue under the Closed Section scale of the Company’s pension scheme. 
 The transfer values shown include the value of pension and lump sum benefits. 
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Directors’ report Report on Directors’ Remuneration

F3  Payment to former Directors 

There are unfunded top-up arrangements transferred to AEA on separation from UKAEA in 1996 to provide benefits in 
excess of the HMRC earnings cap for certain individuals. AEA Technology plc makes a provision in the accounts in order 
to cover these benefits.

Details of payments made to former Directors in the year are: 

  2011 2010  

Unfunded Pension £000 £000 

Ray Proctor 47 47

Dr Peter Watson 121 121

Dr Chris Wright 10 10

  178 178

 
G DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

G1  Interests in shares

The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary shares of the Company and previously AEA Technology plc are:

  

  31 March 1 April 
  2011 2010  

  £000 £000 

Andrew McCree 163,024 140,045

Alice Cummings 46,680 21,129

Paul Golby 31,312 31,312

Rodney Westhead 64,717 18,876

The holding of Andrew McCree increased by 16,474 shares in the period 1 April 2011 to 20 July 2011 and the holding of 
Alice Cummings increased by 2,996 shares to the date of her resignation on 20 April 2011, through their participation in the 
AEA Technology Buy As You Earn Plan. In the period from 1 April 2011 to 20 July 2011 Tim Robinson acquired 288,546 shares 
under the terms of a trading agreement by which he receives his Director’s fees in the form of shares.

On 27 April 2011 Paul Golby, Kevin Higginson and Andrew McCree each bought 210,000 shares.

No Director had an interest at any time in the year in the share capital or loan stock of other Group companies.

Report on Directors’ Remuneration 
(continued) 
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Directors’ report Report on Directors’ Remuneration

G2 Interests in share options and awards

The interests of Executive Directors over Ordinary shares of the Company and previously AEA Technology plc under the  
SAYE scheme, the CSOP and the PSP are set out below:

   Options Options   Date from   
   1 April  granted in  lapsed in  31 March  Exercise which Expiry 
  2010 year year 2011 price exercisable date Scheme

Andrew McCree 90,923 – – 90,923 £2.965 26/06/04 26/06/11 CSOP

  570,175 – – 570,175 £0.00 11/08/12 10/09/12 PSP

Alice Cummings 15,177 – – 15,177 £2.965 26/06/04 26/06/11 CSOP

  2,362 – (2,362) – £0.80 01/04/10 30/09/10 SAYE

  3,840 – – 3,840 £0.70 01/04/11 30/09/11 SAYE

  34,821 – – 34,821 £0.14 01/04/12 30/09/12 SAYE

  307,895 – – 307,895 £0.00 11/08/12 10/09/12 PSP

The PSP Awards granted have two performance components; an overall Group target for earning per share growth over 
 the performance period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2012 and separate local operating targets. The element related to 
earnings per share growth will be paid at a sliding scale with no vesting for growth below RPI plus 3% and 100% vesting for 
growth of RPI plus 7%.

The market price of the Company’s shares at 31 March 2011 was 4.34p. During the year, the share price varied between 
23.00p and 3.65p.

By order of the Board

Rodney Westhead
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

20 July 2011 
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Audit Committee Report The AEA Group

This report provides details of the role of the Audit Committee 
(‘the Committee’), the work it has undertaken during the 
year to 31 March 2011 and its membership. The role of 
the Committee is to assist the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities in ensuring the integrity of both the Group and 
Company’s Financial Statements, the ongoing assessment 
of the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls and in 
ensuring the effectiveness and objectivity of the internal and 
external auditors. 

The Committee met on three occasions in 2010/11 and the 
record of attendance is set out in the Corporate Governance 
report shown on pages 21 and 22. The Committee invites 
other parties to meetings when it is appropriate to do so, 
including the CEO, the CFO, the head of internal audit and 
the external auditors. The Committee met with the external 
auditors on three occasions without any Executive Directors in 
attendance.

The Group Company Secretary acts as the secretary to  
the Committee.

Composition of the Committee

The Committee comprises independent Non-Executive 
Directors (independence being defined by Provision A.3.1 of 
the Combined Code on Corporate Governance) who are free 
from any business or other relationship which could interfere 
with the exercise of independent judgment.

The Non-Executive Directors who served on the Committee 
during the year were Rodney Westhead (Chairman) and 
Paul Golby.

Bernard Lord replaced Paul Golby on the Committee on 
26 May 2011.

The Board considers that Rodney Westhead, who holds 
a professional accounting qualification, has relevant and 
significant recent financial experience. 

The Chairman reports the work of the Committee and its 
findings to the Board.

Responsibilities

The Committee’s responsibilities include:

•  Resourcing the internal audit function and monitoring and 
reviewing its cost effectiveness and outputs and reviewing 
management’s responses to those outputs;

•   Considering and recommending to the Board the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors;

•  Reviewing and monitoring the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors, including the periodic 
rotation of audit partners and the provision of non-audit 
services;

•   Reviewing and challenging where necessary the Group’s 
and Company’s half yearly and Annual Report and 
Accounts prior to them being presented to the Board, 
specifically in areas of policy and procedure and judgment, 
the effect of unusual transactions, specific accounting 
and legal disclosures, significant audit adjustments, going 
concern, compliance with accounting and regulatory 
requirements and the position of the pension fund;

•  Reviewing and advising on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s financial reporting and internal control policies 
and procedures for the management of identified risks; and

•   Reviewing the procedures and processes for effective 
‘whistle blowing’ by employees.

The full terms of reference for the Committee, which are 
reviewed by the Board annually and most recently in 
November 2010, can be found on the Group’s website, and 
are also available from the Group Company Secretary. 

The Board has reserved to itself the review of trading 
statements and associated announcements.

Audit Committee Report 
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Main activities of the Committee  
during the year

During the year the Committee’s deliberations included the 
following:

•  The Half-Yearly and Annual Report and Accounts were 
reviewed in conjunction with the external auditors report 
on the Half Yearly and Annual audits and in advance of 
consideration by the Board.

•  The internal audit reports for all the audits completed 
during the year were reviewed and plans for future audits 
discussed in light of key legislative changes, operational 
requirements and acquisitions, with the internal audit 
resources and time frames being agreed. 

•  The annual review of internal controls and risks was 
considered and the introduction of a Group wide risk matrix 
of the top risks was agreed, with periodic reporting on 
the identified risks to the Committee scheduled for future 
meetings.

•  The potential financial liabilities for ongoing and potential 
legacy issues of divested businesses were considered and 
progress on specific current issues reported on.

•  The year-end audit strategy of the external auditors was 
presented to the Committee, with discussions with the 
external auditors on key risk areas, materiality, changes to 
accounting standards and legislation that will impact on the 
Group and fraud.

•  The effectiveness of the Audit Committee was discussed, 
particularly in relation to the quality of interaction with 
internal audit function. 

•  The external auditors audit report on the post acquisition 
control environment of ERG was reviewed and discussed 
with the external auditors.

Independence of external auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) have been the Group’s 
external auditors since May 2007, and the audit was last 
put out to tender in 2007. The Audit Committee considers 
that the relationship with PwC is continuing to work well and 
remains satisfied with their effectiveness and independence. 
PwC are required to rotate the audit partner responsible for 
the Group every five years and the current lead partner is due 
for rotation in 2012. 

In making its recommendation to the Board that PwC is 
reappointed for a further year, the Committee took into 
account their tenure as auditors and considered whether 
there should be a full tender process. There were and are 
no contractual obligations restricting the Group’s choice of 
external auditor. 

The Committee receives annual confirmation from PwC  
as to their independence and objectivity within the context 
of applicable regulatory requirements and professional 
standards as well as compliance with the Group’s policies on 
the use of external auditors for non-audit work.

Any proposal to use the external auditors for non-audit work 
exceeding £0.6 million must be submitted to both the CEO 
and the Audit Committee Chairman prior to contracts being 
signed for non-audit work to be undertaken. The level of  
non-audit fees in 2011 is shown in note 7.

Rodney Westhead
Chairman of the Audit Committee

20 July 2011
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Independent Auditors’ report to the members of AEA Technology Group plc

We have audited the Group Financial Statements of  
AEA Technology Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2011 
and the parent Company Financial Statements for the period 
from incorporation to 31 March 2011, which comprise the 
Consolidated income statement, Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, Balance sheets, Statement of 
changes in equity, Statement of cash flows and the related 
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Respective responsibilities of  
Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the Financial Statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and 
only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for 
no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it 
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

Scope of the audit of the  
Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and parent 
Company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and 
the overall presentation of the Financial Statements. 

Opinion on Financial Statements

In our opinion the Financial Statements:

•   give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2011 and of the 
Group’s loss and the Group’s and the parent Company’s 
cash flows for the period then ended; 

•   have been properly prepared in accordance International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union; and

•   have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion:

•   the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which Financial Statements are prepared 
is consistent with the Financial Statements and;

•   the information given in the Corporate Governance 
Statement set out on pages 21 to 22 with respect to 
internal control and risk management systems and about 
share capital structures is consistent with the Financial 
Statements.

 

Independent Auditors’ report to the 
members of AEA Technology Group plc
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Independent Auditors’ report to the members of AEA Technology Group plc

Matters on which we are required to  
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

•   proper accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

•   the parent company Financial Statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•   we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

•   the Directors’ statement set out on page 24 in relation to 
going concern; 

•   the part of the Governance statement relating to the 
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 
2008 Combined Code specified for our review; and

•   certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board 
on Directors’ remuneration. 

Miles Saunders 
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers CI LLP
Chartered Accountants and Recognised Auditor
Reading

20 July 2011
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Consolidated income statement
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The Consolidated Financial Statements 
have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and related 
interpretations, as adopted for use 
within the European Union and 
the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 
applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. 

Financial
statements



39

Consolidated income statement

D
irecto

rs’ rep
o

rt
A

u
d

ito
rs’ rep

o
rt 

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

A
d

d
itio

n
al in

fo
rm

atio
n

A
u

d
it C

o
m

m
ittee rep

o
rt

For the year ended 31 March Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Revenue 5 113.7 113.2 

Cost of sales (69.1) (71.5)

Gross profit 44.6 41.7 

Other operating income 6 3.2 4.3 

Selling and marketing costs (7.6) (8.1)

Administrative expenses (46.1) (27.5)

Operating (loss)/profit 7 (5.9) 10.4 

Investment income 0.1 – 

Finance income 9 21.2 14.9 

Finance costs 10 (25.1) (21.8)

(Loss)/profit before tax (9.7) 3.5 

Income tax 11 (4.3) (0.2)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners of the parent (14.0) 3.3 

Earnings per share for (loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners of the parent during 
the year 1

Basic (pence) 12 (1.2)p 0.3p

Diluted (pence) 12 (1.2)p 0.3p

1  The earnings per share figures previously reported for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated. This reflects the impact of the bonus element of the Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer 

in November 2010 (see notes 12 and 23).

Consolidated income statement – alternative performance measures (note 2)

Adjusted operating profit Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Operating (loss)/profit 7 (5.9) 10.4 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3 1.2 

Restructuring including redundancy 9.2 1.0 

Acquisition costs 4.3 – 

Pension credit from curtailment 29 (0.1) – 

Net pension credit from scheme closure 29 – (0.2)

Adjusted operating profit 5 8.8 12.4 

Adjusted profit before tax Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

(Loss)/profit before tax (9.7) 3.5 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3 1.2 

Restructuring including redundancy 9.2 1.0 

Acquisition costs 4.3 – 

Pension credit from curtailment 29 (0.1) – 

Net credit from pension scheme closure 29 – (0.2)

Net pension finance costs 29 2.0 5.5 

Adjusted profit before tax 7.0 11.0 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners of the parent (14.0) 3.3 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Currency translation losses – net of tax 24 (1.1) (0.8)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes – net of tax 29 17.4 (28.6)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) recognised for the year – net of tax 16.3 (29.4)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to the owners of the parent 2.3 (26.1)
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Group Company 1

As at 31 March Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 14 69.9 32.7 – 
Other intangible assets 15 11.7 4.6 – 
Property, plant and equipment 16 4.4 3.8 – 
Investments in subsidiaries 18 – – 69.0 
Trade and other receivables 21 1.3 – 3.7 
Deferred income tax assets 31 2.3 5.9 – 

89.6 47.0 72.7 

Current assets
Contract work in progress 20 0.1 0.2 – 
Trade and other receivables 21 31.7 25.7 – 
Current income tax assets 0.2 0.1 – 
Available for sale financial asset 19 – 2.0 – 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 4.0 6.0 – 

36.0 34.0 – 

Total assets 125.6 81.0 72.7 

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 23 14.5 2.3 14.5 
Share premium 23 – 11.7 – 
Merger reserve 24 82.0 82.0 – 
Other (deficit)/reserves 24 (28.1) (44.8) 0.1 
Retained (deficit)/reserves (138.5) (181.4) 52.4 

Total equity (70.1) (130.2) 67.0 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 1.7 2.5 1.2 
Borrowings 27 30.2 29.8 3.0 
Retirement benefit obligations 29 121.8 139.8 – 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 30 4.7 2.7 – 
Deferred income tax liabilities 31 1.2 1.6 – 

159.6 176.4 4.2 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 32.0 25.1 0.9 
Borrowings 27 2.1 2.4 0.6 
Derivative financial instruments 28 0.3 0.1 – 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 30 1.3 7.1 – 
Current income tax liabilities 0.4 0.1 – 

36.1 34.8 1.5 

Total liabilities 195.7 211.2 5.7 

Total equity and liabilities 125.6 81.0 72.7 

1  The Company was incorporated on 17 September 2010 therefore no comparative figures for 2010 are presented. See note 1 for further information.

The notes on pages 46 to 84 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 July 2011.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Andrew McCree Kevin Higginson
CEO CFO

AEA Technology Group plc Registered in Jersey: 106514
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Statement of changes in equity

Group

Share 
capital 

(note 23) 
£m 

Share 
premium 
(note 23) 

£m 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
(note 24) 

£m 

Merger 
reserve 

(note 24) 
£m 

Other 
reserves 
(note 24) 

£m 

Retained 
deficit 

 £m 

Total 
share-

holders’
 equity 

£m 

Balance as at 1 April 2009 as previously  
 reported 27.9 67.4 0.7 – (15.7) (184.7) (104.4)

Group reorganisation (note 1):

 cancellation of AEA Technology plc shares (27.9) (67.4) (0.7) – – – (96.0)
  issue of shares in AEA Technology Group 

plc 2.3 11.7 – 82.0 – – 96.0 

Balance as at 1 April 2009 restated after  
 Group reorganisation 2.3 11.7 – 82.0 (15.7) (184.7) (104.4)

Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year – – – – – 3.3 3.3 

Total comprehensive income – – – – – 3.3 3.3 

Other comprehensive expense:

Currency translation losses – – – – (0.8) – (0.8)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension  
 schemes – – – – (28.6) – (28.6)

Total other comprehensive expense – – – – (29.4) – (29.4)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income 
 for the year – – – – (29.4) 3.3 (26.1)

Transactions with owners:

Fair value of share option schemes – – – – 0.3 – 0.3 

Total transactions with owners – – – – 0.3 – 0.3 

Balance as at 31 March 2010 2.3 11.7 – 82.0 (44.8) (181.4) (130.2)

Comprehensive expense:

Loss for the year – – – – – (14.0) (14.0)

Comprehensive expense – – – – – (14.0) (14.0)

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Currency translation losses – – – – (1.1) – (1.1)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension  
 schemes – – – – 17.4 – 17.4 

Total other comprehensive income – – – – 16.3 – 16.3 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for 
the year – – – – 16.3 (14.0) 2.3 

Transactions with owners:
Shares issued under Firm Placing, Placing and  
 Open Offer (note 23) 11.1 41.5 – – – – 52.6 

Consideration shares issued (note 13) 1.1 4.6 – – – – 5.7 
Additional costs of Firm Placing, Placing and  
 Open Offer – – – – – (0.9) (0.9)

Capital reduction (note 23) – (57.8) – – – 57.8 – 

Fair value of share option schemes – – – – 0.4 – 0.4 

Total transactions with owners 12.2 (11.7) – – 0.4 56.9 57.8 

Balance as at 31 March 2011 14.5 – – 82.0 (28.1) (138.5) (70.1)
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Company

Share 
capital 

(note 23) 
£m 

Share 
premium 
(note 23) 

£m 

Other 
reserves 
(note 24) 

£m 

Retained 
reserves 

£m 

Total 
share-

holders’ 
 equity 

£m 

On incorporation – – – – – 

Comprehensive expense:

Loss for the year – – – (4.5) (4.5)

Total comprehensive expense – – – (4.5) (4.5)

Transactions with owners:

Issue of shares in AEA Technology Group plc 2.3 11.7 – – 14.0 

Shares issued under Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer (note 23) 11.1 41.5 – – 52.6 

Consideration shares issued (note 13) 1.1 4.6 – – 5.7 

Additional costs of Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer costs – – – (0.9) (0.9)

Capital reduction (note 23) – (57.8) – 57.8 – 

Fair value of share option schemes – – 0.1 – 0.1 

Total transactions with owners 14.5 – 0.1 56.9 71.5 

Balance as at 31 March 2011 14.5 – 0.1 52.4 67.0 
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Statement of cash flows

Group Company

For the year ended 31 March Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 32 (3.9) 6.0 (3.7)

Interest paid (1.6) (1.7) – 

Taxes paid (0.8) (0.1) – 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (6.3) 4.2 (3.7)

Cash flows used in investing activities

Deferred payment on previous year acquisition of subsidiary – (0.9) – 

Acquisition of subsidiary, including loan to subsidiary’s previous shareholders (48.2) – (49.1)

Expenditure on other intangibles (0.2) (0.4) – 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1.5) (0.6) – 

Net cash used in investing activities (49.9) (1.9) (49.1)

Cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (17.1) (7.4) – 

Draw-down of borrowings 20.3 11.4 3.6 

Capital element of finance lease repayments (0.5) (0.5) – 

Issue of intra-Group loans – – (2.4)

Proceeds from intra-Group loans – – 1.3 

Capital contribution to AEA Technology plc – – (1.4)

Proceeds from new equity issues 23 51.7 – 51.7 

Settlement of forward contracts – (2.2) – 

Net cash generated from financing activities 54.4 1.3  52.8 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1.8) 3.6 – 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 22 6.0 3.0 – 

Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (0.2) (0.6) – 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22 4.0 6.0 – 
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Statement of cash flows – alternative performance measures (note 2)

Group Company

Movement in net debt for the year ended 31 March Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m

Net cash flow generated from business operations 5 10.3 10.2 (0.2)

Restructuring including redundancy costs (4.7) (1.0) – 

Acquisition costs (3.6) – (3.5)

Legacy cash flows (4.1) (2.1) – 

Funding of pension deficit (1.8) (1.1) – 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 32 (3.9) 6.0 (3.7)

Net interest and tax paid (2.4) (1.1) – 

Net cash used in investing activities (49.9) (1.9) (49.1)

Cancellation of debt 2.0 – – 

Proceeds from new equity issues 51.7 – 51.7 

Settlement of forward contracts – (2.2) – 

Non-cash financing – facility fees – (0.3) – 

Non-cash financing – finance leases (0.4) (0.5) – 

Exchange gains on net debt 0.8 1.1 – 

Capital contribution to AEA Technology plc – – (1.4)

Net movement in Intra-Group loans – – (1.1)

Net (increase)/decrease in net debt (2.1) 1.1 (3.6)

Net debt at beginning of year (26.2) (27.3) – 

Net debt at end of year (28.3) (26.2) (3.6)

Closing net debt comprises:

Group Company

Note
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 22 4.0 6.0 – 

Current borrowings 27 (2.1) (2.4) (0.6)

Non-current borrowings 27 (30.2) (29.8) (3.0)

Net debt at end of year (28.3) (26.2) (3.6)

These supplementary disclosures do not form part of the Statement of cash flows and these tables are not included in the notes to the Financial 
Statements.
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Notes to the Financial statements

1	 GENERAL	INFORMATION
AEA Technology Group plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) is one of the world’s leading technical energy, sustainability and IT 
consultancies. The Group has a broad and deep technical knowledge gained through experience working in energy and environmental policy for 
UK and US governments, international agencies and blue chip companies. AEA maintains a leading position supporting the public sector and 
international agencies in climate change, energy, water, data management, economics and knowledge transfer. An overview of the business is given 
in the Directors’ report on pages 2 to 33.

The Company is a public limited company, incorporated and domiciled in Jersey. The address of the registered office is 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, 
Jersey, JE4 8PX. The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The Financial Statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, being the currency in which the 
Company reports to its shareholders. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

Group	reorganisation
The Company was incorporated on 17 September 2010. Prior to 5 November 2010 the Company had not commenced trading. The Financial 
Statements include the results of the Company from its incorporation date, accordingly no comparative financial information is presented for the 
Company.

On 5 November 2010 the Company became the new ultimate holding company of the AEA Group, pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement 
under section 899 of the UK Companies Act 2006 approved by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales and the shareholders of 
AEA Technology plc. The Company issued new Ordinary shares with a nominal value of 1.0 pence (“new shares”), which were exchanged on a 
one-for-one basis for the Ordinary shares of AEA Technology plc, with a nominal value of 122/9 pence (“old shares”).

The Scheme of Arrangement falls outside the scope of IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business combinations’, and in the absence of a standard specifically 
applicable to the transaction, IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ provides guidance on the selection of 
an appropriate accounting policy. Accordingly the Scheme of Arrangement has been accounted for using the principles of merger accounting 
set out in FRS 6 ‘Acquisitions and mergers, and UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”)’. This policy does not conflict with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and reflects the economic substance of the transaction. In accordance with the principles of 
merger accounting the comparative financial information presented in relation to the Group in these consolidated Financial Statements has been 
extracted from the AEA Technology plc consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2010. Those Financial 
Statements incorporated the results of AEA Technology plc and its subsidiaries. Earnings per share is unaffected by the Scheme of Arrangement.

As a result of the Scheme of Arrangement, AEA Technology plc is now a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The new shares carry 
substantially the same rights as the old shares. The Scheme of Arrangement did not involve a cash payment for the old shares. Immediately 
after the Scheme of Arrangement became effective the Company had the same Board of Directors and corporate governance arrangements as 
AEA Technology plc had prior to the Scheme of Arrangement. The consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group were the same immediately before 
and after the Scheme of Arrangement became effective.

The new shares issued were recorded at fair value based on the closing price of the old shares on the day prior to delisting. This resulted in the 
creation of a share premium account of £11.7 million in the Company and ordinary share capital of £2.3 million, with the Group’s prior year balances 
being restated to these amounts (see note 23). Subsequent to the Scheme of Arrangement, the Company successfully placed 1,111,581,000 new 
Ordinary shares at a price of 5.0 pence per share raising £55.6 million before expenses of £3.9 million (see note 23), £3.0 million being charged 
to the share premium account of the Company and a further £0.9 million of costs charged directly to retained reserves. On 17 November 2010, 
following confirmation by the Jersey Court, a reduction of capital of £57.8 million became effective with the share premium amounts cancelled and 
reclassified as distributable reserves.

All the AEA Technology plc share options granted to Directors and employees under share option plans that were in existence immediately prior to 
the Scheme of Arrangement were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for share options in the Company with no change in any terms or conditions.

2	 PRINCIPAL	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated Financial Statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis	of	preparation
The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRIC interpretations, as adopted for use within the 
European Union and the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. These consolidated Financial Statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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The preparation of Financial Statements in compliance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions or estimates are significant to the consolidated Financial Statements are summarised in note 3.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the Financial Statements.

Application	of	new	standards	and	interpretations
The following new standard is mandatory for the first time for the financial year ending 31 March 2011: 

• IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ and IAS 27 (revised) ‘Consolidated and separate Financial Statements’, effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

As a result transaction costs of £4.3 million for the acquisition of ERG have been recognised in the Consolidated income statement and have 
not been included as part of the acquisition cost. All consideration has been recorded at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year ending 
31 March 2011, but either have no significant impact or are not currently relevant for the Group:

• IFRS 2 amendment, ‘Share-based payment – Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions’, effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2010;

• IAS 32 amendment, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation and classification of rights issues’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 February 2010;

• IAS 39 amendment, ‘Eligible hedged items’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009;

• IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the construction of real estate’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, but EU endorsed 
for use from 1 January 2010;

• IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008, but EU 
endorsed for use from 1 July 2009;

• IFRIC 17, ‘Distribution of non-cash assets to owners’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009;

• IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of assets from customers’, effective from 1 July 2009, but EU endorsed for use from 31 October 2009; and

• Annual improvements to IFRSs (2009), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations have been issued, but are not effective for the financial year 
ending 31 March 2011 and have not been adopted early:

• IFRS 7 amendment, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures on de recognition’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, 
subject to EU endorsement;

• IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to EU endorsement;

• IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to EU endorsement;

• IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to EU endorsement;

• IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to EU endorsement;

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurements’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to EU endorsement;

• IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011;

• IAS 12 amendment, ‘Income taxes on deferred tax’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, subject to EU 
endorsement;

• IFRIC 14 amendment, ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011;

• IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010; and

• Annual improvements to IFRSs (2010), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011, subject to EU endorsement.

These standards will require additional disclosures but otherwise will not have a material impact on the Group Financial Statements when they are 
adopted.
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Notes to the Financial statements (continued)Notes to the Financial statements

Alternative	performance	measures
The Group uses a number of alternative (non-Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (non-GAAP)) financial measures, which are not defined by 
IFRS. The Directors use these measures in order to assess the underlying operational performance of the Group and as such these measures are 
important and should be considered alongside the IFRS measures. The following non-GAAP measures are referred to in this Annual Report and 
Accounts:

a)  Adjusted operating profit and adjusted profit before tax
Beneath the Consolidated income statement adjusted operating profit is separately disclosed. This is defined as operating profit before amortisation 
of acquired intangibles and significant items, which includes acquisition, group restructuring and redundancy costs. Profit before tax is also adjusted 
in the same way, with the additional adjustment to exclude net pension finance costs. A reconciliation of profit before tax to adjusted profit before tax 
is shown beneath the Consolidated income statement.

b)  Movement in net debt
Beneath the Statement of cash flows a Statement of movement in net debt is shown being the movement between opening and closing net debt. 
An analysis of net debt by Balance sheet heading is also shown.

c)  Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share as shown in note 12 is calculated by dividing the adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted 
average number of Ordinary shares in issue during the year.

d)  Net cash flow generated from business operations
Beneath the Statement of cash flows the ‘Cash (used in)/generated from operations’ is split into its component parts, representing cash flow from 
business operations; restructuring including redundancy costs, acquisition costs, legacy cash flows (note 30) and the funding of the pension deficit.

Basis	of	consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group; 
they are de-consolidated from the date on which control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries of 
the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded 
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the Consolidated income statement. The results of subsidiaries acquired or sold during the year are included in the Consolidated income 
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal.

Inter-Company transactions, balances and related unrealised gains/losses are eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies are consistently 
applied across the Group.

Significant	accounting	policies

a)  Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief-operating decision maker (“CODM”). The 
CODM has been identified as the body of Executive Directors who consider the allocation of resources between operating segments.

b)  Foreign currency translation

	 (i)		 Functional	and	presentational	currency	
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in pounds sterling (units in millions), which is the Group’s presentational currency and the 
Company’s functional currency. This is the currency in which the Group reports to its shareholders.

	 (ii)	 Transactions	and	balances	
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the balance sheet date at the exchange rates ruling at that point. The 
gains and losses thus generated and the foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are recognised 
in the Consolidated income statement unless they are designated as qualifying cash flow hedges, in which case they are recognised directly in 
reserves.

	 (iii)	 Overseas	subsidiaries	
For consolidation purposes the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries that have a functional currency different to the Group’s 
presentational currency are translated into the Group’s presentational currency at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The 
income statements of overseas subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s presentational currency at the average rates of exchange during the 
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised through the Statement of comprehensive income in a separate component of equity 
(the “Currency translation reserve”, see note 24).
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c)  Revenue recognition 
Revenue represents the total value of income (excluding sales taxes) earned in respect of products delivered and services rendered to customers 
and the value of long-term contract work completed. Revenue relates to ordinary activities and is stated after trade discounts. The majority of the 
Group’s revenue is derived from the following types of contracts:

Time	and	materials
Revenue is recognised based on contracted hourly billing rates as costs are incurred on recoverable labour costs. Materials income is recognised in 
line with the material costs incurred.

Cost	plus	fixed	fee
Revenue is recognised based on direct and indirect costs associated with a contract plus a fixed fee. Costs that are categorised as direct are 
recovered in full from the customer. Indirect costs are billed at estimated billing rates that are periodically negotiated with the customer. These are 
subject to audit by the customer and adjustments are recorded in the year the Group is notified. Anticipated cost overruns or audit adjustments 
are provided for in the years in which they are identified. Direct costs are deemed to be the most appropriate measure of contract performance. 
Accordingly the fixed fee is recognised during the performance of the contract based on the estimated percentage of completion of total direct costs 
expected on the contract. Anticipated total direct costs are reviewed at the year end to ensure the level of fee income recognised is appropriate.

Costs and fees relating to work performed on contracts prior to final funding or awaiting final closing are included in Receivables from long-term 
contracts.

Any invoices raised and/or cash received in advance of recognition of the income is included under Deferred income within Trade and other 
payables. Income on long-term contracts is recognised based on the value of work completed under the contract.

Income on long-term contracts is recognised based on the value of work completed under the contract. The revenue in respect of long-term 
contracts represents the cost appropriate to the stage of completion of each contract plus attributable profits, less amounts recognised in previous 
years where relevant. The unbilled element of this revenue is included in trade and other receivables as Receivables from long-term contracts. 

Fixed	price	contracts
Direct costs on Fixed price contracts are deemed to be the most appropriate measure of contract performance. The revenue on a contract is 
recognised based upon the direct costs incurred on a contract expressed as a percentage of the total cost of completion and applied to the total 
fixed price.

d) Government grants 
Capital based government grants are included within accruals and deferred income in the Balance sheet and credited to operating profit over the 
expected useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate. Revenue based government grants are credited to operating profit to match the 
expenditure to which they relate.

e)  Other operating income 
Income from third parties that is not in respect of the Group’s ordinary trading activities or from investment activities is reported within other operating 
income. This principally comprises the recovery of property and other costs from previously discontinued businesses under transitional service 
agreements, income from retained contracts of discontinued businesses that had not been novated on sale but are in run-off, and the recovery of 
pension scheme administration cost from the trustees of the AEA Technology plc’s defined benefit pension scheme.

f)  Income tax
The net income tax expense represents the sum of current income tax and deferred income tax. 

The current income tax is based on the taxable profit for the year together with adjustments, where necessary, in respect of prior years. Taxable profit 
differs from profits as reported in the Consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current income tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the Balance sheet liability method. Deferred income 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition, other than in a business combination, of other assets and liabilities that affect 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able 
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and amended to the extent that it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred income tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected 
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred income tax is charged or credited to the Consolidated income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle its current income tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

g) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group and Company’s share of identifiable net assets 
acquired. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to Cash Generating Units (CGUs) for the purposes of impairment testing.

h) Intangible assets

	 (i)		 Customer	contracts	and	relationships
Customer contracts and relationships acquired in a business combination are capitalised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. They are 
amortised on a straight line basis over five to fifteen years and are stated at fair value less accumulated amortisation.

	 (ii)		 Development	costs	
Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved products and services) are recognised as 
intangible assets when it is probable that the project will be a success, considering its commercial and technical feasibility and costs can be 
measured reliably. Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense. Development costs that have a finite useful life and that have 
been capitalised are amortised from the commencement of commercial sale of the product or, if earlier, when the asset is ready for use in the 
manner intended on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, not exceeding 20 years.

	 (iii)	 Other	intangibles
Other intangibles acquired separately are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. Intangible assets, excluding development costs, that 
are created within the business are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred. 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software, and 
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation on other intangibles is charged to the Consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible assets (five to ten years).

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. Useful lives are reviewed on an annual basis and 
adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

i)  Property, plant and equipment 
All property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes the original purchase price of the 
asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life, as 
follows: 

Leasehold land and buildings: up to the period of the lease
Plant and equipment: up to ten years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying value is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the carrying value is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

j)  Investment in subsidiary 
The Company’s investment in its subsidiary is shown at cost less any provision for impairment. The cost of the investment includes expenditure 
directly related to the acquisition of the investment in the subsidiary. At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether or not there is any 
evidence of impairment. 

k)  Available for sale financial asset 
The available for sale financial asset was included in current assets at 31 March 2010. The investment was recognised initially at fair value. During 
the year liquidators were engaged at the agreement of the shareholders of the company held as an investment. Following the decision to liquidate by 
all shareholders of the company held as an investment the short term loan and the investment held by the Group with the company were cancelled.
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l)  Contract work in progress 
Contract work in progress (WIP) is valued at cost, less the cost of work invoiced on incomplete contracts and less foreseeable losses. Cost 
comprises purchase cost plus production and related overheads.

Contract WIP relates to assets that are required on a temporary basis which are required to be supplied to customers as a component of the overall 
contract which is predominantly service orientated.

m)  Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are stated initially at fair value then measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less provisions for 
impairment. Provisions for impairment are recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. The impairment recorded is the difference between the carrying value of the receivables and the 
estimated future cash flows, discounted where appropriate. Any impairment required is recorded in the income statement.

n)  Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

o)  Long-term contracts 
Where the outcome of a long-term contract can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, revenue and costs are 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date. This is normally measured based on the value 
of work completed as a proportion of the total value of work to be provided. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included 
to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being reliably measured. 

Where the outcome of a long-term contract cannot be estimated reliably contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that 
it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the year in which they are incurred. When it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

p)  Leases 
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group. Assets 
acquired under finance leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown as borrowings. Each finance lease payment 
is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long term 
payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

q)  Employee benefits

	 (i)		 Pension	obligations	
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme (“the UK Plan”). The AEA defined benefit pension scheme (“the Scheme”) was 
closed to future accrual on 31 July 2009. The US subsidiaries, Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc, operate defined contribution 
401(K) profit sharing plans (“the US Plans’’).

For the UK Plan, the assets are held separately from those of AEA Technology plc and the Company in individual accounts under the control 
of the pension provider. The only obligation of AEA Technology plc and the Company with respect to the UK Plan is to make the specified 
contributions.

For the US Plans the assets are held separately from those of both Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc in funds under the control of 
trustees and insurance companies. The only obligation of Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc is to make the specified contributions. 

For the Scheme, the liability recognised in the Balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less 
the fair value of Scheme assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arose. 

	 (ii)		 Share-based	plans	
The Group runs a number of equity-settled, share-based employee compensation plans. The options are subject to three to five-year service 
vesting conditions. The fair value at the grant date of the option is recognised as an employee benefit expense on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model. The 
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expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations. 

The cost is recognised in the share option reserve. When the options are exercised, the company issues new shares. The proceeds received 
net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

	 (iii)		 Short-term	employee	benefits	
Accruals are included to reflect the cost of short-term compensation to employees for absences such as paid annual leave.

r) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to 
settle the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

Provisions were made for the future costs arising in respect of the events discussed in note 30.

s)  Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses various derivative instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate fluctuations, including foreign 
currency forward contracts and floating to fixed interest rate swaps. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value on the date a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts 
are recognised immediately in the Consolidated income statement within administrative expenses. Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps 
are recognised immediately in the Consolidated income statement within finance income or finance costs, reported as “Fair value losses/gains on 
financial instruments”. Further details of the derivative financial instruments are given in note 28.

AEA Technology plc’s warrant instruments were issued as part of the re-financing of the Group in July 2005. The Company had no remaining 
warrants in issue as at 31 March 2011 as 5,633,252 warrants expired on 8 July 2010.

Prior to the expiry date holders of these warrants could subscribe for one Ordinary share in AEA Technology plc at a price of 65.00p per share. The 
fair value of these warrants as at 31 March 2010 was £nil, calculated by reference to the closing market price of 21.25p per share.

t) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand and cash held in on-demand bank accounts as well as highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with a maturity of less than three months.

u) Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at amortised cost. Borrowings are 
classified as current liabilities unless the Group anticipates that the balance is expected to remain outstanding 12 months after the balance sheet 
date.

v)  Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

w) Risk management policies 
The risk management policies are documented in the financial performance section of the Directors’ report and in note 4.

3	 CRITICAL	ACCOUNTING	ESTIMATES	AND	JUDGMENTS
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, previously described, management is required to make certain estimates and judgments concerning 
the future. These estimates and judgments are regularly reviewed and updated as necessary. The estimates and judgments that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts included in these consolidated Financial Statements are as follows:

a) Pensions 
The net liability recognised in respect of retirement benefit obligations is dependent on a number of estimates including those relating to longevity, 
inflation, projected return on investments, salary increases and the rate at which liabilities are discounted. Any change in these assumptions would 
impact the retirement benefit obligation recognised. Further details on these estimates are set out in note 29.

b) Impairment of goodwill 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has 
been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires estimates to be made of the future cash flows to arise from the CGUs and selection of 
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appropriate discount rates to calculate present values. No impairments were made to goodwill during the year and the carrying value is £69.9 million 
(2010: £32.7 million). An increase of 1.0% to the discount rates used (note 14) will have no impact on the carrying value.

c) Provisions in respect of onerous contracts 
The Group has certain contracts where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected 
to be received from the contract. These contracts as detailed in note 30 are in respect of the provision of services. Provisions for these onerous 
contracts are made for the net cost of exiting the contract, which is the lower of the estimated cost of fulfilling the contract and the estimated 
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfill it. Any changes in costs compared to those currently estimated by management will result in an 
equivalent change in the carrying liability (note 30), prior to it being settled.

d) Provisions in respect of warranties and indemnities 
The Group has potential liabilities in respect of claims under warranties and indemnities. Management is required to estimate the potential exposure 
in respect of such claims. A determination of the amount of provisions required, if any, is based on a careful analysis of each individual issue with the 
assistance of outside legal counsel where appropriate. However, actual claims incurred could differ from the original estimates. Any changes in costs 
compared to those currently estimated by management will result in an equivalent change in the carrying liability (note 30), prior to it being settled.

e) Long-term contracts 
Profits are recognised on long-term contracts once the outcome of the contract can be assessed with reasonable certainty. An estimate is made of 
the proportion of work completed to date considered to be low risk and an appropriate estimate of the profit attributable to this work is recognised. 
The estimates are based on management reviews of the actual proportion of low risk work completed and profit margins.

An asset of £15.8 million (2010: £10.9 million) is held on the Balance sheet in respect of the estimated revenue recognised on long-term contracts in 
progress (note 21). If management’s estimate of the proportion of the cost of work done upon which it is appropriate to recognise revenue were to 
increase/decrease by 10 percentage points, the carrying value of the receivable from long-term contracts would increase/decrease by £0.7 million, 
and profit recognised would increase/decrease by less than £0.7 million. A reasonable change in the estimate of profit attributable to this work would 
have minimal impact on the profit recognised.

f)  Deferred income tax 
Deferred income tax assets have been recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through 
future taxable profits is probable. Any revisions to management’s estimate of future taxable profit will result in a proportional change to the deferred 
income tax asset.

g) Legal and other disputes 
The Group is subject to legal proceedings and other claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Group assesses the likelihood of any 
adverse judgments or outcomes, and the potential costs, based on a careful analysis of each individual issue with the assistance of outside legal 
counsel. Where an outflow of resources is considered probable and a reasonable estimate can be made of the likely outcome, then a provision for 
the amount is made (note 30). No provisions have been made where no reasonable estimate of the likely outcome can be made. Any changes in 
costs compared to those currently estimated by management will result in an equivalent change in the carrying liability (note 30), or the creation of a 
liability, prior to it being settled.

h) Acquired intangible assets 
During the year the group acquired ERG and IFRS requires the identification and fair value of certain types of intangible assets. These include, but 
are not limited to, customer relationships, brand and software. Judgment is required with regards to determine an appropriate valuation technique 
as well as determining appropriate input assumptions relevant to subsequent models adopted. The total value acquired has been determined 
as £8.7 million (see note 13). Additional consideration has been given to the residual goodwill to ensure that the reasonableness of the fair value 
adjustments have been identified. Goodwill is required to be allocated across CGUs and for this transaction it is considered to be only one CGU. 

4	 FINANCIAL	RISK	MANAGEMENT
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of foreign exchange risk, cash flow and interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk, credit risk and capital risk. The Group has in place a risk management programme that seeks to limit the potentially adverse effects of 
unpredictable movements in financial markets on financial performance.

The Group’s finance department implements the policies set by the Board of Directors. The department has a policy and procedures manual that 
sets out specific guidelines to manage foreign exchange risk, cash flow and interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk and circumstances where it 
would be appropriate to use financial instruments to manage these. The basic principles are detailed below.

Treasury	management
The Group uses various financial instruments in order to manage the exposures that arise in its business operations as a result of movements in 
financial markets. The Group does not undertake speculative foreign exchange or interest rate dealings for which there is no underlying exposure. 
Treasury dealings such as investments, borrowings and foreign exchange are conducted only to support underlying business transactions. All 
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treasury activities are focused on the management of risk. The main risk continues to be movements in rates of interest and movements in foreign 
currency exchange rates. The CFO, who operates within written policies approved by the Board and within the internal control framework, manages 
all such exposures. 

a) Market risk

(i)	 Foreign	exchange	risk
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group operated 51% (2010: 35%) in the US market and the majority of its sales and purchases 
were transacted in each entity’s own functional currency. However, the element of trading that is transacted in foreign currencies does 
expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group is also exposed to movements in exchange rates for the translation of net assets and 
income statements of foreign subsidiaries and for the translation of foreign currency assets and liabilities held in the UK, primarily in US Dollar 
denominated borrowings and US Dollar denominated receivables from subsidiaries.

The Group is exposed to a number of currencies on transactions. The most significant transactional currency exposures are the US Dollar and 
the Euro. Where currency balances in receivables and payables cannot be offset, the Group seeks to hedge its transactional exposure by the 
use of forward currency contracts. The objective is to minimise the impact of fluctuations in exchange rates on future transactions and cash 
flows. The Group has not designated these instruments as cash flow hedges and they are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group uses sensitivity analysis to measure the estimated effect on post tax profit of a strengthening or weakening in Sterling against 
the US Dollar and Euro by 20% from the rates applicable at 31 March 2011. The sensitivity analysis uses 20% as this is considered to be a 
reasonably possible amount by which the exchange rate could move based on the movements in these exchange rates over recent times. 
The effect on post tax profit has been calculated by applying the change in exchange rates to foreign currency exposures in existence at the 
balance sheet date. 

At 31 March 2011, if Sterling had strengthened or weakened by 20% against both currencies, with all other variables held constant, equity and 
post tax profit for the year would be lower/higher by £0.1 million (2010: £0.3 million). Foreign exchange translation of Euro denominated trade 
receivables, trade payables and cash held in Euros, contributed £0.1 million (2010: £0.2 million) to this movement. US Dollar denominated  
inter-Company payables and net US Dollar cash balances contributed £nil (2010: £0.1 million).

The US Dollar to Sterling balance sheet exchange rate was 1.603 at 31 March 2011 (31 March 2010: 1.517). The US Dollar to Sterling Income 
Statement rate was 1.556 for the year ended 31 March 2011 (year ended 31 March 2010: 1.581).

(ii)	 Cash	flow	and	interest	rate	risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. The Group’s primary loan facility is at a variable rate of interest (dependent upon the 
movement in the London Interbank Offered Rate) and exposes the Group to interest rate risk. The Group’s policy is to hedge up to 50% of 
the floating rate debt and it manages these risks by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps, which have the economic effect of converting 
borrowings from floating rate to fixed rate. As at the balance sheet date £10.6 million (2010: £13.2 million) of floating rate borrowings 
have been swapped into fixed rate debt through the use of US dollar denominated interest rate swaps of a notional amount of $20 million 
(2010: $20.0 million). Under these swap instruments the Group agrees with the other parties to exchange, at monthly intervals, the difference 
between the floating rate and the fixed rate interest amounts that are payable/receivable on the nominal amount of swapped borrowings.

The Group uses sensitivity analysis to measure the estimated effect on post tax profit of an increase or decrease of 1% in market interest rates 
(100 basis points), from the rates applicable at 31 March 2011. This figure is considered to be a reasonably possible amount by which interest 
rates could move.

Assumptions made in these calculations are as follows:

• Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of variable interest financial instruments;

• Any impact on retirement benefit obligations has been excluded;

• The effect on post tax profit and equity has been calculated by applying the change in market risk to exposures in existence at the balance 
sheet date.

Under these assumptions a 1% increase or decrease in market interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase in 
equity and post tax profit for the year by £0.1 million (2010: £0.1 million). This is mainly as a result of the higher/lower interest expense on the 
net amount of floating rate borrowings not covered by interest rate swaps.

b)  Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk relates primarily to the management of its availability of funding and ability to repay borrowings and trade and other 
payables. Entities within the Group are required by the Group’s treasury function to maintain and regularly update detailed cash forecasting models. 
The treasury function supports the cash flow needs of the underlying business and maintains financial flexibility through utilising the available funds 
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under the Group’s revolving credit facility (note 27). As at 31 March 2011 £6.7 million of this facility remains unutilised, which provides sufficient 
headroom to cover the Group’s expected operating cashflow needs over the period of the facility.

The following table analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date 
to the contractual maturity date. 

The derivative financial instruments settled net are interest rate swaps. The Group pays or receives net amounts under “pay fixed, receive floating” 
interest rate swaps. The amounts receivable under floating rates have been calculated using the interest rates in place at the balance sheet dates. 

The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash outflows (unless stated) and will not, in some cases, agree to the 
carrying balance sheet amounts. 

Less than 
one year 

£m 

Between
one and 

two years
£m 

Between
two and

five years 
£m 

Total
£m

At 31 March 2011

Derivative financial instruments:

 Derivative financial instruments settled net (0.3) – – (0.3)

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

 Unsecured bank and other loans (1.7) (30.0) – (31.7)

 Finance lease liabilities (0.4) (0.2) – (0.6)

 Trade payables (10.4) – – (10.4)

 Accruals – cash settled (11.3) – – (11.3)

Less than
one year 

£m 

Between
one and

two years 
£m 

Between
two and

five years 
£m 

Total
£m

At 31 March 2010

Derivative financial instruments:

 Derivative financial instruments settled net (0.1) – – (0.1)

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

 Unsecured bank and other loans (2.0) – (29.4) (31.4)

 Finance lease liabilities (0.4) (0.4) – (0.8)

 Trade payables (7.5) – – (7.5)

 Accruals – cash settled (7.7) – – (7.7)

c)  Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk arises primarily in respect of outstanding receivables and committed transactions with private sector customers. The majority 
of the Group’s sales and trade receivables relate to public sector organisations and hold a low credit risk. The Group has implemented policies that 
require appropriate credit checks on potential customers before contracts are agreed. The amount of exposure to any individual counterparty is 
subject to an agreed limit. The Group monitors and manages its exposure to counterparties. 

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions. For banks 
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are accepted.

d) Capital risk
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that funds are raised in an appropriate, cost-effective manner considering the scale 
and timeframe of the funding requirement. The Group’s primary concern is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and stakeholders in the Company. It is the Board’s intention to pay dividends when it is considered to be in the best 
interests of the Company.

The Group takes legal, financial and tax advice when considering changes to the capital structure of the Group.
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The Group considers its total capital to be the sum of equity and net borrowings, as follows: 

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Equity deficit 70.1 130.2 

Net borrowings (28.3) (26.2)

Total capital 41.8 104.0 

Changes to equity during the year are detailed in notes 23 and 24. Changes to net borrowings during the year are detailed in note 27.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

e) Fair value estimation
The fair value of the Group’s derivative financial instruments is determined by using valuation techniques. The fair value of interest rate swaps is 
calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The Group obtains these fair values from the relevant contracting banks. The fair 
value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet dates obtained from the relevant contracting 
banks.

The carrying values less impairment provisions of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate to their fair values. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

5	 SEGMENTAL	INFORMATION
The Group has only one service, being that of consultancy, policy support, programme and data management. The measure of reported segmental 
profit or loss used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to assess the performance of the segments is adjusted operating profit. This 
measure excludes the effect of amortisation of acquired intangibles and significant items, as defined in note 2 ‘Alternative performance measures’.

All amounts provided to the CODM are measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies as stated in note 2 and are therefore 
consistent with the amounts presented in the Financial Statements. Any sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length.

The revenue and adjusted operating profit generated by each of the Group’s segments, together with the depreciation and amortisation charge for 
each segment, are summarised as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 54.7 73.6 

US 59.0 39.6 

Total revenue 113.7 113.2 

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 1.6 8.3 

US 7.2 4.1 

Total adjusted operating profit 8.8 12.4 

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 1.2 0.9 

US 0.6 0.5 

Total depreciation and amortisation charged in adjusted operating profit 1.8 1.4 
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Net cash flow generated from business operations by segment is as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 1.7 5.4 

US 8.6 4.8 

Net cash flow generated from business operations 10.3 10.2 

A reconciliation from segmental net cash flow generated from business operations to cash (used in)/generated from operations is given within the 
alternative performance measures, movement in net debt shown beneath the Statement of cash flows. 

Reportable segment assets and liabilities represent the operational working capital balances of each of the reportable segments.

Total reportable segment assets are as follows: 

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 9.1 13.4 

US 20.7 10.6 

Total reportable segment assets 29.8 24.0 

Total reportable segment liabilities are as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 14.0 14.8 

US 7.8 4.2 

Total reportable segment liabilities 21.8 19.0 

A reconciliation of adjusted operating profit for reportable segments to (loss)/profit before tax is as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Adjusted operating profit for reportable segments 8.8 12.4 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (1.2)

Restructuring including redundancy (9.2) (1.0)

Acquisition costs (4.3) – 

Investment income 0.1 – 

Pension credit from curtailment 0.1 – 

Net pension credit from Scheme closure – 0.2 

Net finance costs (3.9) (6.9)

(Loss)/profit before tax (9.7) 3.5 

Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Reportable segment assets 29.8 24.0 

Non-current assets 89.6 47.0 

Contract work in progress 0.1 0.2 

Other receivables 1.9 1.7 

Current income tax assets 0.2 0.1 

Available for sale financial assets – 2.0 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.0 6.0 

Total assets per Balance sheet 125.6 81.0 
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Reportable segment liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Reportable segment liabilities 21.8 19.0 

Non-current liabilities 159.6 176.4 

Other payables 10.2 6.1 

Borrowings 2.1 2.4 

Derivative financial instruments 0.3 0.1 

Provisions for liabilities and charges 1.3 7.1 

Current income tax liabilities 0.4 0.1 

Total liabilities per Balance sheet 195.7 211.2 

Entity-wide	disclosures
The Group is domiciled in the UK. The following table shows external revenue by country based on the destination of service. Revenues are 
disclosed for the country of domicile, the US and other countries in total.

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

UK 49.0 66.0 

US 58.5 39.6 

Other 6.2 7.6 

Total revenue 113.7 113.2 

The locations of non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets, are as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

UK 3.9 3.0 

US 83.4 38.1 

Non-current assets 87.3 41.1 

Revenues of £24.5 million (2010: £36.2 million) are derived from a single external customer attributable to the Europe segment. Revenues of 
£49.6 million (2010: £35.1 million) are derived from a single external customer attributable to the US segment. These revenues are considered to be 
from single customers as they are from numerous departments and agencies under the control of the UK or US national governments.

6	 OTHER	OPERATING	INCOME
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Recovery of pension scheme administration costs 1.1 1.2 

Other 1 2.1 3.1 

3.2 4.3 

1   Other relates to the recovery of rental and other costs from previously disposed businesses in respect of transitional service agreements together with other income 
from third parties that is not in respect of the Group’s ordinary trading or investment activities.



59

D
irecto

rs’ rep
o

rt
A

u
d

ito
rs’ rep

o
rt 

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

A
d

d
itio

n
al in

fo
rm

atio
n

A
u

d
it C

o
m

m
ittee rep

o
rt

7	 OPERATING	(LOSS)/PROFIT
The following items have been charged within operating (loss)/profit:

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing costs and administrative expenses
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Employee benefit expense 52.3 46.9 

Sub-contractor costs 29.2 31.9 

Operating lease payments 5.8 5.5 

Amortisation of intangibles (note 15) 1.5 1.3 

Depreciation of plant, property and equipment (note 16) 1.6 1.3 

Other losses – net (note 8) – 0.2 

Acquisition costs 4.3 – 

Restructuring costs including redundancy 9.2 1.0 

Other external charges 18.9 19.0 

122.8 107.1 

Fees payable to Company’s Auditors and its associates
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Fees for other services supplied pursuant to legislation 1.0 – 

Other services relating to taxation 0.4 – 

Services relating to corporate finance transactions 0.4 – 

All other services 0.3 0.1 

2.1 0.1 

Statutory audit (Group consolidation and parent Company) 0.2 0.2 

2.3 0.3 

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Audit Committee Report on pages 34 and 35 of the Annual Report and Accounts, 
which includes an explanation of how Auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when the Auditors provide non-audit services.

Employee benefit expense charged to the Consolidated income statement
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Wages and salaries 49.9 40.2 

Social security costs 3.8 3.6 

Share options 0.4 0.3 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans (note 29) 3.2 2.6 

Pension costs – defined benefit schemes (note 29) 1.9 5.7 

59.2 52.4 

Directors’ remuneration details are given in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 26 to 33.

Number	of	employees

Group Company

Average monthly headcount (including Executive Directors)
2011 

No. 
2010 

No. 
2011 

No. 

Consultants 460 466 – 

Technical specialists 248 227 – 

Management and services 199 196 1 

Sales and marketing 29 30 – 

936 919 1 
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8	 OTHER	LOSSES/(GAINS)	–	NET	
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Net foreign exchange losses – 0.5 
Fair value gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:
 foreign exchange forward contracts (note 28) – (0.3)

– 0.2 

9	 FINANCE	INCOME
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets (note 29) 21.2 14.9 

21.2 14.9 

10	 FINANCE	COSTS
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 1.7 1.4 

Interest on finance leases 0.1 – 
Fair value losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:
 interest rate swaps 0.1 – 

Accretion of discount on defined benefit pension scheme obligations (note 29) 23.2 20.4 

25.1 21.8 

11	 INCOME	TAX

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

UK corporation tax at 28% (2010: 28%) (0.1) – 

Overseas tax charge 1.0 0.1 

Deferred income tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 31) 3.4 0.1 

Income tax expense 4.3 0.2 

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to 
profits of the Group as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

(Loss)/profit before tax (9.7) 3.5 

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in respective countries (2.3) 1.2 

Income not subject to tax – (0.4)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3.0 0.7 

Current tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 1.9 1.0 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised other deferred tax assets – (0.4)

Overseas tax 0.1 0.1 

Derecognition/(recognition) of previously unrecognised tax losses 1.6 (2.0)

Income tax expense 4.3 0.2 
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12	 EARNINGS	PER	SHARE
Details of basic, diluted and adjusted earnings per share are set out below. The weighted average number of shares has been restated for the 
prior period to reflect the inherent bonus element of the shares issued at below market value in the Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer in 
November 2010.

Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the parent by the weighted average number of 
Ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2011 2010 
restated 

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent (£ million) (14.0) 3.3 

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (million) 1,173.6 993.0 

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (pence per share) (1.2)p 0.3p

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue to assume conversion of all potential 
dilutive Ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of potential dilutive Ordinary shares; share options and in the year ended 31 March 2010, 
warrants. The calculation is performed for the share options and warrants to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at 
fair value determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares based on the monetary value of the subscription rights 
attached to outstanding share options and warrants. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that 
would have been issued assuming the exercise of share options and in 2010 warrants to give the number of shares deemed to be issued at £nil 
consideration. These dilutive shares are added to the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue.

2011 2010 
restated 

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent (£ million) (14.0) 3.3 

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (million) 1,173.6 993.0 

Adjustment for share options (million) – 3.8 

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share (million) 1,173.6 996.8 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (pence per share) (1.2)p 0.3p 

Adjusted	–	alternative	performance	measures	(note	2)
The adjusted earnings per share is calculated as follows:

2011 2010 
restated 

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent (£ million) (14.0) 3.3 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (£ million) 1.3 1.2 

Tax benefit of amortisation of acquired intangibles (£ million) (0.6) (0.4) 

Restructuring costs including redundancy (£ million) 9.2 1.0 

Tax cost related to restructuring costs (£ million) (1.7) – 

Acquisition costs (£ million) 4.3 – 

Pension credit from curtailment (£ million) (0.1) – 

Net pension credit from Scheme closure (£ million) – (0.2) 

Net pension finance costs (£ million) 2.0 5.5 

Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent (£ million) 0.4 10.4 

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (million) 1,173.6 993.0 

Adjusted earnings per share (pence per share) 0.0p 1.0p 
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13	 BUSINESS	COMBINATIONS
On 8 November 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of ERG Inc, a US-based environmental consulting firm operating in the US. The 
primary reasons for the business combination were to allow the Group to offer customers an integrated technical and economic data driven solution, 
to provide the scale and market position for the Group to target more, higher value bidding opportunities within expanded US and UK customer 
bases and to create a balanced and diversified energy and environmental consultancy business with strong positions in both the European and US 
markets.

The acquired business contributed revenues of £15.4 million and profit before tax of £2.2 million to the Group for the period 8 November 2010 to 
31 March 2011. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2010 Group revenue would have been £137.1 million and the adjusted profit before tax 
would have been £8.0 million (excluding significant items).

Details of net assets acquired and provisional goodwill are as follows:

£m 

Purchase consideration:

Cash paid 46.9 

Fair value of shares issued (note 23) 5.7 

Total purchase consideration 52.6 

Fair value of net assets acquired (13.3)

Provisional goodwill acquired 39.3 

Details of cash flows are as follows:

£m 

Purchase consideration cash paid 46.9 

Loans to previous shareholders of ERG Inc 1.3 

Total cash flow 48.2 

The provisional goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business, the presence in the US market, favourable government 
relationships and synergies expected to arise after the Group’s acquisition of ERG Inc.

113,212,319 shares were issued as part consideration and the fair value of these shares was based on the published share price on 
8 November 2010.

The assets and liabilities as of 8 November 2010 arising from the acquisition were as follows:

Provisional 
fair 

value 
£m 

Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

£m 

Property plant and equipment 1.0 1.0 

Intangible assets 8.8 0.1 

Trade and other receivables 11.1 11.6 

Trade and other payables (7.5) (7.5)

Provisions for liabilities and charges (0.1) – 

Net assets acquired 13.3 5.2 

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2010.
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14	 GOODWILL

Group
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Cost and net book value

At 1 April 32.7 34.6 

Additions 39.3 – 

Foreign exchange (2.1) (1.9)

At 31 March 69.9 32.7 

Impairment	tests	for	goodwill
No impairment losses in respect of goodwill have been recognised in the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

For the purpose of performing impairment reviews, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) identified according to 
segment as presented as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Europe 16.4 17.3 

US 53.5 15.4 

69.9 32.7 

No intangible assets other than goodwill have indefinite useful lives. The impairment reviews compare the carrying value of each CGU, including 
allocated goodwill, with the present value of future cash flows arising from the use of assets in the unit (value in use). The key assumptions for the 
value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates and growth rates.

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period, or longer if the 
information is available. Subsequent cash flows are extrapolated into perpetuity (as appropriate for such long-term businesses) based on an 
estimated long-term growth rate of 2.3% (2010: 2.3%). This rate reflects inflation rates and is in line with long-term growth rates for the industry.

The discount rate for the European and US CGU’s of 9.9% (2010: 10.5%) is derived from the Group Weighted Average Cost of Capital, which is then 
adjusted based upon a long-term assessment of the average cost of equity and debt of comparable companies within the market and territories that 
the Group operates.

This gives a post-tax discount rate that is then applied to the cash flow projections, which include tax cash flows at the statutory rate for the relevant 
country. The discount rates used are equivalent to pre-tax discount rates as follows: 

2011 
% 

2010 
% 

Europe 12.2 13.8 

US 14.9 15.9 

The valuations indicate sufficient headroom such that reasonable changes in the assumptions are unlikely to result in an impairment of the goodwill. 

The Company has no goodwill.
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15	 OTHER	INTANGIBLE	ASSETS

Group

Customer 
contracts/ 

relationships 
£m 

Product
development 

costs 
£m 

Other 
intangibles 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Cost

At 1 April 2009 6.4 0.1 0.3 6.8 

Additions – 0.4 – 0.4 

Foreign exchange (0.4) – – (0.4)

At 31 March 2010 6.0 0.5 0.3 6.8 

Additions – – 0.2 0.2 

Disposals – (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 13) 8.7 – 0.1 8.8 

Foreign exchange (0.4) – – (0.4)

At 31 March 2011 14.3 0.4 0.5 15.2 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2009 0.8 – 0.2 1.0 

Charge for year 1.2 – 0.1 1.3 

Foreign exchange – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 March 2010 2.0 – 0.2 2.2 

Charge for year 1.3 0.1 0.1 1.5 

Foreign exchange (0.2) – – (0.2)

At 31 March 2011 3.1 0.1 0.3 3.5 

Net book value at 31 March 2011 11.2 0.3 0.2 11.7 

Net book value at 31 March 2010 4.0 0.5 0.1 4.6 

Net book value at 1 April 2009 5.6 0.1 0.1 5.8 

On acquisition of ERG Inc (see note 13) customer contracts and relationships of £8.7 million were recognised. These have a carrying amount 
of £8.5 million as at 31 March 2011 and a remaining amortisation period of 14 years and 7 months. Customer contracts and relationships of 
£2.7 million (2010: £4.0 million) recognised on a previous acquisition have a remaining amortisation period of two years and five months.

Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses in the Consolidated income statement.

The Company has no intangible assets.
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16	 PROPERTY,	PLANT	AND	EQUIPMENT

Group

Leasehold
 land and 
buildings 

£m 

Plant and 
equipment – 

owned 
£m 

Plant and 
equipment – 

leased 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Cost

At 1 April 2009 3.3 4.5 9.9 17.7 

Additions 0.1 0.6 0.5 1.2 

Disposals – (0.1) – (0.1)

Foreign exchange – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2010 3.4 4.9 10.4 18.7 

Additions 1.2 0.5 0.3 2.0 

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 13) 0.3 0.7 – 1.0 

Disposals (1.0) (0.3) (9.4) (10.7)

Foreign exchange – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2011 3.9 5.7 1.3 10.9 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2009 1.5 2.9 9.3 13.7 

Charge for year 0.2 0.7 0.4 1.3 

Disposals – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2010 1.7 3.5 9.7 14.9 

Charge for year 0.4 0.7 0.5 1.6 

Disposals (1.0) (0.3) (9.4) (10.7)

Foreign exchange – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2011 1.1 3.8 0.8 5.7 

Accumulated impairment

At 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 – – – – 

Impairment losses 0.8 – – 0.8 

At 31 March 2011 0.8 – – 0.8 

Net book value at 31 March 2011 2.0 1.9 0.5 4.4 

Net book value at 31 March 2010 1.7 1.4 0.7 3.8 

Net book value at 1 April 2009 1.8 1.6 0.6 4.0 

Lease rentals of £5.8 million (2010: £5.5 million) and £nil (2010: £nil) relating to the lease of property and equipment, respectively, are included in the 
Consolidated income statement (note 7).

Depreciation expense of £1.5 million (2010: £1.3 million) has been charged to administrative expenses and £0.1 million (2010: £nil) has been 
charged to cost of sales.

The Company has no property, plant and equipment.



17	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	BY	CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s various categories of financial instruments are as follows: 

Group

Available
for sale

financial 
assets 

£m 

Loans and 
 receivables 

£m 

Financial 
liabilities 

at fair 
value 

through
profit 

or loss 
£m 

Financial 
liabilities

at 
amortised 

cost 
£m 

Total 
£m 

At 31 March 2011      

Net trade receivables – 14.1 – – 14.1 

Amounts recoverable on long term contracts – 15.8 – – 15.8 

Cash and cash equivalents – 4.0 – – 4.0 

Trade payables – – – (10.4) (10.4)

Accruals – cash settled – – – (11.3) (11.3)

Borrowings – – – (32.3) (32.3)

Derivative financial instruments – – (0.3) – (0.3)

– 33.9 (0.3) (54.0) (20.4)

At 31 March 2010

Net trade receivables – 13.2 – – 13.2 

Amounts recoverable on long term contracts – 10.9 – – 10.9 

Available for sale financial assets 2.0 – – – 2.0 

Cash and cash equivalents – 6.0 – – 6.0 

Trade payables – – – (7.5) (7.5)

Accruals – cash settled – – – (7.7) (7.7)

Borrowings – – – (32.2) (32.2)

Derivative financial instruments – – (0.1) – (0.1)

2.0 30.1 (0.1) (47.4) (15.4)

The carrying amounts of the Company’s various categories of financial instruments are as follows: 

Company

Loans and 
 receivables 

£m 

Financial 
liabilities

at 
amortised 

cost 
£m 

Total 
£m 

At 31 March 2011

Receivables from subsidiaries 2.5 – 2.5 

Payable to subsidiaries – (1.7) (1.7)

Accruals – cash settled – (0.4) (0.4)

Borrowings – (3.6) (3.6)

2.5 (5.7) (3.2)

Fair	value	measurement
Financial instruments held at fair value are classified into one of three levels reflecting the significance of inputs used in measuring fair value. These 
are as follows:

Level 1: derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: derived from other observable market data for the assets; and

Level 3: derived from valuation techniques using data that is not market data.

Notes to the Financial statements (continued)
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Based on the above, the financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are grouped into fair value hierarchies as assets in Level 
3 of £nil (2010: £2.0 million), being an available for sale financial asset, and liabilities of £0.3 million in Level 2 (2010: £0.1 million), being interest rate 
swaps.

The fair values of the Group’s derivative contracts are calculated using observable market data, such as market exchange and interest rates obtained 
from the Group’s bankers, and so are considered to fall into Level 2. 

The available for sale financial asset comprised an unlisted Sterling denominated security held by AEA Technology plc (see note 19). The asset 
was held at fair value at 31 March 2010 calculated by reference to the equity value of the unlisted investment. There were no movements between 
categories during the year.

18	 INVESTMENTS	IN	SUBSIDIARIES

Company
Shares 

£m 

Total 
investment 

in 
subsidiaries 

£m 

Cost and NBV

On incorporation – – 

Additions 69.0 69.0 

At 31 March 2011 69.0 69.0 

Principal	subsidiary	undertakings	as	at	31	March	2011
Advantage has been taken of the exemption available under Section 410 (2) of the Companies Act 2006 and information has only been provided in 
relation to those subsidiaries whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the Financial Statements.

 
 
Name

 
Country of 
incorporation

 
Description of 
shares held

Proportion of nominal  
value of issued shares  
held by the Group

 
 
Nature of business

AEA Technology plc UK Ordinary shares 100% Technical energy and 
sustainability consultancy

Eastern Research Group Inc US Ordinary shares 100% Technical energy and 
sustainability consultancy

Project Performance  
Corporation Inc

US Ordinary shares 100% Technical energy, sustainability 
and IT consultancy

In addition to the subsidiaries listed, the Group has other subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated Financial 
Statements. All subsidiaries have an accounting year-end of 31 March.

The Directors consider that the value of investments is supported by the underlying assets.

19	 AVAILABLE	FOR	SALE	FINANCIAL	ASSET

Group at fair value
Total 

£m 

At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 2.0 

Cancellation of investment against outstanding debt (2.0)

31 March 2011 – 

Company at fair value
Total 

£m 

31 March 2011 – 

The available for sale financial asset for the Group as at 31 March 2010 comprised an unlisted Sterling denominated security held by 
AEA Technology plc. The Group held this investment in an entity where the Group had previously entered into corporate joint venture arrangements 
and they offered the Group the opportunity for return through return of capital. The shareholders agreed to put the company into liquidation in the 
year and a liquidator was appointed. The investment was therefore offset against the cash received in advance of the final distribution by the 
company.

The available for sale financial asset is held at fair value.
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20	 CONTRACT	WORK	IN	PROGRESS

 Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Contract work in progress 0.1 0.2 – 

21	 TRADE	AND	OTHER	RECEIVABLES

 Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Non-current

Receivables from subsidiaries – – 2.5 

Loans to previous shareholders of ERG Inc 1.2 – 1.2 

Other receivables 0.1 – – 

Non-current trade and other receivables 1.3 – 3.7 

Current

Trade receivables 15.1 13.7 – 

Less provision for impairment of receivables (1.0) (0.5) – 

Trade receivables – net 14.1 13.2 – 

Receivables from long-term contracts 15.8 10.9 – 

Prepayments 1.6 1.4 – 

Other receivables 0.2 0.2 – 

Current trade and other receivables 31.7 25.7 – 

Total trade and other receivables 33.0 25.7 3.7 

The fair values of trade and other receivables are not materially different to the book values above due to their short term nature. The majority (over 
70%) of the Group’s trade receivables relate to public sector organisations and hold a low credit risk. The remainder of the Group’s trade receivables 
relate to numerous private sector customers and no customer accounts for more than 12.0% of the total gross trade receivables balance. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable. Therefore, no further credit risk provisions, over 
and above the provisions shown above, are deemed necessary. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Sterling 9.3 13.1 2.5 

Euro 0.8 1.3 – 

US Dollar 22.9 11.3 1.2 

33.0 25.7 3.7 

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group  Company

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

2011 
£m 

At 1 April 0.5 0.6 – 

Acquisition of a subsidiary 0.5 – – 

Provision for receivables impairment 0.1 0.1 – 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable – (0.1) – 

Unused amounts reversed (0.1) (0.1) – 

At 31 March 1.0 0.5 – 
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The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses.

Receivables of £nil (2010: £0.1 million) were written-off during the year, as there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The impairment provision is for individually impaired receivables of £1.0 million (2010: £0.5 million) included within trade receivables. The largest 
individual provision is in respect of an overseas debt relating to a discontinued business where recovery is still being pursued but is doubtful. In 
addition a provision of £0.5 million was recognised on the acquisition of ERG Inc. This was a fair value adjustment made to provide for some 
doubtful trade receivable balances.

The length of time past due of these receivables is as follows:

Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Three to six months 0.1 – – 

Six months to one year 0.2 0.1 – 

Over one year 0.7 0.4 – 

1.0 0.5 – 

As of 31 March 2011 trade receivables of £6.1 million (2010: £2.4 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to numerous customers, 
none of who have a history of default with the Group. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Up to three months 5.1 2.0 – 

Three to six months 0.2 0.1 – 

Over six months 0.8 0.3 – 

6.1 2.4 – 

The other classes of financial assets within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

22	 CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS

Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 4.0 6.0 – 

The Company’s bank accounts are held with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, which holds an A+ long-term rating with Standard & Poor’s as at 31 March 2011.

Subsidiary UK bank accounts are also held with Lloyds TSB Bank plc.

Subsidiary overseas bank accounts are held with TD Bank N.A. which holds an AA- long-term rating with Standard & Poor’s as at  
31 March 2011 and Eastern Bank.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is equal to the carrying value.
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23	 SHARE	CAPITAL	AND	SHARE	PREMIUM

Group

Number 
of shares 

millions 

Ordinary 
shares 

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 1 April 2009 as previously reported 228.7 27.9 67.4 95.3 

Issue of shares 0.1 – – – 

Cancellation of AEA Technology plc shares (228.8) (27.9) (67.4) (95.3)

Issue of AEA Technology Group plc shares on Scheme of Arrangement effective date 228.8 2.3 11.7 14.0 

At 1 April 2009 and 2010 restated 1 228.8 2.3 11.7 14.0 

Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer 1,111.6 11.1 41.5 52.6 

Consideration shares issued on acquisition of subsidiary (note 13) 113.2 1.1 4.6 5.7 

Capital reduction – – (57.8) (57.8)

31 March 2011 1,453.6 14.5 – 14.5 

1  Restated for a 0.1 million issuance of shares since 31 March 2010 but prior to the cancellation of AEA Technology plc shares on the Scheme of Arrangement 
effective date 5 November 2010.

Company

Number 
of shares 

millions 

Ordinary 
shares 

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 
Total 

£m 

On incorporation – – – – 

Issue of shares on Scheme of Arrangement effective date 228.8 2.3 11.7 14.0 

Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer 1,111.6 11.1 41.5 52.6 

Consideration shares issued on acquisition of subsidiary (note 13) 113.2 1.1 4.6 5.7 

Capital reduction – – (57.8) (57.8)

31 March 2011 1,453.6 14.5 – 14.5 

The total authorised number of Ordinary shares is 5,000,000,000 shares with a par value of 1.0 pence per share. All issued shares are fully paid.

On 5 October 2010 AEA Technology plc announced a Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer, which was approved by shareholders at a General 
Meeting on 21 October 2010. Dealings in the new shares commenced on 8 November 2010. The Firm Placing, Placing and Open Offer resulted 
in the issue of 1,111,581,000 new shares at 5.0 pence each raising £55.6 million before expenses (£51.7 million net of £3.9 million costs, of which 
£3.0 million were deducted from Share premium and £0.9 million taken directly to reserves). The net funds raised were used to fund the acquisition 
of ERG Inc (see note 13).

On 8 November 2010 the Company, on behalf of a Group subsidiary, issued 113,212,319 shares to the shareholders of ERG Inc as part of the 
purchase consideration for 100% of its ordinary share capital. The ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the other shares in issue. The 
Company received a loan of £5.7 million from the Group subsidiary as consideration for the issue of shares.

Following approval from the Jersey Court on 17 November 2010 the Share premium of the Company was credited in full to retained earnings.

Warrants
The Company had no remaining warrants in issue as at 31 March 2011 (2010: 5,633,252 warrants) as 5,633,252 warrants expired on 8 July 2010.
Prior to the expiry date holders of these warrants could subscribe for one Ordinary share in the old Company at a price of 65.00 pence per share. 
The fair value of these warrants as at 31 March 2010 was £nil, calculated by reference to the closing market price of 21.25 pence per share.

Share-based	payments
When the Scheme of Arrangement became effective on 5 November 2010 share options granted to Directors and employees were exchanged on a 
one-for-one basis for share options in the Company with no change in any terms or conditions.

Employee	share	schemes	–	all	employee	share	plans
The Group operates UK Save As You Earn (“SAYE”) schemes whereby employees are given the opportunity to apply for options in Ordinary shares of 
the Company. Options are granted at a price 20% below the market price ruling at the date of grant. Grants are exercisable after three or five years 
of savings by the employees. All options will be equity settled.



71

D
irecto

rs’ rep
o

rt
A

u
d

ito
rs’ rep

o
rt 

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

A
d

d
itio

n
al in

fo
rm

atio
n

A
u

d
it C

o
m

m
ittee rep

o
rt

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Period of option
Expiry date 

30 September 

Number of 
shares 

2011 

Number 
of shares 

2010 

Exercise 
price per 

share 
Pence 

1 April 2010 to 30 September 2010 2010 – 30,403 125.0 

1 April 2010 to 30 September 2010 2010 – 138,096 80.0 

1 April 2011 to 30 September 2011 2011 16,097 33,739 96.0 

1 April 2011 to 30 September 2011 2011 115,843 157,805 70.0 

1 April 2012 to 30 September 2012 2012 3,702,006 4,932,790 14.0 

3,833,946 5,292,833 

Employee	share	schemes	–	discretionary	share	plans
The Group operates long-term incentive plans for senior managers and Directors. Details of the CSOP and the PSP are given below and in the 
Report on Directors’ remuneration. All CSOP options will be equity settled. For the PSP scheme the exercise price is nil pence.

CSOP Scheme Performance period Expiry date

Outstanding 
options at 
31 March

 2011 

Outstanding 
options at 
31 March

2010 

Option 
price 

Pence 

2001 1 April 2001 to 31 March 2004 26 June 2011 181,965 213,878 296.5 

PSP Scheme Performance period Expiry date

Outstanding 
options at 
31 March

2011 

Outstanding 
options at 
31 March

2010 

Option 
price 

Pence 

2009 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2012 10 September 2012 1,533,626 2,109,435 nil

2009 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2012 16 January 2013 940,509 1,171,310 nil

2,474,135 3,280,745 

Options	outstanding	–	SAYE

2011 2010

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

At 1 April 5,292,833 18.6 5,925,147 22.9 

Exercised in year (88,643) 14.0 (13,749) 14.0 

Lapsed in year (689,822) 35.7 (192,527) 103.3 

Forfeited in year (680,422) 16.0 (426,038) 41.2 

At 31 March 3,833,946 16.0 5,292,833 18.6 

Exercisable as at 31 March – – – –

No SAYE options were granted during 2011 or 2010.
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Options	outstanding	–	CSOP

2011 2010

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

At 1 April 213,878 296.5 234,114 296.5 

Lapsed in year (31,913) 296.5 (20,236) 296.5 

At 31 March 181,965 296.5 213,878 296.5 

Exercisable as at 31 March 181,965 296.5 213,878 296.5 

No CSOP options were exercised or granted during the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2011.

Options	outstanding	–	PSP

2011 2010

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

Options 
No. 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Pence 

At 1 April 3,280,745 nil – – 

Granted in year – – 3,280,745 nil 

Lapsed in year (806,610) nil – – 

At 31 March 2,474,135 nil 3,280,745 nil 

Exercisable as at 31 March – – – – 

No PSP options were granted during the year. The fair values of the PSP options granted during the prior year were 30.0p (for the scheme expiring 
10 September 2012) and 26.5p (for the scheme expiring 16 January 2013). The exercise price of the options granted was nil pence and the fair 
value was equal to the closing share price on the grant date.

The Group recognised total expenses of £0.4 million (2010: £0.3 million) related to equity-settled share based payment transactions.

24	 OTHER	RESERVES

Group

Share 
option 

reserve 
£m 

Actuarial 
pension 
reserve 

£m 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
£m 

Other
reserves

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m 

Merger
reserve

£m

 
Total 

reserves* 
£m 

At 1 April 2009 as previously reported 2.0 (20.3) 2.6 (15.7) 0.7 – (15.0)

Group reorganisation (see note 1):

 cancellation of AEA Technology plc shares – – – – (0.7) – (0.7)
  issue of shares in AEA Technology Group 

plc – – – – – 82.0 82.0 

At 1 April 2009 restated after Group 
 reorganisation 2.0 (20.3) 2.6 (15.7) – 82.0 66.3 

Currency translation differences – – (0.8) (0.8) – – (0.8)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension 
 schemes – (28.6) – (28.6) – – (28.6)

Fair value of share option schemes 0.3 – – 0.3 – – 0.3 

At 31 March 2010 2.3 (48.9) 1.8 (44.8) – 82.0 37.2 

Currency translation differences – – (1.1) (1.1) – – (1.1)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension 
 schemes – 17.4 – 17.4 – – 17.4 

Fair value of share option schemes 0.4 – – 0.4 – – 0.4 

At 31 March 2011 2.7 (31.5) 0.7 (28.1) – 82.0 53.9 

* Excluding retained (deficit)/reserves.
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Company

Share 
option 

reserve 
£m 

 
Total 

reserves* 
£m 

On incorporation – – 

Fair value of share option schemes 0.1 0.1 

At 31 March 2011 0.1 0.1 

* Excluding retained (deficit)/reserves

The share option reserve represents credits relating to equity settled share-based employee compensation plans. When the options are exercised 
the proceeds, net of attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital and share premium.

The actuarial pension reserve represents the actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes.

The currency translation reserve represents the accumulated gains and losses recognised on translation of the net assets of foreign subsidiaries 
at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and the income statements at the average rate of exchange during the year. On disposal of 
foreign subsidiaries these gains or losses are recognised in the Consolidated income statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares bought back by the Group during the year to 31 March 2003. Following the 
cancellation of AEA Technology plc shares the balance on this reserve is now £nil.

The merger reserve was created with the issue of AEA Technology Group plc shares in November 2010 as explained in note 1.

Distributable	reserves
The Company currently has £52.5 million of distributable reserves. Distributable reserves comprise retained earnings and the share option reserve.

25	 COMPANY	PROFIT
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the parent Company’s income statement, and statement of comprehensive income has 
not been included. The result for the financial year of the Company was a loss of £4.5 million.

26	 TRADE	AND	OTHER	PAYABLES

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Non-current  

Other payables 1.7 2.5 1.2 

Non-current trade and other payables 1.7 2.5 1.2 

Current   

Trade payables 10.4 7.5 – 

Deferred income 4.2 4.8 – 

Accruals 13.2 9.0 0.4 

Payable to subsidiaries – – 0.5 

Social security and tax 2.0 3.1 – 

Government grants – 0.1 – 

Other payables 2.2 0.6 – 

Current trade and other payables 32.0 25.1 0.9 

Total trade and other payables 33.7 27.6 2.1 

The fair value of trade and other payables are not materially different to the carrying values above due to their short term nature.

A grant has been received in respect of the creation of jobs and capital expenditure at one of the Group’s premises. During the year ended 
31 March 2011 £0.1 million was credited to income (2010: £0.1 million).
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27	 BORROWINGS

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Non-current borrowings   

Unsecured bank and other loans 30.0 29.4 3.0 

Finance lease liabilities 0.2 0.4 – 

Non-current borrowings 30.2 29.8 3.0 

Current borrowings   

Unsecured bank and other loans 1.7 2.0 0.6 

Finance lease liabilities 0.4 0.4 – 

Current borrowings 2.1 2.4 0.6 

Total borrowings 32.3 32.2 3.6 

Maturity of total borrowings is as follows:

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Within one year 2.1 2.4 0.6 

Between one and two years 30.2 0.4 3.0 

Between two and five years – 29.4 – 

Total borrowings 32.3 32.2 3.6 

The fair values of current and non-current borrowings are not materially different from the carrying values stated above.

Unsecured	bank	and	other	loans	excluding	finance	leases

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011

£m

Syndicated bank debt – revolving credit facility 32.3 30.8 3.6

Capitalised loan arrangement fees (0.6) (0.7) –

Revaluation of bank debt – (0.7) –

Non-bank debt – 2.0 –

Total non-current and current unsecured bank and other loans 31.7 31.4 3.6

Syndicated	bank	debt
At 31 March 2011 the Company had a £39.0 million loan facility agreement (the ‘facility’) with Lloyds TSB Bank plc and Bank of Scotland plc 
(2010: £42.0 million). This facility was entered into in November 2009 for a period of three years (including an overdraft facility of £7.0 million) to 
manage periods of working capital fluctuation. The facility will mature in November 2012, save for the overdraft facility, which is renewable annually. 
Annual extensions are expected as the overdraft facility forms part of the revolving credit facility.

The same banks also provide a £5.0 million bonding facility. The facility is denominated in Sterling, although borrowings under the facility are in 
Sterling and US Dollars. The utilised amounts bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.75% or US Dollar-LIBOR plus 2.75%. The agreement contains financial 
covenants in relation to the ratio of net borrowings to PBITDA and the ratio of PBITDA to net interest payable.

At 31 March the following amounts were outstanding under the facility:

2011
Available 

£m 
Utilised 

£m 
Unutilised 

£m 

Syndicated bank debt – revolving credit facility 39.0 32.3 6.7 
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Non-bank	debt
Non-bank debt at 31 March 2010 was a cash advance from the Group’s available for sale investment. This was repayable on demand and interest 
free. This debt was cancelled against the investment during the year.

Obligations	under	finance	leases	–	gross
 
 
 
Amounts payable under finance leases

Minimum lease
payments

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Within one year 0.4 0.4 

Between one and five years 0.2 0.4 

0.6 0.8 

Less: future finance charges – – 

Present value of lease obligations 0.6 0.8 

Obligations	under	finance	leases	–	present	value

Amounts payable under finance leases

Present value
of minimum

lease payments
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Within one year 0.4 0.4 

Between one and five years 0.2 0.4 

0.6 0.8 

Less: amount due for settlement within one year (shown under current borrowings) (0.4) (0.4)

Amount due for settlement after one year 0.2 0.4 

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its fixtures and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is three years. Interest rates are 
fixed at the contract date. Leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates to their carrying amount.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ rights over the leased assets.

Currency	and	interest	rate	analysis	
The currency and interest rate analysis of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

Total 
£m 

Interest 
free 
£m 

Floating 
rate 
£m 

Fixed 
rate 
£m 

Fixed 
interest 

rate 
% 

Time 
fixed 

Years 

At 31 March 2011

Sterling 21.7 – 21.1 0.6 1% to 4% 0-3 years 

US Dollar 10.6 – 10.6 – – – 

Total 32.3 – 31.7 0.6 1% to 4% 0-3 years 

At 31 March 2010

Sterling 9.1 2.0 6.3 0.8 1% to 4% 0-3 years 

US Dollar 23.1 – 23.1 – – – 

Total 32.2 2.0 29.4 0.8 1% to 4% 0-3 years 

The loan facility held by the Group allows certain cash balances held to be set off against gross borrowings.

Exposure to variable interest rates on floating rate borrowings are hedged through the use of interest rate swaps (see note 28 for further details).
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28		DERIVATIVE	FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are as follows:

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Interest rate swaps 0.3 0.1 – 

Currency	derivatives
The Group has used currency derivatives to cover significant future receipts and payments in the management of its exchange rate exposures from 
long-term contracts. As at 31 March 2010 and 2011 there were no currency derivatives held. 

A fair value gain of £0.3 million was recognised in administrative expenses in the prior year (note 8). 

Interest	rate	swaps
The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank borrowings. The notional amount of the 
outstanding interest rate swap contract as at 31 March 2011 is $20.0 million (2010: $20.0 million). The fixed interest payment rates are 1.85% and 
1.94% (2010: 1.85% and 1.94%). The floating rate receipts are at LIBOR. 

The fair values of interest rate swaps are based on market estimates of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date. These interest rate swaps 
are accounted for at fair value through the Consolidated income statement. An amount of £0.1 million (2010: less than £0.1 million) has been 
charged to finance costs (note 10).

The net amount expected to be paid over the remaining duration of the interest rate swap is £0.3 million (2010: £0.1 million).

29		RETIREMENT	BENEFIT	OBLIGATIONS

Defined	contribution	plans
In Europe, AEA Technology plc and AEA Technology Group plc jointly operate a defined contribution stakeholder plan (the UK Plan) for all qualifying 
employees. Participants may make voluntary contributions to the UK Plan up to the maximum amount allowable by UK law. The assets of the 
UK Plan are held separately from those of both AEA Technology and AEA Technology Group plc in individual accounts under the control of the 
pension provider. The only obligation of AEA Technology plc and AEA Technology Group plc with respect to the UK Plan is to make the specified 
contributions.

The US subsidiaries, Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc, operate defined contribution 401(K) profit sharing plans (the US Plans) for 
all eligible employees. Participants may make voluntary contributions to the US Plans up to the maximum amount allowable by US law. Employer 
contributions to the US Plans are at the discretion of management and vest to the participants over a five-year period. The assets of the US Plan are 
held separately from those of both Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc in funds under the control of trustees and insurance companies. 
The only obligation of Project Performance Corporation and ERG Inc with respect to the US Plans is to make the specified contributions.

Neither Project Performance Corporation nor ERG Inc have further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as assets to the extent that a cash refund or 
reduction of future payment is available.

The total cost charged to the income statement of £3.2 million (2010: £2.6 million) represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group at 
rates specified in the rules of the plans. 

Defined	benefit	schemes	–	funded	obligations
The AEA Technology plc Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a defined benefit pension scheme, was closed to future accrual on 31 July 2009 and no 
further benefits will be built up with effect from that date. 

The funding of the Scheme is based on long-term trends and assumptions relating to market growth, as advised by the Scheme Actuary. The 
calculations for the Scheme are based on the liabilities determined at the funding valuation as at 31 March 2008 in accordance with the requirements 
of the Pensions Act 2004. The Scheme’s past service funding deficit is expected to be cleared over approximately 20 years under a schedule of 
contributions agreed by AEA Technology plc and Trustees in June 2009.

International Accounting Standard 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ (IAS 19) requires the Group to include in the Balance sheet the surplus or deficit on the 
Scheme calculated as at the balance sheet date. The method used for the calculation is as prescribed by IAS 19. It is a snapshot view that can be 
significantly influenced by short-term market factors. The calculation of the surplus or deficit is, therefore, dependent on factors which are beyond 
the control of the Group – principally the value at the balance sheet date of the assets in which the Scheme has invested and long-term interest 
rates, which are used to discount future liabilities. 
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AEA Technology plc’s Actuaries, Aon Hewitt Associates Limited, carried out the valuation. The results are then adjusted by the Actuaries each year, 
allowing for the IAS 19 financial and demographic assumptions and rolling forward the liabilities to the balance sheet date.

AEA Technology plc employs a building block approach in determining the long-term rate of return on pension scheme assets. Historical markets 
are studied and assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital market principles. 
The assumed long-term rate of return on each asset class is set out within this note. The overall long-term expected rate of return on assets 
at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 is derived by modelling the expected returns on the agreed strategic asset allocation at the start of the 
accounting year, taking into account the interactions between asset classes to derive an expected return for the portfolio as a whole.

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the Scheme during the financial year to 31 March 2012 is £2.4 million. In addition 
AEA Technology plc pays a contribution equal to the Pension Protection Fund levy, which for the year to 31 March 2011 amounted to £0.6 million 
(2010: £0.3 million).

As at 31 March 2011 contributions of £nil (2010: £nil) due in respect of the year to 31 March have not been paid over to the Scheme.

Defined	benefit	schemes	–	unfunded	obligations
In Europe AEA Technology plc operates a formal, employer financed retirement benefit scheme to provide benefits in excess of the HMRC earnings 
cap for a former director and also has unfunded top-up arrangements in place to provide benefits to certain former directors and employees (the 
Unfunded Company Scheme).

The value of the pensions reserve required to be recognised under IAS 19 is calculated by AEA Technology plc’s Actuaries using the same 
assumptions as used for the Scheme, with the exception of post-retirement mortality. The post-retirement mortality assumption, given within this 
note, adopted for the unapproved reserves is less pessimistic than that adopted for the mixed population of the Scheme. This reflects the lower 
mortality rates typically experienced by individuals with above average levels of personal wealth.

Pension	benefits
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated income statement and the Group Balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit scheme are 
summarised as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Balance sheet obligation for pension benefits 121.8 139.8 

Income statement charge for pension benefits 1.9 5.7 

The amounts recognised in the Balance sheet are determined as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Present value of funded obligations 406.0 416.4 

Fair value of defined benefit pension scheme assets (287.8) (280.5)

Retirement benefit obligations of the Scheme 118.2 135.9 

Present value of unfunded obligations 3.6 3.9 

Retirement benefit obligations 121.8 139.8 

The amounts recognised in the Consolidated income statement are as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Past service credit – (0.7)

Curtailment (gains)/losses (0.1) 0.5 

Net pension credit (0.1) (0.2)

Current service cost – 0.4 

Accretion of discount on defined benefit pension scheme obligations 23.2 20.4 

Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets (21.2) (14.9)

Amount included in employee benefit costs 1.9 5.7 
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The net pension credit from the Scheme closure in 2009/10 arises from closing the Scheme to future accrual on 31 July 2009 and amending the 
entitlements of certain members of the Scheme. The net pension credit in 2010/11 results from a curtailment credit arising on the cessation of 
benefits payable to one individual in the unfunded scheme.

Current service costs of £nil million (2010: £0.4 million) are included in the Consolidated income statement. These costs are split between cost of 
sales and administrative expenses. The accretion of discount on defined benefit pension scheme obligations of £23.2 million (2010: £20.4 million) 
and the expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets of £21.2 million (2010: £14.9 million) are included in ‘finance costs’ and ‘finance 
income’ respectively. The total of the expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets (£21.2 million) and the actuarial loss on defined 
benefit pension scheme assets (£5.8 million that is debited to the pension reserve) equates to an actual gain on defined benefit pension scheme 
assets of £15.4 million (2010: gain of £82.2 million).

The movement in the pension obligation recognised in the Group Balance sheet is as follows:

Funded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

Unfunded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

2011 
£m 

Funded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

Unfunded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

2010 
£m 

At 1 April 416.4 3.9 420.3 310.3 3.4 313.7 

Accretion of discount on defined benefit obligations 23.0 0.2 23.2 20.2 0.2 20.4 

Past service credit – – – (0.7) – (0.7)

Curtailment (gains)/losses – (0.1) (0.1) 0.5 – 0.5 

Current service costs – – – 0.4 – 0.4 

Actuarial (gains)/losses (23.1) (0.1) (23.2) 95.3 0.6 95.9 

Contributions paid by employer – – – – (0.3) (0.3)

Contributions paid by Scheme participants – – – 0.1 – 0.1 

Benefits paid (10.3) (0.3) (10.6) (9.7) – (9.7)

At 31 March 406.0 3.6 409.6 416.4 3.9 420.3 

The movement in the pension asset recognised in the Group Balance sheet is as follows:

Funded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

Unfunded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

2011 
£m 

Funded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

Unfunded 
Company 

Scheme 
£m 

2010 
£m 

At 1 April 280.5 – 280.5 205.5 – 205.5 

Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets 21.2 – 21.2 14.9 – 14.9 

Actuarial (losses)/gains (5.8) – (5.8) 67.3 – 67.3 

Contributions paid by employer 2.2 – 2.2 2.4 – 2.4 

Contributions paid by Scheme participants – – – 0.1 – 0.1 

Benefits paid (10.3) – (10.3) (9.7) – (9.7)

At 31 March 287.8 –  287.8 280.5 – 280.5 

The net pension obligation is as follows:

Total 
£m 

At 31 March 2011 121.8 

At 31 March 2010 139.8 

A £17.4 million gain (2010: £28.6 million loss) in respect of actuarial gains and losses is reported in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income (SOCI) and the cumulative total of actuarial losses and gains reported through the SOCI is a net £31.5 million loss (2010: £48.9 million loss).
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The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

2011 
% 

2010 
% 

Discount rate 5.6 5.6 

Inflation 3.4 3.6 

Expected return on plan assets:

 Equities 8.3 8.9 

 Corporate bonds 5.6 5.6 

 Infrastructure 8.3 8.9 

 Property 8.0 9.4 

 Other 0.8 0.6 

Future salary increases n/a n/a 

Future pension increases n/a n/a 

The discount rate is based on future projected cash flows and the AA-corporate bond yield curve as at 31 March 2011, with an adjustment so that 
the yield relates to bonds that were AA-rated as at 31 March 2011. The assumed rate of inflation has been calculated based on future projected 
cash flows and the inflation curve as at 31 March 2011, with an allowance for an inflation risk premium.

During the year to 31 March 2011 the UK Government changed the measure of inflation for the purposes of statutory minimum rates at which 
pensions must increase for both public and private sector workers in defined benefit schemes. This change referenced the consumer prices index as 
the measure of inflation rather than the retail prices index. The change in index has resulted in a 2% reduction in the Scheme liabilities (£7.5 million) 
as at 31 March 2011. The effect of the change has been reflected in the SOCI during the year as part of the actuarial gains on pension liabilities.

The expected rates of return on categories of the Scheme assets are determined using a building block approach. Historical markets are studied 
and assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted market principles. 

Post-retirement mortality assumptions are as follows:

2011 and 2010

Funded Company Scheme “S1PxA” Year of Use tables.
Improvements in line with 80% of the Long Cohort for males and 60% of the Long  

Cohort for females, subject to a minimum annual improvement of 1.0%.
Scaling factor of 95%.

Unfunded Company Scheme “S1PxA Light” Year of Use tables.
Improvements in line with 80% of the Long Cohort for males and 60% of the Long  

Cohort for females, subject to a minimum annual improvement of 1.0%.
No scaling factor.

Demographic	assumptions	(post-retirement	mortality)
Based on the mortality assumptions adopted, the following table shows the expected future lifetime of a Scheme member on retirement at age 60:

2011
Years

2010
Years

Males retiring today 27.1 27.0 

Females retiring today 29.1 29.1 

Males retiring in 20 years 29.2 29.1 

Females retiring in 20 years 31.0 30.9 
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Sensitivity	analysis	of	the	principal	assumptions	used	to	measure	Scheme	liabilities

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on Scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.5% Decrease/increase by 10%

Rate of inflation Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by 9%

Rate of mortality Increase by 1 year Increase by 3%

The analysis of the Scheme assets and expected rate of return at 31 March is as follows:

Expected return Fair value of assets
2011 

% 
2010 

% 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Equity instruments 8.3 8.9 147.1 173.6 

Corporate bonds 5.6 5.6 67.6 44.0 

Infrastructure 8.3 8.9 27.2 30.5 

Property 8.0 9.4 16.8 9.8 

Other assets 0.8 0.6 29.1 22.6 

287.8 280.5 

The five-year history of defined benefit pension scheme obligations and defined benefit pension scheme assets is as follows:

2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

2009 
£m 

2008 
£m 

2007 
£m 

Present value of defined benefit obligations 409.6 420.3 313.7 318.4 366.9 

Fair value of defined benefit pension scheme assets (287.8) (280.5) (205.5) (258.4) (274.7)

Retirement benefit obligation 121.8 139.8 108.2 60.0 92.2 

The five-year history of experience adjustments is as follows:

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 

Experience gains/(losses) on defined benefit scheme obligations
Amount (£ million) 23.2 (95.9) 15.0 57.6 (3.6)

Percentage of Scheme liabilities 5.6% 22.8% 4.8% 18.1% 1.0%

Experience (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension scheme assets

Amount (£ million)  (5.8)  67.3 (68.4) (27.3) (11.5)

Percentage of Scheme assets 2.0% 24.0% 33.3% 10.6% 4.2%

Development	of	net	retirement	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	to	31	March	2011
The pension cost recognised in the Consolidated income statement is calculated based on assumptions made at the beginning of the year. If 
experience over the year is in line with the assumptions made at the start of the year, the retirement benefit obligation would reduce by the excess 
of the cash contributions made over the income statement charge. Actuarial gains and losses due to differences between actual experience and the 
assumptions made at the start of the year are recognised in full in the SOCI.
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30		PROVISIONS	FOR	LIABILITIES	AND	CHARGES

Group

Decommissioning 
and waste 

management 
£m 

Restructuring 
£m 

Contracts 
£m 

Other 
£m 

Total 
£m 

At 1 April 2009 4.3 3.2 2.8 1.7 12.0 

Utilised (0.2) (0.3) (1.5) (0.1) (2.1)

Foreign exchange – – (0.1) – (0.1)

At 31 March 2010 4.1 2.9 1.2 1.6 9.8 

Utilised (3.9) (1.1) (0.6) (0.5) (6.1)

Balance sheet reclassification – (0.6) 0.6 – – 

Increase in provision – – 1.0 0.3 1.3 

Money received in respect of leasehold obligation – – 0.8 – 0.8 

Acquisition of subsidiary – – 0.2 – 0.2 

At 31 March 2011 0.2 1.2 3.2 1.4 6.0 

Provisions for liabilities and charges

 Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Current 1.3 7.1 – 

Non-current 4.7 2.7 – 

6.0 9.8 – 

Provisions for liabilities and charges comprise both legacy and continuing provisions. Legacy provisions relate to potential costs that result from 
businesses that have either been discontinued or sold by the Group.

Decommissioning	and	waste	management
On 31 March 1996 certain properties, rights and liabilities of UKAEA were vested in AEA Technology plc in accordance with the Transfer Scheme 
made pursuant to section 1 of the Atomic Energy Authority Act 1995.

A supplemental agreement entered into pursuant to the Transfer Scheme provides that liabilities for decommissioning any nuclear facility in existence 
as at 31 March 1996 and for any waste transferred to UKAEA (“the Authority”) for disposal prior to 31 March 1996 are to remain with the Authority. 
All new or incremental decommissioning, waste management and clean up liabilities arising after 1 April 1996 were assumed by the Group except 
for certain liabilities, which have been transferred to, or assumed by, third parties.

Provisions for these costs were made in full once facilities became contaminated and were calculated on the latest technical assessments of the 
processes and methods likely to be used in the future and represent estimates derived from a combination of the technical knowledge available, 
existing legislation and regulations and commercial agreements. The principal liabilities are now settled.

The timing of the utilisation of these provisions is uncertain and costs will be incurred as the facilities continue to be decommissioned and the waste 
disposed of.

Restructuring
In the two years to 31 March 2007 the Group completed the transformation of its business from a diverse Group to a single mission Group focused 
on climate change and energy consultancy. Provisions related to this restructuring are held for associated warranties and indemnities given under 
business sale agreements. These provisions are expected to be utilised within the next one to two years.

Contracts
Contract provisions are in respect of projected losses or commitments on long-term contracts, notably onerous property lease contracts. These 
provisions will be utilised when the costs are incurred on the long-term contracts. Where future cash flows can be predicted with reasonable 
certainty a discount factor has been applied to the calculation of the carrying value of the provision. Where cash flows cannot be predicted with 
reasonable certainty then a discount rate has not been applied. The increase in the provision during the year relates to a provision for an onerous 
lease in the UK. Money was received in respect of a leasehold of £0.8 million by a sub tenant in order to be released from a sub lease with AEA, the 
remainder of the liability on the head lease has been fully provided.
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Other
The remainder of the provisions are primarily dilapidations and wear and tear provisions on the Group’s property assets. These provisions will be 
utilised as dilapidation repairs are carried out.

31	 DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same tax jurisdiction. The offset amounts are as follows:

Group  Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Deferred income tax assets recoverable within one year 1.1 3.3 – 

Deferred income tax assets recoverable after one year 1.2 2.6 – 

Deferred income tax assets 2.3 5.9 – 

Deferred income tax liabilities recoverable within one year (0.3) (0.4) – 

Deferred income tax liabilities recoverable after one year (0.9) (1.2) – 

Deferred income tax liabilities (1.2) (1.6) – 

Deferred income tax assets (net) 1.1 4.3 – 

The gross movement on the net deferred income tax asset is as follows:

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

At 1 April 4.3 4.4 – 

Consolidated income statement charge for year (3.4) (0.1) – 

Foreign exchange 0.2 – – 

At 31 March 1.1 4.3 – 

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities and assets during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the 
same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

Group

Fair
value of 

intangibles 
£m 

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
£m 

Other 
£m 

Total 
£m 

At 1 April 2009 (2.2) (0.1) (3.0) (5.3)

Credited to the Consolidated income statement 0.4 0.1 0.9 1.4 

Exchange differences 0.1 – 0.2 0.3 

At 31 March 2010 (1.7) – (1.9) (3.6)

Credited to the Consolidated income statement 0.2 – 0.8 1.0 

Exchange differences 0.2 – 0.4 0.6 

At 31 March 2011 (1.3) – (0.7) (2.0)
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Deferred income tax assets

Group
Provisions 

£m 
Tax losses 

£m 

 
Other 

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 1 April 2009 1.6 6.6 1.5 9.7 

Charged to the Consolidated income statement (0.4) (1.1) – (1.5)

Exchange differences – (0.2) (0.1) (0.3)

At 31 March 2010 1.2 5.3 1.4 7.9 

Charged to the Consolidated income statement (0.6) (3.6) (0.2) (4.4)

Exchange differences – (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)

At 31 March 2011 0.6 1.4 1.1 3.1 

Deferred income tax assets

Company
Provisions 

£m 
Tax losses 

£m 

 
Other 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Charged to the income statement – – – – 

At 31 March 2011 – – – – 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward and other timing differences to the extent that the realisation of the 
related tax benefit through utilisation against future taxable profits is probable. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of £56.5 million 
(2010: £65.3 million), of which £31.6 million related to the pension the liability (2010: £39.1 million). Total UK tax losses carried forward amount to 
£92.4 million (2010: £89.5 million). Non-UK tax losses carried forward amount to £nil (2010: £4.4 million). 

Reductions to the UK corporation tax were announced in the March 2011 Budget. The changes, which are to be enacted from 1 April 2011, reduce 
the rate of taxation from 28% to 26%. There is also a proposal for changes to be enacted separately each year to reduce the rate by 1% per annum 
to 23% by 1 April 2014. These changes had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not recognised in these 
Financial Statements.

32	 CASH	(USED	IN)/GENERATED	FROM	OPERATIONS

Group Company
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

(Loss)/profit for the year (14.0) 3.3 (4.5)

Adjustments for:

 tax 4.3 0.2 – 

 depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1.6 1.3 – 

 amortisation 1.5 1.3 – 

 impairment losses 0.8 – – 

 share option charge 0.4 0.3 – 

 finance costs 25.1 21.8 – 

 finance income (21.2) (14.9) – 

 other 0.6 0.3 – 

Changes in working capital:

 work in progress 0.3 0.1 – 

 trade and other receivables 4.5 1.9 – 

 trade and other payables (1.0) (5.0) 0.4 

 inter-Company balances – – 0.4 

Changes in retirement benefit obligations (2.8) (2.5) – 

Changes in provisions for liabilities and charges (4.0) (2.1) – 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (3.9) 6.0 (3.7)

33	 CONTINGENT	LIABILITIES
The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of contracts entered into in the normal course of business and in respect of the disposal of businesses 
and subsidiaries. It is not expected that these will have a material effect on the financial position of the Group.
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34	 OPERATING	LEASE	COMMITMENTS
The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases. The remaining lease terms are between one month and eight years. 
The Group also leases various items of plant and equipment under operating leases. The total future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Operating lease commitments as lessee

 Group
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Within one year 5.7 4.5 

Between one and five years 18.6 18.5 

After five years 1.6 4.8 

25.9 27.8 

At the balance sheet date the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum sub-lease payments:

Operating lease commitments as sub-lessor

Group
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Within one year 0.4 1.6 

Between one and five years 0.4 1.6 

After five years 0.3 1.1 

1.1 4.3 

35	 TRANSACTIONS	WITH	GOVERNMENT	DEPARTMENTS	AND	OTHER	PUBLIC	BODIES
Revenue and cost of sales exclude reimbursements and the related payments made in respect of certain contracts with various Government 
departments (predominantly the Department of Energy and Climate Change, the Department for Transport, the Welsh Assembly Government) and 
other public bodies (such as, the Big Lottery Fund UK and the South West Regional Development Agency). Under the terms of these agreements, 
the Group receives funding in respect of certain programmes and pays such moneys directly to third parties in connection with work carried out 
under these programmes. The Group does not make any profit or loss directly from these contract payments. The values of payments made and 
received under these programmes was £42.6 million and £38.5 million respectively (2010: £165.7 million and £159.0 million respectively). Amounts 
received that have not yet been paid out are held in bank accounts not belonging to the Group and not consolidated within Group assets.

36	 RELATED	PARTIES
The Group has no sales or purchases of services from related parties in the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

Group Company

Key management compensation
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2011 

£m 

Short term employee benefits 1.5 1.5 0.1 

Post employment benefits 0.5 0.5 – 

Share-based payments 0.2 0.1 – 

2.2 2.1 0.1 

Key management are Directors (both Executive and Non-Executive Directors) and other key managers with the authority and responsibility to control, 
direct or plan the activities of the Group.

The Group has no receivables from or payables to related parties as at 31 March 2011 or 31 March 2010.

During the year ended 31 March 2011 the Company purchased services from other Group companies for £nil. The Company paid interest to 
other Group companies of £nil and received interest of £nil from other Group companies. As at 31 March 2011 the Company owed other Group 
companies £1.2 million related to long term loans. At that date Group companies owed the Company £2.5 million related to loans.

37	 POST	BALANCE	SHEET	EVENTS
There were no post balance sheet events.
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Five year summary

Continuing and discontinued operations
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2009 

£m 
2008 

£m 
2007 

£m 

Revenue 113.7 113.2 93.7 80.9 113.9 

Operating (loss)/profit (5.9) 10.4 10.4 9.9 8.8 

Adjusted operating profit 1 8.8 12.4 12.0 11.0 8.6 

(Loss)/profit before tax (9.7) 3.5 7.5 8.0 25.2 

Adjusted profit before tax 2 7.0 11.0 10.6 9.4 7.0 

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent (14.0) 3.3 7.0 8.5 24.7 

Net liabilities (70.1) (130.2) (104.4) (99.2) (144.5) 

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (pence) 3 (1.2)p 0.3p 0.7p 0.9p 2.7p

Continuing operations
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 
2009 

£m 
2008 

£m 
2007 

£m 

Revenue 113.7 113.2 93.7 80.9 75.2 

Operating (loss)/profit (5.9) 10.4 10.4 9.9 9.4 

Adjusted operating profit 1 8.8 12.4 12.0 11.0 8.6 

Adjusted profit before tax 2 7.0 11.0 10.6 9.4 7.0 

Adjusted earnings per share (pence) 3, 4 0.0p 1.0p 1.0p 1.1p 0.8p

1   Adjusted operating profit is reported operating profit, for continuing operations only, excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles and certain significant items. 

2   Adjusted profit before tax is reported profit before tax, for continuing operations only, excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles, certain significant items and net 
pension finance costs.

3   Basic and adjusted earnings per share figures for 2008 and prior years have been restated to reflect the impact on numbers of shares in issue due to the Rights issue 
in August 2008. Figures for 2010 and prior years have been restated to reflect the impact on numbers of shares in issue due to the Firm Placing, Placing and Open 
Offer in November 2010.

4   Adjusted earnings per share is calculated using earnings adjusted for continuing operations. See note 12 for details of the adjusted earnings per share calculation.



87

Shareholders’ information

D
irecto

rs’ rep
o

rt
A

u
d

ito
rs’ rep

o
rt 

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

A
d

d
itio

n
al in

fo
rm

atio
n

A
u

d
it C

o
m

m
ittee rep

o
rt

Shares as at
31 March 2011 (in total)

Number of 
shareholders

Percentage of 
total shareholders

Percentage of
Ordinary shares

1 – 100 1,703 26.21% 0.01%

101 – 1,000 3,133 48.22% 0.09%

1,001 – 5,000 1,104 16.99% 0.16%

5,001 – 50,000 407 6.26% 0.39%

50,001 – 100,000 38 0.58% 0.20%

Over 100,000 113 1.74% 99.15%

Totals 6,498 100.00% 100.00%

Financial Calendar

Financial year end 31 March

2011 Annual general meeting 29 September 2011

2012 Half-yearly results announcement November 2011

Interim management statement January/February 2012

2012 Preliminary results announcement May/June 2012

Shareholder contact 
If you have any general comments or queries you are welcome to write to Jenny Owen, the Company Secretary, 6 New Street Square, London 
EC4A 3BF. If you have a query for a specific Director please write to them at the same address. 

Registrar services 
If you have an administrative query about your shareholding (such as details of previous dividend payments, recording a change of address, 
or reporting the loss of a share certificate), please direct these to Equiniti, either in writing to them at Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, 
West Sussex, BN99 6DA or by telephoning +44 (0) 871 384 2354 or via their textphone number, UK only, 0871 384 2255. If you are dialling from 
outside the UK please telephone on +44 (0) 121 415 7047.

You can now find a number of shareholder services on-line. The portfolio service from Equiniti gives you access to more information on your 
investments including balance movements, indicative share prices and information on recent dividends. For more details on this and practical 
help on transferring shares or updating your details, please visit www.shareview.co.uk. This also gives you the opportunity to register an interest in 
receiving information from the Company electronically. 

Amalgamation of shareholdings 
If you have received more than one copy of this report your shareholding may be registered under two or more shareholder reference numbers. 
Please contact Equiniti to amalgamate these accounts. 

CREST 
The Company’s shares are available for electronic settlement by CREST. If you would like to find out more about the CREST settlement system 
please contact Equiniti for an information leaflet. 

Individual savings account (ISA) 
AEA has a Company sponsored ISA enabling shareholders to hold AEA Technology Group plc shares in a tax advantageous manner. Dividends 
will attract the basic rate of income tax only, any profits should you later sell some or all of your investment are exempt from capital gains tax and 
you do not need to show details of your ISA on your tax return. For details please contact the Equiniti ISA Team at the address given above or 
telephone +44 (0) 871 384 2244. 

ShareGift 
Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose market value makes selling uneconomic may wish to consider donating them to 
charity through ShareGift, an independent charity share donation scheme. ShareGift is administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation, registered 
charity number 1052686. Further information may be obtained on +44 (0)207 828 1151 or from www.sharegift.org. 

Registered office Company registration Website

22 Grenville Street Registered in Jersey www.aeat.com

St Helier No: 106514

Jersey

JE4 8PX
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Company Secretary
Jenny Owen 
AEA Technology Group plc 
6 New Street Square 
London 
EC4A 3BF

Principal bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc 
1st Floor 
48 Chiswell Street 
London EC1Y 4XX

Broker
Peel Hunt 
111 Old Broad Street 
London
EC2N 1PH

Registrars
Equiniti Limited 
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Solicitors
Linklaters LLP 
One Silk Street 
London EC2Y 8HQ

Eversheds LLP 
1 Wood Street 
London EC2V 7WS

Mourant Ozannes LP 
22 Grenville Street 
St Helier 
Jersey 
JE4 8PX

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditors 
9 Greyfriars Road 
Reading 
Berkshire RG1 1JG

Company 
Secretary & 
advisers



89

 

D
irecto

rs’ rep
o

rt
A

u
d

ito
rs’ rep

o
rt 

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

A
d

d
itio

n
al in

fo
rm

atio
n

A
u

d
it C

o
m

m
ittee rep

o
rt

Notice of AGM & 
Resolutions



AEA Annual Report and Accounts 201190

 

AEA Technology Group plc 
(Incorporated and registered in Jersey under number 106514)

Notice of 2011 Annual General Meeting

This document is important and requires your immediate attention.

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the proposals referred to in this document or as to the action you should take, you should immediately 
consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent professional adviser authorised under the Financial Services 
and Markets Act 2000 if you are in the United Kingdom or from another appropriately authorised independent financial adviser if you are outside the 
United Kingdom.

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your shares in AEA Technology Group plc, you should send this document together with any 
accompanying documents, at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to the person who arranged the sale or transfer for transmission to the 
purchaser or transferee.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the 2011 annual general meeting (“AGM”) of 
AEA Technology Group plc (the “Company”) will be held at the offices 
of Linklaters LLP, One Silk Street, London EC2Y 8HQ at 14.00 hours 
on 29 September 2011 for the purpose of considering and, if thought 
fit, passing the resolutions listed below, of which the resolutions 
numbered 1 to 12 (inclusive) will be proposed as ordinary resolutions 
and the resolutions numbered 13 and 14 will be proposed as special 
resolutions. 

Ordinary resolutions

Annual Report and Accounts
1. To receive and adopt the accounts of the Company for the year 

ended 31 March 2011 together with the reports of the Directors 
and of the auditors on those accounts.

Directors’ remuneration report
2. To receive and approve the Directors’ remuneration report for the 

year ended 31 March 2011.

Directors
3. To elect Dr Paul Golby CBE as a director of the Company.

4. To elect Rodney Westhead as a director of the Company.

5. To elect Andrew McCree as a director of the Company.

6. To elect Kevin Higginson as a director of the Company.

7. To elect Bernard Lord as a director of the Company.

8. To elect Tim Robinson as a director of the Company. 

Auditors
9. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the 

Company to hold office from the conclusion of the AGM until the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

10. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of the 
auditors.

Authority to allot securities
11. To resolve that the authority to allot relevant securities (as defined 

in the Company’s articles of association) conferred on the Directors 
by article 10.2 of the Company’s articles of association be 
renewed, and for this purpose:

 (a)  the Authorised Allotment Amount (as defined in the 
Company’s articles of association) shall be:

 (i)  relevant securities having an aggregate nominal amount 
of up to £4,845,494; and

 (ii)  solely in connection with an allotment pursuant to a 
pre emptive offer (as defined in the Company’s articles 
of association), relevant securities comprising equity 
securities (as defined in the Company’s articles of 
association) having an aggregate nominal amount of 
up to £9,690,988 (such amount to be reduced by the 
nominal amount of any relevant securities allotted under 
paragraph (a)(i) of this resolution); and

 (b)  the Allotment Period (as defined in the Company’s 
articles of association) shall be the period commencing 
on 29 September 2011 and ending (unless previously 
renewed, varied or revoked by the Company) on the earlier of 
30 September 2012 and the conclusion of the annual general 
meeting of the Company to be held in 2012, except that the 
Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement 
which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted 
after such expiry and the Directors may allot relevant securities 
pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the authority 
conferred hereby had not expired.

AEA Technology Group Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2011
12. To resolve that, in accordance with the requirements of the US 

Internal Revenue Code 1986 (as amended):

 (a)  the aggregate number of shares that may be issued to 
participants under the AEA Technology Group Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan 2011 (the “ESPP”) shall not exceed 
30 million shares; and

 (b)  the companies whose employees will be eligible to participate 
in the ESPP shall be US subsidiaries of the Company and any 
other subsidiary of the Company designated from time to time 
by the Directors in accordance with the terms of the ESPP.

Special resolutions

Authority to disapply pre-emption rights
13. To resolve that, subject to the passing of resolution 11 above, the 

authority to allot equity securities (as defined in the Company’s 
articles of association) wholly for cash conferred on the Directors 
by article 10.3 of the Company’s articles of association be 
renewed, and for this purpose: 

 (a)  the Non Pre-Emptive Amount (as defined in the Company’s 
articles of association) shall be equity securities having an 
aggregate nominal amount of up to £726,824; and

 (b)  the Allotment Period (as defined in the Company’s 
articles of association) shall be the period commencing 
on 29 September 2011 and ending (unless previously 
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renewed, varied or revoked by the Company) on the earlier of 
30 September 2012 and the conclusion of the annual general 
meeting of the Company to be held in 2012, except that the 
Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement 
which would or might require equity securities to be allotted 
after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities 
pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the authority 
conferred hereby had not expired.

Authority to make market purchases
14. To resolve that the Company is generally and unconditionally 

authorised: 

 (a)  pursuant to article 57 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, 
to make market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares 
on the London Stock Exchange on such terms and in such 
manner as the directors may from time to time determine, 
provided that:

 (i)  the maximum number of shares which may be 
purchased under this authority is 145,364,823;

 (ii)  the minimum price (excluding expenses) which may be 
paid for each share is one pence;

 (iii)  the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be 
paid for each share is an amount equal to the higher of 
(1) 105 per cent of the average of the closing price of the 
Company’s ordinary shares as derived from the London 
Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business 
days immediately prior to the date on which the share 
is contracted to be purchased, and (2) the higher of 
the price of the last independent trade and the highest 
current bid as stipulated by article 5(1) of the Buy-back 
and Stabilisation Regulation (EC No 2273/2003); and

 (iv)  the authority conferred by this resolution shall expire on 
the earlier of 30 September 2012 and the conclusion of 
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held 
in 2012, except that the Company may make a contract 
to purchase shares before the expiry of this authority 
which would or might be executed wholly or partly after 
the expiry of this authority and may make purchases of 
shares in accordance with any such contract as if the 
authority conferred hereby had not expired; and

 (b)  pursuant to article 58A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, 
and if approved by the Directors, to hold as treasury shares 
any shares purchased pursuant to the authority conferred by 
paragraph (a) of this resolution. 

By order of the Board of Directors

Jenny Owen 
Company Secretary 
AEA Technology Group plc 
22 Grenville Street 
St Helier 
Jersey 
JE4 8PX

Registered in Jersey No. 106514

Notes
1.  All resolutions will be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is 

demanded.

2. The Company, pursuant to the Companies (Uncertificated 
Securities) (Jersey) Order 1999, specifies that only those persons 
entered on the register of members of the Company as at 6.00pm 
on 27 September 2011 (the “Specified Time”) shall be entitled 
to attend or vote at the AGM in respect of the number of shares 
registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the 
register of members after the Specified Time shall be disregarded 
in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the 
AGM. If the AGM is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours 
after the Specified Time applicable to the original meeting, the 
Specified Time will also apply for the purposes of determining 
the entitlement of shareholders to attend and vote (and for the 
purposes of determining the number of votes they may cast) at the 
adjourned meeting. If however, the AGM is adjourned for a longer 
period then, to be so entitled, shareholders must be entered on the 
Company’s register of members as at 6.00 pm two days before the 
time fixed for the adjourned meeting. 

3. A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy 
to exercise all or any of his rights to attend and to speak and vote 
at the AGM. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. 
A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the 
AGM provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by the shareholder.

4. A form of proxy is enclosed. The appointment of a proxy will not 
prevent the shareholder from subsequently attending and voting at 
the meeting in person.

5. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated 
to enjoy information rights (a “nominated person”) may, under an 
agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom  
he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have 
someone else appointed) as a proxy for the meeting. Alternatively, 
if a nominated person has no such right, or does not wish to 
exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right 
to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting 
rights. The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to 
the appointment of proxies in note 3 above does not apply to 
nominated persons. The rights described in that paragraph can 
only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.

6. In the case of a shareholder which is a body corporate, the form 
of proxy must be executed under its common seal or signed on its 
behalf by a duly authorised officer or attorney. 

7. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the 
form of proxy is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or 
authority) must be included with the form of proxy.

8. In the case of joint shareholders, the vote of the first named in the 
register of members of the Company who tenders a vote, whether 
in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the 
votes of other joint holders.
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9. To be valid, the form of proxy (and any document referred to in 
Note 7 above) must be received by post or (during normal business 
hours only) by hand at the offices of the Company’s registrars, 
Equiniti (Jersey) Limited, c/o Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, 
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6ZL United Kingdom, 
by no later than 14.00 hours on 27 September 2011 (or 48 hours 
before the date and time for any adjourned meeting). 

10. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through 
the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for 
the meeting (and any adjournments of the meeting) by following 
the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal 
members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST 
members who have appointed a voting service provider, should 
refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider, who will be 
able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

11. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the 
CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a 
“CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in 
accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications 
and must contain the information required for such instructions, as 
described in the CREST Manual (available via  
www.euroclear.com/CREST). The message  (regardless of whether 
it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the 
instruction given to a previously appointed proxy) must, in order to 
be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent 
(ID 7RA01) by the latest time for receipt of proxy appointments 
specified in Note 9 above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will 
be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied 
to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the 
issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST 
in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change 
of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be 
communicated to the issuer’s agent through other means.

12. CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or 
voting service providers) should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland 
Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for 
any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will 
therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. 
It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, 
if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored 
member or has appointed a voting service provider, to procure that 
his CREST sponsor or voting service provider takes) such action 
as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted 
by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this 
connection, CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST 
sponsors or voting service providers) are referred, in particular, 
to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical 
limitations of the CREST system and timings.

13. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the 
circumstances set out in Article 34 of the Companies (Uncertified 
Securities) (Jersey) Order 1999.

14. A shareholder which is a body corporate and which wishes to be 
represented at the AGM by a person with authority to speak and 
vote (a “corporate representative”) must appoint such a person 
by resolution of its directors or other governing body. A corporate 
representative has the same powers on behalf of the body 
corporate he/she represents as that body corporate could exercise 
if it were an individual shareholder of the Company. Under Jersey 
law it is not possible for a body corporate to appoint more than 
one corporate representative.

15. When two or more valid but differing proxy appointments are 
received in respect of the same share for use at the same meeting 
or poll, the one which is last received (regardless of its date or of 
the date of its execution) shall be treated as replacing and revoking 
the others as regards that share. If the Company is unable to 
determine which was last received, none of them shall be treated 
as valid in respect of that share. 

16. As at 25 August 2011 (being the latest practicable date before 
the publication of this notice), the Company’s issued voting share 
capital consists of 1,453,648,231 ordinary shares, carrying one 
vote each. Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 
25 August 2011 is 1,453,648,231.

17. Shareholders should note that it is possible that, pursuant to 
requests made by shareholders under the Company articles 
of association, the Company may be required to publish on a 
website a statement setting out: (i) any matter relating to the audit 
of the Company’s accounts (including the auditor’s report and 
the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the AGM; or 
(ii) any circumstance connected with an auditor of the Company 
ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting of the Company 
at which annual accounts and reports were laid. The Company 
may not require the shareholders requesting any such website 
publication to pay its expenses in complying with such publication 
requirements. Where the Company is required to place a statement 
on its website under its articles of association, it must forward the 
statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the time when 
it makes the statement available on the website. The business 
which may be dealt with at the AGM includes any statement that 
the Company has been required under its articles of association to 
publish on a website.

18.  Any shareholder attending the AGM has the right to ask questions. 
The Company must cause to be answered any such question 
relating to the business being dealt with at the AGM but no such 
answer need be given if (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the 
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential 
information, (b) the answer has already been given on a website in 
the form of an answer to a question, or (c) it is undesirable in the 
interests of the Company or the good order of the AGM that the 
question be answered.

19. The following documents will be available for inspection at the 
Company’s registered office at 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, 
Jersey JE4 8PX and at the offices of Linklaters LLP, One Silk 
Street, London EC2Y 8HQ during business hours on any weekday 
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(weekends and public holidays excluded) up to and including the 
date of the AGM and will also be available for inspection at the 
place of the meeting for 15 minutes before and during the AGM:

(a) the contracts of service of the executive Directors;

(b) the letters of appointment of the non-executive Directors; and

(c) the Company’s memorandum and articles of association.

20. A copy of this Notice and other relevant shareholder information 
can be found at www.aeat.com.

21. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this 
Notice of Meeting or any related documents (including the form of 
proxy) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other 
than those expressly stated.  

Explanatory notes
The notes on the following pages give an explanation of the 
proposed resolutions.

Resolutions 1 to 12 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This 
means that for each of those resolutions to be passed, more 
than half of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolutions 13 and 14 are proposed as special resolutions. 
This means that for each of those resolutions to be passed, at 
least three-quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the 
resolution.

Resolution 1: accounts and reports
The Directors are required to present to the meeting the Company’s 
accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011 together with the reports 
of the Directors and the auditors on those accounts. Shareholders will 
note that there is no resolution on payment of a dividend because the 
Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the 
year ended 31 March 2011.

Resolution 2: Directors’ remuneration report
This resolution is advisory only and no Director’s remuneration is 
conditional upon the passing of this resolution. Its purpose is to provide 
shareholder feedback to the Board.

Resolutions 3 to 8: Directors
Under the Company’s articles of association, directors are required to 
offer themselves for election by shareholders at the first AGM after their 
appointment and for re-election thereafter at intervals of no more than 
three years. Since this is the Company’s first AGM since it became the 
new parent company of the AEA Technology group, all of the Directors 
are retiring and standing for election. 

The Board believes that each of the Directors standing for election 
continues to perform effectively. The breadth and variety of experience 
of each of the Directors will be important to the future of the Company 
and each Director has given assurance to the Board that they remain 
committed to their role and will ensure that they devote sufficient time to 
it, including attendance at Board and Committee meetings.

The biographies of the Directors are set out below.

Dr Paul Golby CBE

Chairman, Chairman of Nomination Committee
Paul Golby was appointed Non-Executive Chairman to the Board of 
AEA Technology plc on 24 September 2009. He joined the Board in 
August 2003 and is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Since 
2002, he has been Chief Executive of E.ON UK plc and is an Executive 
Committee member of E.ON AG, its parent company. After training as 
a mechanical engineer, he had a series of management appointments 
with Dunlop and BTR before becoming an Executive Director of 
Clayhithe plc. Paul is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering, the 
Institution of Engineering and Technology, the Institution of Mechanical 
Engineers and the Energy Institute. 

Rodney Westhead

Senior Independent Director, Chairman of Audit Committee, Chairman 
of Remuneration Committee
Rodney Westhead, Non-Executive Director, was initially appointed 
to the Board in August 2003. He is the Senior Independent Director, 
chairs the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee and is a 
member of the Nomination Committee. From 1996 until his retirement 
in 2005, he was Chief Executive of Ricardo plc, a leading automotive 
engineering consulting company. He is a former Chairman of Carter 
and Carter (in administration), Chairman of Clean Air Power and a 
Director of Transense Technologies plc. An accountant by profession, 
he was a partner with Grant Thornton, including Managing Partner of 
their London office, before moving to Ricardo plc in 1992 as the Group 
Finance Officer.

Andrew McCree 

Chief Executive Officer 
Andrew McCree was appointed CEO in March 2005 having first been 
appointed to the Board in November 2000 as director for Corporate 
Affairs and Human Resources, and subsequently Group Managing 
Director. He has held a number of senior posts in AEA and before 
that in UKAEA, which he joined in 1991. His earlier career was with 
BP Exploration.

Kevin Higginson

Chief Financial Officer
Kevin Higginson was appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Officer 
in April 2011. He was previously Group Finance Director of Low & Bonar 
plc, prior to which he was Group Finance Director of the BSS Group 
plc. He is a former Chief Executive and Group Finance Director of 
Hazlewood Foods plc.

Bernard Lord

Non-Executive Director
Bernard Lord, Non-Executive Director, was appointed to the Board 
in November 2010. He is President and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Wireless and Telecommunications Association of Canada and a 
Corporate Board Member for Medavie Blue Cross and Clean Air Power, 
is a member of the New Brunswick Law Society, is Scholar in Residence 
with McGill University Health Centre and the former Premier of the 
Province of New Brunswick, Canada. He is also Chair of the Mobile 
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Giving Foundation of Canada. Bernard is a member of the Nominations, 
Audit and Remuneration Committees of AEA.

Tim Robinson

Non-Executive Director
Tim Robinson, Non-Executive Director, was appointed to the Board 
in November 2010. He is Chief Executive of Talaris Limited, a non-
executive Board member of UK Trade & Investment and a member 
of the Audit Committee and Association of Oxfam. He was formerly 
Chief Executive at Xafinity, served as a director of Thales (Paris) and 
IBM (UK and Asia) and was a Non-Executive Director of Nice Systems 
(NASDAQ quoted) and Camelot. Tim is a member of the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committees of AEA.

Resolutions 9 and 10: auditors
The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
recommends the re-election of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as 
auditors, to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general 
meeting of the Company. 

The remuneration of the auditors may be fixed by the directors or 
the shareholders in general meeting. The usual practice is for the 
shareholders to authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of 
the auditors. 

Resolution 11: authority to allot securities
This resolution renews the authority of the Directors to allot securities. 
The authority in paragraph (a) will allow the Directors to allot new 
shares and grant rights to subscribe for, or convert other securities 
into, shares having an aggregate nominal value of up to £4,845,494 
which is equivalent to approximately one-third of the total ordinary share 
capital of the Company in issue as at 25 August 2011 (being the latest 
practicable date before the publication of this notice). 

In line with recent guidance issued by the Association of British 
Insurers, the authority in paragraph (b) will authorise the Directors to 
allot new shares and grant rights to subscribe for, or convert other 
securities into, shares only in connection with a rights issue having 
an aggregate nominal value of up to £9,690,988 (less any securities 
allotted pursuant to paragraph (a)) which is equivalent to approximately 
two-thirds of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company as 
at 25 August 2011. 

At 25 August 2011, the Company did not hold any shares in treasury. 

If the resolution is passed, these authorities will remain in force until the 
earlier of 30 September 2012 and the conclusion of the Company’s 
annual general meeting in 2012. 

The Directors have no present intention to undertake a rights issue 
or to allot new shares, except in connection with the Company’s 
employee share schemes. The Directors consider it desirable to have 
the maximum flexibility permitted by corporate governance guidelines to 
respond to market developments and to enable allotments to take place 
to finance business opportunities as they arise.

Resolution 12: AEA Technology Group Employee Stock 

Purchase Plan 2011
At the time the AEA Technology Group Sharesave Plan 2010 (the 
“Sharesave Plan”) was adopted in 2010, the Company authorised 

the directors to establish further plans for the benefit of employees of 
the Company and its subsidiaries located in jurisdictions outside of 
the United Kingdom based on the Sharesave Plan, subject to such 
modifications as may be necessary or desirable to take account of 
(among other things) foreign securities and tax laws.

The directors have established the AEA Technology Group Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan 2011 (the “ESPP”) pursuant to this authority. The 
ESPP is a US tax-qualified employee stock purchase plan established 
to comply with section 423 of the US Internal Revenue Code 1986 (as 
amended). It is based on the terms of the Sharesave, but with variations 
that are required by US tax laws, so as to provide tax favourable 
treatment for employees of the Company’s US subsidiaries.

To comply with US tax rules, shareholders are being asked to approve 
the number of the Company’s shares which may be issued under the 
ESPP and the employees eligible for participation in the ESPP.

Shares made available under the ESPP will be treated as counting 
against any limits on individual and overall participation in the 
Company’s share incentive plans. 

Resolution 13: authority to disapply pre-emption rights
Under the Company’s articles of association, if the Directors wish to 
allot new shares or other equity securities, or sell treasury shares, wholly 
for cash (other than in connection with an employee share scheme), 
they must first be offered to shareholders in proportion to their existing 
holdings.

This resolution renews the authority of the Directors to allot new shares 
or other equity securities, or sell treasury shares, wholly for cash up to 
a maximum nominal value of £726,824 which is equivalent to 5% of 
the total ordinary share capital in issue on 25 August 2011 (being the 
latest practicable date before the publication of this notice), without first 
offering them to shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. 

If the resolution is passed, the authority will remain in force until the 
earlier of 30 September 2012 and the conclusion of the Company’s 
annual general meeting in 2012. 

The Directors consider the authority in this resolution to be appropriate 
in order to allow the Company flexibility to finance business 
opportunities.

The Directors intend to adhere to the provisions in the Pre-emption 
Group’s Statement of Principles not to allot shares for cash on a non 
pre-emptive basis (other than pursuant to a rights issue or pre-emptive 
offer) in excess of an amount equal to 7.5% of the total issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company within a rolling three year period without 
prior consultation with shareholders.

Resolution 14: authority to make market purchases
Jersey company law requires the directors to obtain shareholder 
approval to make market purchases of the Company’s shares. 

This resolution renews the authority granted to the Company to 
purchase up to 145,364,823 shares, which is equivalent to 10% of the 
Company’s share capital in issue as at 25 August 2011 (being the latest 
practicable date before the publication of this notice). The Company’s 
exercise of this authority is subject to the stated upper and lower limits 
on the price payable.
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If the resolution is passed, the authority will remain in force until the 
earlier of 30 September 2012 and the conclusion of the Company’s 
annual general meeting in 2012.

The Directors’ intention is that the power given by this authority would 
enable the Company either to cancel the shares bought back or to hold 
them as treasury shares for subsequent re-sale, for example, to meet 
commitments under employee share schemes if this offers tax or other 
advantages over alternative means of meeting these obligations.

The Directors intend to exercise the authority only if, in their opinion, 
to do so should result in an improvement in earnings per share for 
the remaining shareholders and would be in the best interests of 
shareholders generally. The authority will only be used after careful 
consideration, taking into account market conditions prevailing at the 
time, other investment opportunities, appropriate gearing levels and the 
overall financial position of the Company. 

As at 25 August 2011 (being the latest practicable date before the 
publication of this notice), there were 65,073,122 outstanding share 
options and awards granted under all share schemes operated by the 
Company, which, if exercised would represent 4.48% of the Company’s 
issued share capital. If the authority being sought under this resolution 
were exercised in full, such options would then represent 14.48% of the 
resulting issued share capital. 
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